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About the Report
According to the Law and the Articles of Association, the Board of Directors 
submits herewith to the appraisal of stakeholders the Integrated Report 
and financial statements, which fully and transparently describe the 
Company’s strategy, management and performance during the year ended 
at 31 December 2021. This Report shows how based on its business 
model, Bondalti creates value for stakeholders while contributing to the 
sustainable development of the society in which it operates.

This report was prepared in accordance with applicable national standards 
and the following international guidelines:

°  Article 66 of the Portuguese Trading Companies Code (CSC)

°  Article 130 of the Corporate Income Tax Code (CIRC) and Ministerial 
Order 92-A/2011 of 28 February

°  International Integrated Reporting Framework from the Value Reporting 
Foundation

°  Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards following the Core option

°  AccountAbility’s AA1000AP (2018) standard, signing up to the Inclusion, 
Materiality, Responsiveness, and Impact principles

°   United Nations Sustainable Development Goals

In view of their materiality as far as Bondalti’s activity is concerned, the 
GRI Standards General and Business indicators report on consolidated 
information, whilst Environmental and Social indicators report on information 
separated by company.

All financial information forming part of this Report was audited by EY, as 
stated in the Legal Certification of Accounts and Statutory Auditor’s Report 
and Opinion, attached hereto. Non-financial information and GRI Standards 
information were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados - 
Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas, Lda., as expressed in the 
attached Sustainability Verification Report.

Sources of complementary information are as follows:

°  Separate reports and accounts of Bondalti companies

°  https://www.bondalti.com/

Any request for clarification may be sent via email to bondalti@bondalti.com.
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Dear Stakeholders,

As in the previous year, 2021 was marked by challenges at economic, 
social, and political levels caused by the Covid-19 pandemic.
 
It was a year of extraordinary achievements, as Bondalti 
strengthened its positioning in the Water Treatment segment 
with the acquisition of the AEMA Group and recorded historic 
production levels in Industrial Chemicals. None of this happened 
by chance. Rather, it resulted from a growing diversification of 
businesses and markets, but also from the extraordinary work of 
teams at all levels of the Organization that were capable to act 
in a flexible and efficient way to the circumstances. 2021 results 
are due to all Bondalti’s employees.

02.
Foreword from
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Despite the impact of the pandemic, our strategy and the historical record 
production achieved and celebrated throughout the Organization exceeded 
our expectations, resulting in an excellent economic performance. EBITDA 
reached €61.8 million, increasing by more than €20 million compared to 
the previous year; Operating income grew by €19 million and Net income 
rose by €5 million. In the year under review, Bondalti invested nearly 
€11 million in fixed assets and recorded a Net financial debt/EBITDA ratio 
of 1.8x - confirming its solidity and resilience. 

The last year also saw record sales in both organic and inorganic segments. 
Aniline, Mononitrobenzene, Soda, Hydrochloric Acid, Hypochlorite and 
Chlorine registered growing demand that, possibly, had been repressed 
due to the pandemic. 

Of note is the acquisition of 100% of the AEMA Group’s capital, in May 
2021, reinforcing Bondalti’s strategic positioning in the Water Treatment 
business area. The AEMA Group strengthened Bondalti’s ambition as an 
innovative company and leader in water treatment management in Portugal, 
in addition to its international presence. This investment in a sector that 
contributes to ensuring efficient supply and access to drinking water 
reflects our commitment to building a more sustainable future.

Bondalti received the EcoVadis Platinum medal for the second year running 
attesting of the Group’s performance in all sustainability-related aspects. 
This award recognises an effective management of its operations and 
across its value chain at environmental, social, and ethical levels. We 
obtained 82 points out of 100, the best score since the beginning of 
Bondalti’s participation in EcoVadis, ranking among the Top 1% of evaluated 
international companies. This score is the result of the Organization’s 
efforts to position itself as one of the leading companies for sustainable 
development. 

Ensuring a responsible business growth, and promoting sustainable 
development, including in the communities in which we operate, is an 
integral part of Bondalti’s strategy, in line with the Sustainable Development 
Goals while incorporating the needs and expectations of our stakeholders. 

At Bondalti, Innovation and Responsible Care play a key role in creating value, driven by constant 
awareness of current trends in terms of technology, environmental responsibility, and new 
markets. Bondalti has plans to integrate a green hydrogen unit in the Estarreja industrial complex 
where several projects are being developed. Bondalti will be present at the core of the green 
hydrogen and ammonia value chain and, consequently, in the incorporation of these raw materials 
into current products. In this context, investing in projects in the field of green hydrogen is 
considered a key element in the decarbonisation process of Bondalti and of various sectors of 
the national economy towards carbon neutrality.

Concern and action in favour of the climate have been gaining strength, as climate change is 
an indisputable fact. Bondalti believes that Industrial Chemicals and Water Treatment will play 
a key role in climate transition towards an increasingly green and circular economy. In 2020 
Bondalti defined concrete and ambitious environmental goals, including carbon neutrality in 
2030 and climate neutrality in 2050, reflecting the Organization’s commitment to environmental 
sustainability. These projects will certainly be key to achieve such goals.

2021 was a demanding and complex year. As pointed out above, the dedication and commitment 
of all Bondalti people, with their competence and motivation, were key factors for the success 
of our Organisation. It is only fair to thank them for their dedication to achieving the proposed 
objectives.

2022 will be equally challenging. It will be challenging because the Covid-19 pandemic has not yet 
been completely overcome, but above all because Russia’s invasion of Ukraine adds uncertainty 
and exacerbates the current scenario of economic and social crisis. The destruction of markets 
and productive infrastructure, the disruption in the circulation of raw materials and logistics 
chains are a consequence of the extraordinary situation experienced worldwide and with multiple 
impacts on society. Bondalti’s first concern, however, is with the immense humanitarian crisis, 
with thousands of families destroyed, separated, or displaced, because of this war. Bondalti 
stands in solidarity and is making efforts to help those who need it most.

In 2022, Bondalti will continue to chart its path, with resilience, ambition and focus on a sustainable 
and transformative future.

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  FOREWORD FROM THE CHAIRMAN
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Bondalti

Innovation
On a par with continuous improvement, Bondalti seeks disruptive approaches 
to the sectors where it operates.

Responsible care
At Bondalti, endeavouring to maintaining high quality, safety and environmental 
protection standards is a daily job, viewing to add value to surrounding 
communities.

Competence
With over one hundred years of industrial history and experience Bondalti has 
gathered a highly competent team in the fields of management, operation, 
maintenance, construction, and revamping of industrial units.

IDENTITY
MISSION 
To create an innovative and sustainable Chemistry capable of contributing 
to a better world.

VISION
To be a renowned chemical partner on the global market, known for long-
lasting relationships based on a range of high-quality innovative solutions, 
ensuring superior safety and environmental standards, creating value for 
employees, shareholders, clients, suppliers and the community.

VALUES

Human development
Bondalti invests in people as pillars for competitiveness and performance.

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  BONDALTI
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José de Mello Capital

Miralcalis Enkrott Espanha

Bondalti Capital

Dolopand Bondalti Chemicals

Bondalti Cantabria
Enkrott África

Elnosa
Enkrott Madeira

Renoeste*

Enkrott Cabo Verde*

AEMA

AGESMA*

Aguas Rioja

Laboratorios Alfaro
Nutriquim*

AQP

Innovnano*

Other Subsidiaries

Enkrott Grupo Aguas Alfaro

Equity Holders **  Discontinued 
activity

Industrial 
Chemicals

Water 
Treatment

NanomaterialsReal Estate

20%

68.49%
100%

BONDALTI COMPANIES

100% 100%100%
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INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS

Operating in the chemical industry for over 150 years, Bondalti occupies 
a very competitive position in this market, focusing on the Chlor-alkalis 
(PCA) productive sectors in the inorganic chemicals segment, and Aniline 
and by-products (PAD) in the organic chemicals segment. In these value 
chains, Bondalti is the largest Iberian producer of chlorine and hypochlorite, 
in terms of production capacity, and it is the European leader in sales of 
aniline and mononitrobenzene (MNB), as well as one of the world’s leading 
non-integrated aniline producers. 

Bondalti has two industrial units where its chemical products are produced, 
in Estarreja and Torrelavega, which depend on raw materials and utilities, 
such as benzene, salt, ammonia, hydrogen and electricity. Bondalti 
is a national reference in the hydrogen value chain, as it is the second 
largest Iberian producer of H2 without direct use of natural gas. About the 
Chlor-alkalis sector, Bondalti supplies its inorganic products mainly to the 

Organic Chemicals

Inorganic Chemicals

Aniline and by-products

Chlor-alkalis

Iberian market. In the Aniline and its by-products sector, Bondalti supplies chlorine, soda, and 
aniline in an integrated manner, via pipeline, to its main client-partner at the Estarreja Chemical 
Complex, which integrates them in its production, mainly intended for export. Additionally, Bondalti 
supplies its organic products to several clients in the international market, such as Belgium, Spain, 
USA, Germany, and the Netherlands.

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  BONDALTI
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Aniline
MNB

SALT

Hydrochloric
gas

All
products

All
products

Chlorine
Soda

Hydrogen

Aniline
MNB

Aniline
MNB

CUSTOMERS
- Polyurethanes

Aniline

CUSTOMERS

- Polyurethanes
- Ruber
- Drugs
- Distribution
- Other Chemicals

BENZENE

AVEIRO
HARBOR

Benzene

AMMONIA

NATURAL GAS

BENZENE

HYDROGEN ESTARREJA
Industrial Site

ELECTRICITY

CUSTOMERS

- Polyurethanes
- Water Treatment
- Textiles
- Detergents
- Paste and Paper
- Distribution
- Other Chemicals- Other Chemicals

TORRELAVEGA
Chlor-alkalis

ANILINE AND BY-PRODUCTS

TRUCK PIPELINETRAIN SHIP

CHLOR-ALKALIS

Legend:

CONSTRUCTIONPLANT TEXTILE
INDUSTRY

AUTOMOBILE
INDUSTRY

WATER
TREATMENT

PHARMACEUTICAL
INDUSTRYANILINE AND BY-PRODUCTS

TRUCK PIPELINETRAIN SHIP

CHLOR-ALKALIS

Legend:

CONSTRUCTIONPLANT TEXTILE
INDUSTRY

AUTOMOBILE
INDUSTRY

WATER
TREATMENT

PHARMACEUTICAL
INDUSTRY

ANILINE AND BY-PRODUCTS

TRUCK PIPELINETRAIN SHIP

CHLOR-ALKALIS

Legend:

CONSTRUCTIONPLANT TEXTILE
INDUSTRY

AUTOMOBILE
INDUSTRY

WATER
TREATMENT

PHARMACEUTICAL
INDUSTRY

INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS VALUE CHAIN
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Bondalti products are essential for people’s daily lives, playing an important 
role in the most varied industries and purposes, either directly or indirectly.

We support culture
facilitating the production of paper used in books, newspapers, magazines...

We create comfort
through insulating materials, adhesives and countless everyday objects.

We are always in fashion
producing substances used in the creation of textiles.

We bolster your health
by producing the chemicals that form the basis for a myriad of medicines.

With net benefits for all
through the purification of drinking water.
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Nitric acid

Hydrochloric acid

Sulphanilic acid

Chlorine

Aniline

Sodium hypochlorite

Nitrobenzene

Caustic soda

Chemical industry, fertilizers, dyes and 
pigments

Chemical and metallurgical industries, 
manufacturing PVC, hygiene and cleaning 
products

Rubber and pharmaceutical industries, dyes 
and pigments

Manufacturing PVC, polyurethane, water 
treatment

Manufacturing of MDI, rubber industry, dyes 
and pigments, special fibres

Water treatment, hygiene and cleaning 
products, textile bleaching

Manufacturing of aniline, rubber, chemical 
and pharmaceutical industries

Chemical, textile, cellulose, food, detergent 
and soap industries

Main products Main uses

MAIN PRODUCTS AND APPLICATIONS OF THE INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS UNIT

BONDALTI IN DAILY LIFE

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  BONDALTI
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Bondalti Chemicals, S.A. operates both value chains in Estarreja: chlor-alkalis and 
aniline and by-products. Bondalti Cantabria, S.A, headquartered in Torrelavega, 
operates the chlor-alkalis value chain. Elnosa - Electroquímica del Noroeste, 
S.A., located in Pontevedra, is active in the trading of non-electrochemical 
products and the commercialization of products from both industrial units.

Barreiro

Aveiro

Pontevedra

Estarreja

Torrelavega

Oeiras

Sede

Logistics 
centres

Production 
units

Headquarters

Organic 
chemicals

Inorganic 
chemicals
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Bondalti’s products have important and indispensable functions in society, and 
as a chemical industry, the Company plays a key role as a provider of solutions 
that allow the achievement of ambitious environmental goals defined both 
globally and particularly in the European Union.

The chemical industry in general, and Bondalti in particular, will leverage the 
climate transition, innovating for clean technologies that allow the recovery 
of waste, or the capture and use of carbon dioxide, while providing essential 
products to promote energy efficiency and new forms of sustainable mobility.

With a view to a responsible activity, Bondalti has certified several management 
systems that help to ensure that the best practices are implemented, as well 
as the continuous improvement of all its operations:

°  ISO 9001:2015 - Quality Management System – Bondalti Chemicals, Bondalti 
Cantabria;

°  ISO 14001:2015 - Environmental Management System – Bondalti Chemicals, 
Bondalti Cantabria;

°  ISO 45001:2018 - Occupational Safety and Health Management System – 
Bondalti Chemicals, Bondalti Cantabria;

°  ISO 50001:2018 - Energy Management System – Bondalti Chemicals, Bondalti 
Cantabria;

°  NP 4457:2007 - Research, Development & Innovation Management System 
– Bondalti Chemicals.

Within the scope of its value chain management, Bondalti applies its Code 
of Conduct for Suppliers, which provides good practices in terms of the 
Environment, Safety and Health, Human and Labour Rights, Ethics and Governance, 
and encourages its application with its suppliers. Additionally, Bondalti is 
a signatory to the Charter of Principles of BCSD Portugal (Business Council for 
Sustainable Development), in which common commitments for sustainable 
development in Portugal are established. The Charter is implemented through 
the 2030 Journey that consists of 20 objectives, 20 targets and 20 indicators, 
common to all companies that subscribe to.

Engineering Projects

Maintenance and Technical Assistance

WATER TREATMENT

Bondalti operates since 2020 in the market for Water Treatment solutions, having created a business 
area to provide these products and services both in the Iberian market and internationally.

In this business, Bondalti specializes in two large groups of complementary activities: The design, 
production, marketing and installation of highly reliable and competitive water and wastewater treatment 
equipment and solutions – an activity that is called Engineering Projects. Complementing this activity, 
the resources and experience gathered make it possible to accompany each client with an offer of 
continuous support, whether in integral management, operation, preventive, and corrective maintenance 
– this activity is called Maintenance and Technical Assistance -, thus maintaining a close relationship 
with clients. 

Through the Enkrott and AEMA groups, Bondalti serves the most demanding clients, with a particular 
focus on the industrial sector and also the health and tourism sectors and other large buildings and 
facilities. Additionally, Bondalti is active in the municipal sector, providing water for human consumption, 
as well as the treatment of urban wastewater.

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  BONDALTI
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This business area reflects a long-term commitment to a sector of activity in 
line with major global trends in sustainable development, including the United 
Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), with emphasis on efficiency 
in the use, supply, and access to drinking water (SDG 6) and on ensuring 
sustainable consumption and production patterns (SDG 12), among others.

Re-used water 

Industrial water 

Municipal water 

Wastewater

C&I

Process water 

AQS, ...

Drinking water

WATER TREATMENT VALUE CHAIN

Legend:
C&I – Commercial and Institutional (hotels, hospitals, etc.)
DHW – Domestic Hot Water

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  BONDALTI
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WATER SUPPLY SANITATION AND RE-USEUSER

Abstraction Water 
treatment Supply Consumption Collection of 

wastewater
Wastewater 
treatment Re-use

°  Abstraction 
infrastructures include 
reservoirs, water 
towers, pumping 
stations and the 
network of pipelines 
connecting the 
treatment plants

°  Water may abstracted 
from surface or 
underground sources

°  Water treatment 
comprises physical and 
chemical processes to 
improve water quality 
to make it suitable for 
a specific end use: 
drinking water, industrial 
water, irrigation

°  The distribution 
network comprises 
the infrastructure, 
pipelines and 
pumps that supply 
consumers

°  Users are divided into 
3 main categories: 
agriculture, industry 
and domestic 

°  The sewage system 
comprises the pipes 
and pumps used to 
transport wastewater 
to the WWTP

°  Wastewater treatment 
involves  physical, 
chemical and biological 
processes to remove 
contaminants and 
produce treated effluent 
that is safe for discharge 
into the environment

°  Wastewater reuse 
involves the treatment 
of effluents with a view 
to new applications: 
recharge of aquifers, 
irrigation, industrial 
uses and even 
drinking water

Equipment manufacturers Integrators Installers Operators Regulators

WATER TREATMENT VALUE CHAIN (CONT)
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GLOSSARY

17

TABLE OF CONTENTS

The portfolio of solutions for water treatment and wastewater treatment 
includes various solutions and technologies (i) for the production of water for 
human consumption, (ii) industrial process and utility waters, as well as (iii) for 
the wastewater and sludge treatment. Among others, the following stand out:

°  Solutions with membrane technologies, such as reverse osmosis or 
ultrafiltration;

°  Advanced biological solutions such as MBR membrane bioreactor solutions;

°  Advanced biological solutions allowing energy recovery and reduction of 
emissions and waste, such as UASB type anaerobic reactors;

°  Solutions with physical-chemical treatments, advanced oxidation systems 
and sludge treatment;

°  Customized chemical dosing equipment for water treatment or other 
applications;

°  Solutions for the reuse of wastewater for various purposes;

°  Advanced monitoring and control solutions associated with our products.

This technical portfolio is associated with the offer of services, focusing on 
two key pillars: the regular operation and maintenance of client facilities, and 
technical assistance whenever requested, providing a quick and efficient 
response, ensuring the continuity of operation.

This activity is assisted by a chemical and biological analysis laboratory, 
accredited in Spain, which supports internal activity, but also offers analysis 
and inspection services to third parties with high quality processes and results.

The portfolio is developed following an innovation perspective, through several 
internal projects or in partnership with several international entities, whether 
in the development of anaerobic reactors (e.g., LIFE-MultiAD 4 AgroSMEs 
project), or in the field of predictive maintenance and industry 4.0 (e.g., Wave 
project), among many others.

In the Water Treatment activity, the Organization seek to offer the highest degree 
of quality and commitment to the client and the environment, reinforced by 
the following certifications:

°  ISO 9001:2015 – Quality Management System – Enkrott, Enkrott Espanha, 
AEMA, Aguas Rioja;

°  ISO 14001:2015 – Environmental Management System – AEMA, Aguas Rioja;

°  ISO 45001:2018 – Occupational Safety and Health Management System – AEMA, Aguas Rioja;

°  UNE-EN ISO/IEC 17020:2012 – Accreditation as an Inspection Body by ENAC number 177/EI321 – 
Laboratorios Alfaro;

°  UNE-EN ISO/IEC 17025:2017 – Accreditation as a Testing Laboratory by ENAC number 524/LE1135 – 
Laboratorios Alfaro;

°  Laboratorios Alfaro is certified as Inspection Body and Testing Laboratory, with the title of “Entidades 
Colaboradoras de la Administración Hidráulica” granted by the Spanish Government.

Bondalti’s first step in this business area was taken in 2020, with the acquisition of a majority stake 
in Enkrott, a leading company in the management and treatment of water for human and industrial 
consumption in Portugal, with operations also in Spain and Angola, exporting to several international 
clients. Operating since 1961 Enkrott produces and exports water treatment technologies and equipment 
to all regions of the world, from Portugal to Australia, ranking among the market leaders in Portugal 
and Angola.

In 2021 Bondalti acquired the Spanish Grupo Aguas Alfaro (AEMA Group), a major local operator in the 
wastewater treatment and industrial process segment, thus reinforcing its commitment to business 
diversification and presence in Spain. The Aguas Alfaro Group, which comprises companies Aguas 
Rioja, Agua Energía y Medioambiente (AEMA) and Laboratorios Alfaro started its activity in 1994 and is 
recognised under its trade name AEMA.

In the Water Treatment business, Bondalti has more than 300 professionals, based in Portugal, Spain, 
and Angola, serving local markets, and exporting to a variety of international markets.

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  BONDALTI
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Lugo

León

Logroño

Alfaro

Barcelona

Sintra

Oeiras

Madrid

Algarve

Matosinhos

Funchal

Sevilha

Sede
Luanda

Branches Production 
units

Headquarters AEMA Enkrott
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EFFORT RESULTS GENERATED VALUE

• €M 273.2 in Cost of Goods Sold

• €M 89.8 in Supplies and Services

• €M 28.1 in Personnel Expenses

• 330 ideas submitted by Employees 

• €M 2.7 in RDI costs and investment

• 10% of Employees allocated to RDI activities

• €M 443.9 in Turnover

• €M 61.8 in EBITDA

• €M 19.1 in Net Profit

• €M 111 in Net Debt 

• €M 1.7 cumulative return on implemented ideas

• 36 RDI initiatives and/or projects

• 41 RDI partnerships

• Creation of sustainable value

• Growth of the organisation

•  Development of innovation capacity

• Production operational efficiency

•  Development of scientific knowledge

•  Higher visibility and recognition

Financial 
capital

Intellectual
capital

• 542 kt of raw materials used at Industrial Chemicals

• 2 086 k m3 water consumed

• 2 660 kGJ energy consumed

•  691 Employees (406 in Portugal, 201 in Spain, 84 in 
Angola)

• €k 758 in employment benefits

• 34 992 training hours 

• €k 1 595 invested in the Community

•  206 Stakeholders assessing performance in 
Sustainability

•  150 Clients assessing Industrial Chemicals

• 1 810 kt of Industrial Chemicals products

• 1 026 k m3 of effluents

• 18 687 t of waste

• 138 kt CO2 eq. emitted

• efr certification from Fundación MásFamilia

• 14 non serious occupational accidents with sick leave

• Incidence rate of 0.017

• 82 out of 100 in the EcoVadis sustainability survey

• 4.14 out of 5 in the Stakeholder Sustainability assessment

•  4.29 out of 5 in the Clients assessment

• Production operational efficiency

• Reduction of environmental impact

•  Protection of biodiversity and eco 
systems

• Development of skills

•  Reconciliation between personal and 
professional life

• Protection of Employees

• Safe working environment

• Confidence in products and services

• Increase in Client satisfaction

• Increase in safety and efficiency

• Increase in recognition

• Development of Local Community

Natural
Capital

Human
Capital

Social
Capital

KEY INDICATORS AND VALUE CREATION

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  BONDALTI
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2021 HIGHLIGHTS
Expansion of the Water Treatment business
Bondalti acquired the Spanish Grupo Aguas Alfaro (AEMA Group), a major 
Spanish operator in the wastewater treatment and industrial process segment, 
reinforcing its commitment to business diversification and presence in Spain. 
This investment consolidated Bondalti’s positioning in the water treatment 
sector, following the acquisition of the Portuguese group Enkrott last September. 
The Group held meetings with local and regional authorities to present its 
ambitious project for the water and environment sector.

Grupo Aguas Alfaro offers a range of engineering, construction, operation, 
and maintenance solutions for process and wastewater treatment, Legionella 
control, waste and sludge treatment, supply of chemical products, laboratory 
analysis and inspections, among others.

“This is yet another step in fulfilling Bondalti’s commitment to a growth strategy 
based on geographic diversification and business areas that complement each 
other. Bondalti sees sustainable development in all its pillars, so we welcome 
the Aguas Alfaro Group to Bondalti and to the José de Mello Group with the 
certainty that it will foster growth, anchored in innovation and competence 
values, which are essential to overcome future challenges”, João de Mello, 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Bondalti.

Enkrott in the Middle East Market
Enkrott – Gestão e Tratamento de Águas S.A., operating since 1961 and a Bondalti 
subsidiary since September 2020, expanded to the Middle East and Persian 
Gulf market, having won three projects in Kuwait and Oman, following tender 
with high level technical specifications. As a result, three reference projects 
for chemical dosing solutions are being adopted in combined cycle facilities 
in these two countries.

The Aguas Alfaro Group builds new WWTP in CIBEX
O Grupo Aguas Alfaro, specialized in water treatment, will build the wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) 
for the new Complexo do Ibérico da Estremadura (CIBEX), one of the largest industrial processing 
infrastructures dedicated to the Iberian pig species, which will be built in Zafra (Badajoz).

The project’s promoters are Campofrío, Industrias Cárnicas Villar (Grupo Costa Food), Estirpe Preta (Argal), 
Grupo Alejandro Miguel, IBERCOM (Ibérico Comercialización), Montesano and Señorío de Montanera.

Cantabria Plant welcomes local authorities
The Cantabria Plant welcomed on an institutional visit the President of the Regional Government of 
Cantabria, Miguel Ángel Revilla, who praised Bondalti’s role in creating wealth and employment in that 
Spanish region and said that he is convinced that the company has a promising future there.

The mayors of Torrelavega and Polanco, and the Portuguese Ambassador to Spain accompanied the 
president of the autonomous community in the visit to this Bondalti plant.

We contribute to the Pact for Water Management
Bondalti joined the Pact for Water Management, an initiative coordinated by Universidade Católica 
Portuguesa with the aim of placing the issue of water at the centre of the agenda of companies in 
Portugal.

The Water Management Pact, subscribed by several Portuguese industrial companies, implies adherence 
to a manifesto and the commitment to adopting more sustainable and efficient measures in the 
management of this essential natural resource. This Pact aims to tackle the risks associated with water 
management and to promote its value as a fundamental resource for business.

Towards COP26
Bondalti signed the BCSD Portugal manifesto entitled “Towards COP26”, which establishes 11 goals to 
stop climate change.

The 11 points of the manifesto reflect the different aspects to be considered in order to raise the ambition 
of the global and collective response, in line with the objective of limiting the planet’s warming to 
1.5º C, achieving the goal of reducing carbon emissions and accelerating the decarbonisation process 
around the world.
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Bondalti in the EIC Greenhouse Gas Program
Bondalti joined the European Innovation Council’s (EIC) Greenhouse Gas Program, 
inviting EIC-funded Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises (SMEs) to collaborate 
in the co-creation of products and services.

Bondalti wants to promote innovative and sustainable ways to help the planet 
and its communities through chemistry. The Organisation believes in innovation 
as a way of ensuring new high quality, high safety, and high environmental 
standard solutions.

Bondalti in the European “Reskilling 4 Employment” initiative
Bondalti has joined the European initiative “Reskilling 4 Employment”, which 
aims to re-train one million unemployed people by 2025, whose qualifications 
and/or professional experience are not adjusted to the current needs of the 
labour market.

In Portugal, this initiative is led by Sonae, SAP and Nestlé, taking the form of the 
“PRO_MOV” program, co-led by IEFP (Institute of Employment and Professional 
Training), in cooperation with the Ministry of Labour, Solidarity and Social Security 
and private sector companies, in which Bondalti is included.
 
Bondalti supports INSURE.hub
Bondalti has committed itself to supporting the activities of the Innovation in 
Sustainability and Regeneration Hub (INSURE Hub), the new platform whose 
vision is to promote and implement innovation and management processes 
in a circular perspective.

Founded by Universidade Católica Portuguesa, Centro Regional do Porto, 
and Planetiers New Generation, INSURE Hub aims to create an international 
ecosystem of transdisciplinary knowledge, which promotes business solutions 
with a circular, sustainable and regenerative scope, powered by disruptive 
technologies, through four fundamental axes: (i) support to companies and 
clusters in business development and new investments; (ii) promotion of 
sustainable/regenerative entrepreneurship; (iii) mobilisation of society; and 
(iv) academic training.

In October, Micaela Cabral, Head of Strategy, Control, Innovation and Sustainability at Bondalti, actively 
participated in the inaugural conferences for the launching of this Platform, sharing the conclusions 
of the “European corporate survey on sustainability strategy and leadership”.

Completion of the ERASE Project
ERASE – Agrupamento para a Regeneração Ambiental dos Solos de Estarreja, A.C.E., in which Bondalti 
is represented, marked the completion of the environmental remediation contract for the hydraulic 
ditch of S. Filipe, in the Union of Parishes of Beduído and Veiros.

The ERASE project, started in 1998, aimed to reduce the environmental liability related to industrial 
waste deposited for decades within the Estarreja Chemical Complex, suspending soil and groundwater 
contamination, and environmentally recovering the surrounding areas.
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Towards green hydrogen
Bondalti joined the consortium of 13 companies and research partners that 
will develop the GreenH2Atlantic project, for the production of renewable 
hydrogen in Sines.

This was one of three projects selected under the European Green Deal to 
demonstrate the feasibility of green hydrogen on an unprecedented scale of 
production and technological application. The €30 million fund will help finance 
the construction of the hydrogen unit, which is expected to start in 2023 and 
whose operation is expected to start in 2025.

Bondalti banks on lithium
Bondalti signed a cooperation agreement with the Australian company Reed 
Advance Materials (RAM), with a view to building a lithium refinery in Estarreja 
and marketing an environmentally sustainable processing of this raw material 
in Europe; a pilot unit is projected to open in 2022.

RAM is the owner of a new lithium purification process using the electrolysis method, called ELi®, which 
stands out for its lower carbon footprint. Bondalti, for its part, dominates electrolysis technology, being 
the largest Iberian producer in terms of installed capacity. This refinery will be the first commercial 
operation to use RAM’s ELi® process, which radically reduces the need for reagents, operating costs, 
and capital. The flexibility of the process allows the domestic production of lithium chemical compounds 
from the conversion of European raw materials and imported brine concentrates, ensuring an ethical 
and resilient local lithium supply chain for the electric car battery industry.

The project, which is part of the Mobilising Agendas of the Recovery and Resilience Plan, foresees 
a shared investment of around €4 million for the installation of a pilot unit.

Bondalti keeps its platinum medal in EcoVadis
Bondalti’s commitment to sustainable development was once again recognised 
in the annual assessment carried out by EcoVadis of the sustainability practices 
of Bondalti Chemicals, with the award of the Platinum medal.

A score of 82 out of 100 was obtained, the best achieved so far, and which 
represents an increase of 4 points compared to the former score.

EcoVadis recognised the various improvements implemented by Bondalti, mainly in the Environment 
category, but also in the remaining categories under assessment, namely Labour and Human Rights, 
Ethics and Sustainable Procurement.

Bondalti Chemicals thus maintains its competitive position in the Top 1% of companies in its sector 
evaluated by EcoVadis, standing 35 points above the average.

Bondalti at “Smart Chemistry Smart Future”
Bondalti actively participated in the “Smart Chemistry Smart Future” project promoted by FEIQUE 
(Spanish Chemical Industry Business Federation) with the aim of highlighting the strategic relevance 
of chemical innovation towards a sustainable future and the sector’s contribution to the economy. 
This project takes place alongside Expoquimia, a relevant European industry fair that takes place every 
two years in Barcelona.

Bondalti was present with its own space in what is one of the largest European events, and the largest 
at the Iberian level, in the chemical industry, showing its commitment to sustainable development, in 
line with the Sustainable Development Goals. 
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Acting as representatives of Bondalti, Teresa Marques (Deputy Head of Planning, 
Integrated Production and Energy) and Rosa Calinas (Human Resources 
Coordinator at Estarreja’s site), respectively, presented the “Bondalti and the 
energy transition” and “It’s all about our people” talks.

Support to quality education
As in the previous year, Bondalti together with the Amélia de Mello Foundation 
awarded scholarships to six students from Instituto Superior Técnico. The 
scholarship granting ceremony took place online at the end of April, and 
was attended by André de Albuquerque, Executive Director of Bondalti, and 
Jorge Quintas, Secretary General of the Amélia de Mello Foundation. André 
de Albuquerque highlighted the role that “training, and university education, 
have for the economic and social development of the country” and stressed 
Bondalti’s commitment to its promotion, “particularly in the areas of Engineering 
and Chemistry, which are areas with greater affinity with our professional and 
business activity”.

Bondalti with active voice
°  João de Mello, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Bondalti, 

participated in the discussion seminar on Industry and Innovation, 
as part of the Government initiative “PRR in discussion”, and also in 
the High-Level Conference “Hydrogen in Our Societies – Establishing 
Bridges”, promoted by the Portuguese EU Council Presidency.

°  Bondalti publicly communicated its Climate Transition Program at 
the conference “A Química para a Vida”, promoted by the Amélia de 
Mello Foundation, as part of the celebrations of the 150th anniversary 
of the birth of Alfredo da Silva, founder of CUF. Within the scope of 
this initiative, at the conference “A Obra Social da CUF”, André de 
Albuquerque, Director of Bondalti, presented the Company’s impact 
and contribution to sustainable development, and Luís Delgado, 
Director of Bondalti, shared Bondalti’s innovation and creative 
process at the conference held at the University of Minho.

°  Inês Ribeiro, Coordinator of the Planning, Innovation and Sustainability 
area at Bondalti, participated in the Innovation Talks, promoted by 
ANI, which give voice to major players of the National Innovation 
System, viewing to highlight the importance of innovation as driver 
for sustained economic and social growth and to encourage the 
discussion around the main challenges of our times.

°  During a webinar promoted by Associação Smart Waste Portugal 
and Fundação de Serralves, André de Albuquerque, Director of Bondalti, spoke about the role of the 
chemical industry towards sustainability, the much that has already been done and the challenges 
for the future.

°  Diogo Mendes, Technical Manager for Security and Climate Action at Bondalti, was a guest speaker 
at the start of the training program “Hydrogen Technologies and Economy”, by INEGI (Institute of 
Science and Innovation in Mechanical and Industrial Engineering), where he shared his experience 
at Bondalti, focusing on characterizing the importance of hydrogen in the Company’s production 
processes, now and in the future, as well as in the Organisation’s green hydrogen projects, as part 
of its decarbonisation plan.

°  João Calado, Senior Consultant at Bondalti, participated in the “Advanced Materials Conference - To 
innovate in the future”, promoted under the Portuguese EU Council Presidency, in the round table 
discussions on “Advanced Materials Towards a Sustainable Path”, discussing the use of innovative 
materials developed by the chemical industry and the new challenges in this area.
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A sustainable strategy
Sustainable development implies acting on the needs of the present 
without compromising future generations, ensuring a balance between 
economic growth, and caring for the environment and social well being. 
Bondalti is focused on this purpose, adapting strategy and operations to 
the needs of current and future societies.

We want to have efficient and competitive industrial operations, 
aligned with the best ethical practices to ensure the safety and 
well-being of our people and the community in general.

We want to reinforce our value-generating growth, through the 
diversification of our business portfolio, investing in movements 
across our value chains.

We want to adopt innovative digitalization solutions that allow us to 
make the most of our industrial and corporate operations, as well 
as the existing knowledge at Bondalti.

We want to achieve carbon neutrality by 2030 and climate neutrality by 2050.

We want to promote circularity in the value chains in which we operate, promoting the 
upscaling of flows. 

We want to neutralize all environmental impacts associated with our activity, promoting 
biodiversity.

We want to be recognised as one of the best industrial companies to work for, standing as 
example of good labour practices in terms of equality, inclusion, and diversity, respecting 
our people in a holistic way.

We want to attract talent and withhold it, investing in the development of technical and 
behavioural skills, and valuing the transfer of vertical and horizontal knowledge. 

We want to be an active member of our local communities, providing products and services 
that are essential for the well being of populations and for socio-economic development, 
working in partnership to support impacting projects.

Competitiveness 
and growth

Decarbonisation, 
Circularity and 
Responsibility

Well-being, Talent, 
and Community
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Bondalti’s material sustainability themes are defined based on the Organisation’s 
strategy, as well as on the process of listening to internal and external 
stakeholders, supported by a trend analysis and benchmark.

At the end of 2021, following a stakeholder consultation process, Bondalti 
revised the positioning of its material themes first established in 2017, in line 
with the trends identified. The Materiality Matrix only identifies topics whose 
importance for Bondalti is greater than 3.0 and those whose importance to 
stakeholders is greater than 4.0.

This materiality analysis is also relevant for the identification of the SDGs most impacted by the 
Organisation, whether positively or negatively. The SDGs encompass the United Nations 2030 Agenda 
for Sustainable Development, a new global model, which must be implemented by all, to promote 
prosperity, global well being, protect the environment and combat climate change. Bondalti contributes 
to several SDGs, most relevantly to the following:

We maximise water reuse, monitoring water efficiency and the emission 
of effluents.

We implement energy efficiency measures, with continuous monitoring 
of our emissions. 

Total focus on the sustainable expansion of our activity, investing in operating 
efficiency and human capital. 

Persistent investment in RDI activities to ensure operating efficiency and 
technological and functional modernisation. 

Investment in circular economy initiatives for responsible and more 
competitive economic growth, with less impact on social and natural capital. 
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Importance of the issue for Bondalti

Emissions Process Innovation

Employee development and training

Ethics/ Transparency/ 
Anti-corruption

Occupational 
health and safety

Customer 
satisfaction

Economic 
performance

Corporate governance

Energy management

MATERIALITY MATRIX
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TRENDS
Trends in the Chemical Industry
Bondalti closely follows the main trends in the economy in general, and the 
global chemical industry, as well as the implications of such trends in its business.

In 2021, a year following the start of the Covid-19 pandemic, Bondalti’s activity 
and the economy in general continued to be affected by consecutive waves 
of contagion caused by new variants of the virus (namely the Delta variant, 
at the beginning of the year, and the Omicron variant, which emerged in late 
2021), which quickly became the prevailing variants and led countries around 
the world to impose new restrictions to prevent the spread of infections and 
uncontrolled hospitalisations. 

Nonetheless, at economic level, the Portuguese economy grew by around 4.9%, 
slightly above expectations and the highest growth since 1990, although this 
should be seen in the light of the worst recession recorded in the country, which 
had occurred in the previous year (-8.4%). In line with this historic growth, the 
national industrial production index increased by 2.9%, after a 7% drop in the 
previous year, while the index corresponding to the manufacturing industries 
section grew by 4.7%, following a reduction of 8.3% in 2020. Despite this 
increase in the industry, the production index of the national chemical industry 
decreased by around 7% in 2021, in counter-cycle with economic development.

For the cementing of the recovery from 2022 onwards, including that of the 
chemical industry, the effective implementation of the European aid package 
(Next Generation EU) will be crucial; in Portugal this package is called the 
Recovery and Resilience Plan (RRP), totalling € 16.6 billion to be fuelled into 
the national economy through grants and loans until 2026. 

At the geopolitical level, several events marked the year. In early 2021 the 
storming of the US Capitol and the inauguration of Joe Biden as new US 
President, marked a new political cycle in the world’s largest economy, whose 
global influence seems to be waning as it turns increasingly inwards to solve 
internal problems. The withdrawal of the US military presence in Afghanistan 
in August, after two decades of occupation, also seems to represent a turning 
point in terms of US interventionism abroad.

The global economy was affected by serious problems in international supply chains, due to several 
factors that contributed to a “perfect storm” in the logistics sector. The various asymmetric outbreaks 
of the Covid-19 pandemic in different regions of the world caused stops and reductions in industrial 
production, which together with a repressed demand that in 2021 was gradually released by the 
advance of vaccination programs and gradual lifting of restrictions, translated into a severe lack of 
the most varied raw materials to satisfy this growing demand, of which the most visible example are 
semiconductors, essential to various industries, such as the automotive industry. The lack of containers 
and space in the world’s main ports also exacerbated logistical difficulties in supply chains, in addition 
to several one-off events, such as the ice storm in Texas in February, which paralysed much of the 
chemical and industrial production on the gulf coast; the grounding of the Ever Given ship in the Suez 
Canal, in March, preventing the crossing of vessels on one of the most important routes for international 
trade; the floods in Belgium and Germany, in July, which, in addition to the material and human costs 
they caused, also caused stoppages in several industrial and chemical units. 
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The serious energy crisis that unfolded in the last months of the year also had 
a strong impact on the economy and on the chemical industry in particular. The 
rampant rise in energy costs was due to the combination of several events at 
a global level: extreme weather situations; growing demand for energy from 
the various economies recovering from the pandemic; and severe constraints 
on energy supply. In addition to these factors, a longer-than-usual winter, 
and a hot summer in both the US and Europe contributed to the reduction of 
natural gas reserves, leading several producers to replace natural gas with 
coal or oil as a raw material for energy production, raising the price of these 
three commodities.

The situation is not so dramatic in the US given its strategic reserves of natural gas (shale gas). 
However, Europe continues to depend heavily on carbonate producing countries, such as Russia and 
the remaining OPEC countries (Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries). Despite the strong 
upturn in demand, these countries continued to restrict production, triggering up prices and showing 
the urgency of the European Union investment in its energy independence. In this region, the initial 
rise in natural gas prices and the subsequent shift to coal-fired power production also boosted CO2 
prices, further pushing up electricity prices. The tense situation that arose at the end of the year on 
Russia’s border with Ukraine, with the threat of a possible invasion of the latter by the former, further 
fuelled inflationary pressure on energy prices.

As should be expected, all these situations had a profound impact on the chemical industry, pushing 
up the price of almost all commodities and chemical products and contributing to an increase in global 
inflation, an effect that could continue over the next few years and force the central banks of the main 
economic blocs to review their expansionist and “cheap” money policies, by raising interest rates.

Another central theme that will mark the economy and society in general in the foreseeable future will 
be environmental and social sustainability policies, and the adoption of these policies will determine 
the success or failure of companies in all sectors, including the chemical sector. Of note was the COP26 
event, which took place in Glasgow in November, where several countries committed to taking concrete 
measures to address climate change, including substantial cuts in methane emissions. Notwithstanding 
the various commitments made, CO2 emissions to the atmosphere increased substantially in 2021 as 
the global economy returned to growth following a difficult 2020, which had nevertheless recorded 
lower carbon emissions. 

Bondalti and the chemical industry will certainly be at the heart of these developments in favour of 
sustainability, in the creation of products, processes and materials that can meet the decarbonisation 
objectives of the entire economy.

Bondalti is also following new technological trends closely, as they are levers to achieve its sustainability, 
efficacy, and efficiency goals. Themes such as automation, Industry 4.0, big data and Artificial Intelligence, 
Internet of Things and other concepts are being introduced in the Chemical Industry and Bondalti in 
particular, and will permit operating in new, more efficient, and innovative ways.
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In the Aniline and by-products value chain
Aniline is mainly consumed on the production of diphenylmethane diisocyanate 
(MDI), thus the aniline market is closely linked to the evolution of this product 
and polyurethanes in general.

Following 2020, during which the MDI market recorded a strong decrease 
of around 14%1 in the EMEA region (Europe, Middle East & Africa), the most 
relevant geography in Bondalti’s scope of action, Bondalti expect a substantial 
recovery of about 3% to 4%2, per year on average from 2021 to 2025. Such 
strong growth pace will continue to influence demand for aniline.

Global mega trends are driving this growth, given that MDI is an essential 
product to meet the needs of high energy efficiency, through high-performance 
thermal insulation, whether in civil construction or in refrigeration equipment. 
This alignment with the United Nations’ SDG 7 - Renewable and Accessible 
Energies, and, in particular, with the European Union’s ambitions of sustainability 
and energy efficiency, enhances future market expectations and keeps Bondalti 
in line with these goals.

Bondalti will continue to benefit from favourable demand for aniline in the 
long term. However, installed capacity in Europe is likely to increase in 2022, 
probably above the rise in demand. This may result in a slight decrease in 
operation rates, still maintaining the expectation of high aniline consumption 
at Bondalti, at least until 2025.

In the Chlor-alkalis value chain
The chlor-alkalis market encompasses a set of products, of which chlorine and 
caustic soda stand out as the main ones, but also sodium hypochlorite and 
hydrochloric acid as relevant derivatives.

Globally, the latest projections3 point to an increase in demand for chlorine of 
1% to 2%/year from 2021 to 2030. Such expected development will require 
more capacity in the medium and long term in order to sustain adequate 
operation rates.

At regional level, following the mandatory end of mercury-cell based production technology, chlorine 
production capacity in the Iberian Peninsula fell from 855 thousand tons/year in 2017 to 450 thousand 
tons/year in 2018. There was, however, a recovery in production capacity whether by expansion or, as 
in Bondalti’s case, building new units from scratch. It is estimated that by 2022, following completion 
of Covestro’s new chlor-alkalis plant in Tarragona, there will be 720 thousand tons of chlorine capacity 
installed in the Iberian Peninsula, still quite distant from the historic reality prior to the prohibition of 
mercury technology. Bondalti has been part of this recovery, and in 2019 it started its new chlor-alkalis 
plan in Torrelavega; in 2020 and 2021 it consolidated this operation.

From a price point of view, despite a slow start, demand for caustic soda increased throughout the year 
as the economy recovered; several disruptions in production units across Europe led to a reduction 
in product availability on several occasions, pushing prices upwards. This upward price trend was 
worsened by rising energy costs from the 2nd half of the year onwards; electricity represents the 
largest variable cost in the production of chlor-alkalis, putting pressure on producers’ margins and 
leading to an inflationary spiral in caustic soda prices that persist even in early 2022.

Trends in Water Treatment 
Water is a fundamental element for life on Earth; it can be found in the atmosphere, oceans, rivers, 
lakes, and underground soils. Ninety seven percent of all the water on Earth is salt water and 3% is 
fresh water, with only 1% available for use4. The world population depends on this resource for energy 
production, irrigation, industrial processes, and human consumption. According to data provided by 
the United Nations, 72% of all water abstractions are used in agriculture, 16% for public supply and 
services and 12% for industry5.

The increase in needs and climate change have led to growing scarcity, in particular, of water with the 
necessary characteristics for use. This trend has forced a growing focus on water and energy efficiency, 
as well as the promotion of the circular economy, reuse of water and other associated production 
factors. The Iberian Peninsula will be one of the regions most affected by this water shortage, as 
shown in the map below6.

1 Source: IAL
2 Source: Nexant
3 Source: IHS and Tecnom Orbichem

4 Source: NASA - https://earthdata.nasa.gov/learn/toolkits/freshwater-availability
5 Source: ONU - Scarcity | UN-Water (unwater.org) - https://www.unwater.org/water-facts/scarcity/
6 Source: World Resources Institute Aqueduct, January 2022, https://www.wri.org/data/water-stress-country
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Some countries are already addressing this issue; Israel, for example, already 
reuses 90% of its wastewater. In Europe, there are good examples coming 
from countries like Spain, which reuses 14% of its wastewater, which though 
it may be deemed high, is still low compared to other places in the world.

In the industrial sector, an increasing number of companies are making 
commitments to efficiency and reuse. Some examples include Carlsberg, which 
has committed to halving the use of water in all its manufacturing facilities by 
2030; L’Oréal, which is committed to treating and reusing 100% of the water 
used in its industrial processes; and INTEL®, which aims to become “net water 
positive”. The industrial sector, despite representing only 12% of world water 
consumption, leads in the amount of reused water, which demonstrates the 
industry’s appreciation of this resource in relation to other sectors of society.

Efficient and sustainable use of water requires efficient wastewater treatment. 
Requirements are growing increasingly stricter, implying more sophisticated 
and advanced treatments. There is a clear vision that wastewater treatment 
is more than an obligation, it is also an opportunity. What was previously seen 
as a waste is now a resource: whether treated water or by-products resulting 
from the treatment of wastewater, which can have different uses. 

The production of biogas from wastewater treatment is an example. Biogas is a gas rich in methane, 
produced from organic matter of different origins, such as livestock, animal production and processing 
(manure, by-products from slaughterhouses, etc.); agricultural and agro-industrial origin (foliage, 
agricultural and agro-industrial residues, beer, and wine production, etc.); industrial origin (waste from 
biodiesel production, etc.); and human origin (wastewater sludge). This biogas can be used for thermal 
energy generation or even injection into natural gas networks. The energy-water cycle is closed, 
resources are increasingly interconnected - water is needed to produce energy, and energy is needed 
to treat water -, it is thus possible to generate resources with energy value in water treatment.

In the Industry 4.0 and electronic systems area, the management of water networks is increasingly 
automated - you can only manage and control what you can measure. At the forefront of this digital 
transformation are IoT sensors that collect real-time data on the status of systems and processes, 
from leaks and operational issues to water quality and flow. The collected data is analysed using 
Artificial Intelligence and “machine learning”, generating results that allow the network managers or 
the system to make informed decisions. There has been a significant growth in these “Smart Water” 
technologies in recent years, including smart water meters, systems for diagnosing the condition of 
pipes and detecting leaks allowing to foresee catastrophic failures and prevent water losses, sensors 
that allow the monitoring of key parameters of water and wastewater treatment processes, as well as 
the remote management, operation and optimization of facilities and systems based on data collection 
and analysis.

Regarding the decarbonisation of the economy and energy transition aiming at carbon neutrality in 
2050, water will also play an important role, namely in the national strategy for hydrogen. The production 
of hydrogen by electrolysis consumes water as a raw material by around 9 litres/kg of hydrogen 
produced. The focus on hydrogen whether through desalination or reuse of treated wastewater from 
domestic or industrial origin, will strengthen the interconnection and synergy between the water and 
energy sectors, requiring significant investments in the coming years.

In the light of these trends, Bondalti intends to position itself as an agent of innovation, with its portfolio 
of products and services suited to face the coming challenges. Membrane technologies stand out, 
namely reverse osmosis systems with application in desalination and process water treatment; 
ultrafiltration systems with application in pre-treatment of reverse osmosis systems and in tertiary 
treatment of wastewater for reusing purposes; and the MBR (Membrane Bioreactor) systems, a 
compact solution that encompasses biological treatment and ultrafiltration and which produces high-
quality effluent that can be reused. Bondalti’s investment in Research, Development and Innovation 
(RDI) in the search for new solutions is noteworthy: a high-performance multistage anaerobic reactor, 
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a patented anaerobic digestion technology for wastewater treatment and 
biogas production; the DSS sensor (Diveil Surface Sensor) for monitoring 
the tendency of “fouling” in water circuits, which can be used to verify the 
effectiveness of cleaning performed; as well as the Wave system for the 
management and remote monitoring of installations.

INVESTING IN INNOVATION
Bondalti considers investing in Innovation as one of the main drivers for 
sustainable development and increased competitiveness in the markets where 
it operates. Accordingly, the Organisation continuously invests in RDI activities 
to create a knowledge economy, supported by interfaces and interactions, 
where relevant knowledge flows and is transferred, fostering technological 
capacity and the active involvement of all employees in continuous improvement. 
Additionally, innovation at Bondalti Chemicals is bolstered by the efficient 
functioning of its RDI Management System, certified according to Portuguese 
standard 4457:2007 since 2013.

With a view to respond to future challenges in Industrial Chemicals, several RDI 
projects were developed to implement solutions that lead to carbon neutrality in 
industrial operations, and disruptive projects considering the current business 
profile. In 2021 some of these projects translated in several applications for 
funding opportunities, namely, within the scope of the Green Deal, Horizon 
Europe, Portugal 2020, the Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT), the 
Environmental Fund and, finally, the PRR:

°  PORTnetZERO Project – Green transformation of ports using innovative and 
sustainable best practices;

°  GreenH2Atlantic Project – Development and implementation of a 100 MW 
electrolyser in Sines for the production of green hydrogen;

°  ENERGY TWIN Project – Development of an innovative digital system to 
support production systems for energy efficiency and flexibility;

°  eBio4GChem Project – Development of new processes and technologies 
to produce green hydrogen and facilitate the implementation of circular 
economy principles;

°  BioHYCO Project – Electrochemical production of green chemicals from 
biogas;

°  CloroXY Project – Production of new and hydrogen products, promoting processes with a reduced 
carbon footprint;

°  CÁPSULA ÁFRICA Project – Creation of a culture of environmental accountability and awareness of 
climate change;

°  “EMPORYS”, “H2ENABLE”, “GAIN”, “H2DRIVEN”, “New Generation System”, “PVCBYNATURE” Projects 
(Expressions of Interest submitted under Component C5 - Capitalization and Business Innovation 
of the “Resilience” dimension, viewing to establish Agendas within the scope of natural disaster 
management and emergency and recovery plans, generate and enhance a new value chain of 
green fuels, specifically a line capable of producing hydrogen, ammonia and green methanol, and 
production of bio-PVC in Estarreja, contributing to climate transition).

In 2021 Bondalti applied to the R&D Tax Incentive System (SIFIDE II), for the Research and Development 
(R&D) activities carried out in Estarreja, and another application to the “Deducciones IDI” for the activities 
carried out in Torrelavega, with a focus on investment project and industrial requalification.

Other projects were developed in 2021 with the aim of increasing production capacity, energy efficiency, 
or reducing environmental impact, of which the following stand out:

°  Increase in nitrobenzene production capacity (Phase II);

°  Start-up of the brine nanofiltration unit for sulphate removal (SRS-Sulphate Removal System), which 
exceeded expectations for its additional ability to remove silica;

°  Construction of the intermittent diffuse gaseous emissions collection system (Phase 1);

°  Pre-project to reduce the consumption of natural gas through the use of thermocompressors;

°  Project to monitor the internal consumption of steam in the nitric acid plant, aiming at its optimization.

Also in the Water Treatment segment, some RDI initiatives were under way including applications 
to incentive systems, with emphasis on the GIATEX (to reduce specific water consumption, using 
separation processes by membranes), R2Water (water treatment and reusing solutions, applying 
maximum efficiency membrane separation processes), SecQA (improving water drinkability conditions 
in contingency/emergency situations) and Ozone4Water (state-of-the-art ozone technology for the 
treatment of water), projects at the Enkrott Group. In the AEMA Group the following projects should 
be mentioned: MULTI AD (improving energy efficiency and sludge management); and ULTRACLEAN 
(improving the MBR membrane cleaning process).

The Enkrott Group was also focused on the digital transformation of its services, such as the acquisition 
and real-time monitoring of industrial equipment and processes, or technical assistance; but also, in 
the solutions it offers, such as developing biofouling prevention in Membrane Systems, reusing purge 
water from cooling systems, or cutting-edge ozone technology for water treatment.
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establishes for the Industrial Chemicals segment, are assessed annually taking into account the partners’ 
performance in terms of proactivity and contribution to the achievement of results, as well as the level 
of commitment and ease of interaction. In 2021 the average score obtained in this assessment was 
3.3 out of 4. 

In 2021, a diagnosis of the Bondalti Innovation Model was also developed for the Industrial Chemicals 
area, in coordination with the José de Mello Capital innovation team, with the aim of promoting a 
transversal reflection on Innovation in the different business areas. This diagnosis was developed 
based on interviews and a survey, viewing to identify priority areas and opportunities for improvement 
that enhance the impact on Innovation. 

Bondalti sees people as the key element for the success of Innovation, both 
through the development of RDI activities and through the innovative ideas and 
solutions that they annually present to the Organization. The management of 
these ideas at Bondalti, particularly in the Industrial Chemicals area, is carried 
out through the Colombo Program existing since 2006, aimed at stimulating 
the generation of ideas by promoting value creation.

In 2021, over 30 ideas were submitted by employees within the scope of the 
Program, with an approval rate of 27%. To date, Colombo already has a total 
of 496 ideas submitted, including 167 approved and 121 implemented, which 
generated estimated gains of around € 1.7 million. 

Summing up, in 2021 Bondalti invested around € 2.7 million in RDI initiatives, of 
which around 54% correspond to Innovation activities and the remaining 46% 
to R&D activities. Ten percent of the Organization’s workforce was involved in 
these activities, dedicated to the 36 RDI projects under way during the year.

The close connection with the scientific community, particularly with national 
Universities and Technological Centres is also seen as a key factor for Innovation. 
During the year, several R&D projects took place at Bondalti, some of them 
associated with PhDs, which are developed in partnership with Portuguese 
universities. In 2021, as a result of partnerships with the Industrial Chemicals area, 
two PhD theses were publicly defended, the first on the use of microreactors 
in the production of nitrobenzene and the second on the use of predictive 
systems in the aniline production reaction. At the end of 2021, a PhD thesis 
was started on the production of hydrogen by electrolytic means, with an 
innovative approach and using non-noble materials.

The establishment of partnerships is a relevant factor for the intensification of 
an innovation climate, both from the point of view of business development 
and for the scientific community. The partnership relationships that Bondalti 

Goal 9.5. | Indicator 9.5.1. 
In 2021 Bondalti invested over € 1.3 million in R&D, 
viewing the technological modernisation of its 
industrial processes, corresponding to 1.6% of its 
gross added value

Goal 9.5 | Indicator 9.5.2.
In 2021, around 10% of Bondalti employees were 
involved in RDI activities, 2% of which in R&D activities

Expenses and investment in RDI

Employees involved in RDI activities

Ongoing RDI projects

Patent families (Bondalti Chemicals)

PhD/Post-doc grant holders

RDI partnerships

Scientific papers/presentations

2019RDI Key results at Bondalti 20212020

€ 3.0 million

20%

57

4

7

35

6

€ 3.3 million

19%

52

3

3

24

1

€ 2.7 million 

10%

36

4

3

41

3
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It should also be noted that in the second half of 2021, the Colombo Program 
was restructured organically and functionally, resulting in the revision of its 
Internal Regulations and the creation of an Evaluation Committee, made up of 
a multidisciplinary team, which is responsible for assessing the ideas submitted 
on the Colombo Platform and monitoring the implementation process, with 
a view to speeding up approval rates and implementation times. A revised 
version of the Platform was launched in November 2021 to improve the use 
and communication of ideas, bringing Colombo closer to everyone.

 

RISK MANAGEMENT
Operating in the chemical industry for over 150 years, Bondalti has a consolidated 
culture of risk management. Such culture is mandatory considering the labour 
and environmental regulations to which Bondalti is subject (Seveso Directive), 
and it is reflected in the voluntary adhesion to various Management Systems 
- Quality (ISO 9001), Environment (ISO 14001), Occupational Health and Safety 
(ISO 45001), Energy (ISO 50001), Research, Development and Innovation (NP 
4457), and Family Responsible Company (efr 1000) and respective certifications.

Bondalti’s risk management - governance and procedure - covers six structuring 
pillars:

°  Bondalti’s Risk Taking Policy

°  Three lines of defence model

°  Integrated management system (covers all implemented certification systems)

°  Principles of ISO 31000:2018 and COSO ERM (Enterprise Risk Management) 
Framework

°  Risk Management Process Cycle

°  Internal Audit and Risk Management Division

The implementation of Bondalti’s Risk Management in the newly integrated areas 
will be completed in 2022: Bondalti Cantabria and Water Treatment business.

Bondalti’s Risk Taking Policy

Bondalti’s strategic goals and management practices are aligned with a very low level of 
risk taking as concerns people and the environment, and an even lower level of risk taking 
as concerns economic, reputation and ongoing operation risks, seeking a sustainable 
development by banking on research, development, and innovation.
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Characterisation of the likelihood levels and 
impact of related risk (level of risk exposure) and 
major mitigation measures

Identification of Bondalti’s action context in order to 
circumscribe the identification os risks, considering for 
instance, the geographical, foreign exchange, sector 
or regulatory scope

Promotion of a cross-cutting risk culture by 
communicating the activities developed at risk 
management level

Quarterly and Annual Risk Reporting, control of action 
plans and disclosure of frameworks

Identification for each Top Risk:

°  of existing and additional mitigation measures;

°  of the associated controls (what, who and when) 
and to be associated with each of the mitigation 
measures;

°  of the associated risk indicators;

°  of a plan with a view to mitigating the risk to 
a level within the defined acceptance levels. The main causes (risk events) of identified risks 

are established, including consequences, impacts 
and likelihood occurrence

Key risks are identified at internal and external 
levels in order to build a glossary of Bondalti risks

1
Context

2
Identify

5
Treat

4
Assess

3
Analyse

6
Communicate 
and Monitor 

RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
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Bondalti analyses its external and internal context to identify risks that could 
bring significant uncertainty to the pursuit of the Organisation’s objectives.

Context analysis is performed in three stages: (i) a formal, systematic, iterative, 
and participatory analysis that involves, the Executive Committee, all managers, 
and heads of supporting areas, and which has been carried out every two 
years; (ii) in the budget process, when each area presents its action plans; 
and (iii) the continuous monitoring of the risk context of each activity by the 
person in charge.

Based on this analysis, according to their potential impact on the Organization’s 
activity, as well as on the probability of occurrence, Bondalti identified 19 Top 
Risks that are managed and monitored on an ongoing basis.

Top Risks are characterised in terms of impact, probability, risk events, mitigation 
measures, controls, and risk indicators; and Sustainability and Climate Transition 
risks are addressed for every risk measured.
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Prosperity
EVOLUTION OF THE BUSINESS
Industrial Chemicals 
2021 saw a generalized recovery of consumer markets for Bondalti products. 
However, such recovery is still below pre-pandemic activity and volatile in 
several markets, such as benzene, natural gas and electricity, which are key 
raw materials for Bondalti’s activity; the situation is worsened by logistical 
problems at global level, with impact on supply chains and transport costs.

The adversities were managed and overcome by Bondalti, as immediately 
shown in its levels of activity, reaching historical production peaks once 
again, both in organic and inorganic products. In the latter segment, 
particular emphasis is placed on the stabilisation of the Torrelavega 
operation, which allowed for increased production during 2021.

PRODUCTION AT INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS (THOUSAND TONS)

TRANSPORT OF CHEMICAL PRODUCTS FROM/TO INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS

2020

1 542

2021

51% 52%

1%

1%

3%

2%

26%

23%

20%

22%

1 810

2018

1 533

2017

1 402

2019

1 417

Bondalti highlight the increase in mononitrobenzene in the organic production segment, which 
gained increased market placement following the completion of the installed capacity expansion 
project in 2020. Bondalti’s geographic presence was also reinforced, particularly in the USA, with both 
mononitrobenzene and aniline exports.

As for the inorganic production segment, in addition to stabilising the production units in Torrelavega, 
production in Estarreja increased significantly, as it adjusted the mix of final products to the new reality, 
which benefited from the placement of caustic soda and hydrochloric acid, offsetting a lower demand 
for hypochlorite. 

2020
2021
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The increase in the production and marketing of products resulted, as expected, in an increase in 
quantities handled (+34% compared to 2020), with a particular impact on maritime transport (+50%), 
resulting from the aforementioned increase in exports of organic products. This fact implied a relative 
reduction in the weight of pipeline transport (-3 p.p.), although in absolute terms it increased by 19%.
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Turnover (T)

Operational cash flow (EBITDA)

Equity

Operational income / T

Investments

Income before taxes

Net financial debt

Net financial debt / EBITDA

Operational income (EBIT)

Net assets

Net financial costs

Financial debt

Net income *

Financial debt / EBITDA

Gearing

Unit 20182017 2020 20212016 2019

M€ 337

M€

M€

49.9

90

%

M€

9.4

25

M€

M€

Number of x

23.1

102

2.0

M€

M€

31.7

311

M€

M€

8.5

140

M€

 Number of x

%

17.9

2.8

29

266 279

36.8

58

38.4

95

6.6

10

6.6

40

9.9

157

4.3

12.1

122

3.2

17.5

302

18.5

337

7.5

181

6.4

165

6.3

4.9

19

10.2

4.3

28

323 243 444

48.3

74

40.1

106

61.8

113

7.7

7

8.6

10

9.0

11

17.9

131

2.8

17.9

107

2.7

24.6

111

1.8

25.0

310

20.9

326

40.1

355

7.1

163

3.1

146

15.5

135

15.7

3.4

24

14.5

3.7

32

19.1

2.2

32

Water Treatment
2021 was characterised by the recovery of the Portuguese market (which 
not only recovered to pre-pandemic levels, but exceeded the 2019 
Turnover), and the contracting of relevant projects in Spain, which grew by 
14%. Projected results for the year were thus exceeded, both in the Enkrott 
Group and in the AEMA Group, reaching a combined EBITDA of €M 2.

On the international market, 2021 continued to suffer the negative influence 
of travel restrictions and the cancellation of international fairs in the sector, 
which prevented trade from recovering at the expected pace.

Consolidated Results

* Attributable to equity holders of the parent company
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Bondalti achieved quite favourable results in 2021, thanks to the commitment 
of all the people and teams that worked hard to overcome so many challenges. 
The Group posted record results, reflected in the Income before taxes of 
€M 24.6 (+€M 6.8 than in the previous year). 

The increase in quantities sold, both of chlor-alkalis products and of organic 
products, contributed to this fact, with sales in new geographies, new 
applications, and new clients. The efficient availability of Bondalti’s manufacturing 
units, both in Portugal and Spain, made it possible to respond to commercial 
challenges, whilst increases in industrial efficiency translated into better levels 
of consumption of raw materials and utilities per unit produced.

The market background prompted a general increase in the purchase prices 
of raw materials and utilities, electricity, and others, increasing Bondalti sales 
prices, but also its production costs. However, Bondalti adopts a conservative 
management stance, which seeks to mitigate the effects of price variations 
on its accounts. An example of this is the use of the financial coverage of the 
TTF 101 Natural Gas, which resulted in a cost in financial results in 2021, offset 
by an equivalent increase in Bondalti’s operating results. Excluding this impact, 
the increase in EBITDA would have been €M 11.5 compared to 2020.

In the management of energy procurement, Bondalti also seeks to establish 
longer-term contracts and partnerships, leaving a lower proportion of energy 
to be acquired on the spot market, a fact that benefited margins and results 
for 2021. 

BREAKDOWN OF MARGIN BY GEOGRAPHY

42%

30%

4%

4%

3%

6%

11%

10%

33%

39%

7%
11%

The trend already seen in previous 
years regarding the relative importance 
of countries in the chemicals’ margin 
was strengthened in 2021. Portugal lost 
relative weight again, with an increase in 
indirect exports, sales in Belgium and the 
United States of America.

2020
2021

Goal 8.2. | Indicator 8.2.1. 
Bondalti operates in a high added value industry where the GAV per employee 
in 2021 was 3.1 times above the national average

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  PROSPERITY

Portugal Indirect 
exports

Belgium Spain USA Outros



GLOSSARY

40

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Financial structure and evolution
In 2021, Bondalti’s cash management remained solid and resilient, as in 
previous years. Trade receivables and payments to suppliers were not 
significantly impacted by the continuation of the pandemic situation.

Net debt levels remained similar to those of 2020, despite a significant 
number of investments, of which the acquisition of a stake in Grupo Aguas 
Alfaro stands out. Consolidated gross indebtedness decreased by around 
€M 12 compared to the previous year.

Financial indicators remained robust, with the Gearing ratio dropping very 
slightly to 31.9% (32.4% in 2020), while the Net financial debt / EBITDA 
ratio improved substantially to 1.8x (2.7x in 2020), reflecting the increase 
in EBITDA compared to 2020.
 
Investments
In 2021, Bondalti invested around €M 11, in line with what was planned 
for the year, including €M 9.8 in Estarreja, with emphasis on the ongoing 
project to implement the new primary salt treatment unit (€M 2.6), as 
well as the replacement of key elements in NaCl electrolysis (€M 1.4). 
Bondalti also point out the purchase of a new transformer/rectifier for this 
electrolysis (€M 0.8).

Effective vs. 2021 Outlook
As mentioned above, 2021 was particularly favourable for Bondalti, which 
surpassed various economic and financial indicators forecast for this 
year, with Net income standing at €M 19.1 (exceeding projections by €M 
5). The efficiency achieved in the operation of Bondalti’s industrial units 
and activity of the new Water Treatment area contributed greatly to this 
performance.

PROPOSED APPROPRIATION OF RESULTS
The Board of Directors proposes to appropriate the net profit for the year in the amount of 
€ 19 104 458.73 as follows:
Dividends € 2 750 000.00
Retained earnings             € 16 354 458.73

2022 OUTLOOK
2022 is predicted to be a very challenging year for Bondalti.

A background of great volatility in main raw materials and basic utilities, at market and regulatory 
level, will bring additional uncertainty to supply chains, purchase prices and logistics costs. 

At the Estarreja industrial site, Bondalti and its partners, have a general programmed overhaul in 
January-February, a fact that will impact production and translate into greater uncertainty about 
activity in the first part of the year. Overhaul periods are always difficult due to the large number 
of people involved in this process, particularly in a context that is still pandemic, but also because 
of the extension of the period between programmed stops, which has now been defined at 36 
months. However, they are also an opportunity to implement projects to improve the facilities, as 
well as to take stock of the results of implemented projects.

The recent context of war in Europe is already bringing signs of economic deterioration and 
enormous uncertainty, while the pandemic is still looming. In this light Bondalti is still reviewing 
its outlook for 2022.
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Planet
For Bondalti, participating in the transition to a neutral impact society is not 
an option, but a requirement, representing a challenge and an opportunity 
to build a better future for all. Bondalti is thus committed to achieving 
climate neutrality, having implemented its Climate Transition Program for 
the Industrial Chemicals business in 2020. In this program, it accepts the 
challenge of transformation in line with the long-term strategy defined 
by the EU for a carbon neutral economy, more responsible in terms of its 
environmental impact.

The global goals of the Programme are aligned with environmental mega 
trends of the chemical industry, and they were established in accordance 
with the national and international framework, based on the following four 
strategic pillars:

MAXIMISING
the use of more 
sustainable and 
reusable energy 

and raw materials

MINIMISING
carbon emissions.
Water and energy 

consumptions.

MITIGATING
environmental impacts, 

offsetting CO2 
emissions and 

protecting the local 
environment.

MOBILISING
employees and the 
community in this 
Climate Transition 

process.

In this Program, Bondalti established short-, medium- and long-term goals and objectives, covering 
every area in the Organisation capable of contributing to climate neutrality.

It should be noted that Bondalti Chemicals is a member of EuroChlor since its foundation in 1989, 
having adhered in 2013 to the Euro Chlor Safety Commitment guidelines, which aim to guide the 
chlor-alkalis industry towards a responsible and sustainable future.

Energy and energy 
efficiency

Environmental 
protection

Community Responsible 
practices

Raw materials

Water consumption 
and sewage 
treatment

Waste Circular 
economy

Air 
emissions
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LIFE
Life and its diversity are essential factors for the conservation of planet 
Earth. Therefore, it is everyone’s responsibility to promote its preservation 
for future generations. 

Bondalti is an environmentally responsible company that is committed to 
promoting the balance of ecosystems via its involvement and support in 
worthy biodiversity projects.

Bondalti protects marine life
Bondalti is a partner of Ecomare - Marine Animal Recovery Centre in 
supporting the rescue, recovery and return to nature of dolphins, seals, 
turtles, and seabirds that wash up on the coast. As part of this project, 
a Protocol was signed between Bondalti and the University of Aveiro, 
in December 2016, with the purpose of establishing the Organization’s 
continuous support to Ecomare, through the donation of hypochlorite 
(one of the main products in the Industrial Chemicals segment), which 
is required to maintain the water quality of the tanks where the rescued 
animals temporarily live.

Bondalti’s protection of Biodiversity
In 2017, Bondalti established a partnership protocol with the ANPC (National 
Association of Rural Owners), with the aim of supporting the recovery of 
habitat with high conservation value for threatened iberian lynxes and 
imperial eagles.

The Protocol provides for the active management of natural resources 
in the Guadiana Valley region, with the aim of preserving Natural Capital 
and promoting positive benefits and impacts for society in general. The 
species benefiting from this project are top predators of Mediterranean 
ecosystems, functioning as excellent bioindicators of the quality of rural and 
natural areas; their presence proves the existence of good management 
and adequate conditions for a wide variety of other species, on which 
these super predators depend. 2021 was the second consecutive three-
year period of support for this project, which has a total funding ensured 
by Bondalti of € 760 000 spread over 6 years, for the multifunctional 
management of an area of approximately 3 000 hectares.
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The results over the four years of the project have been noticeable at various levels, such as: the 
presence of the iberian lynx for a long period of time; regular presence of other rare species with 
high conservation status; maintenance of a mosaic landscape, with high resilience, ecological 
value and support capacity for a wide range of species; total absence of fires; and maintenance of 
five jobs in an area with high human desertification. The objective is to maintain or even improve 
the excellent results obtained to date.

Wetlands and Water Birds
In 2021, Bondalti started supporting a research project at the University of Aveiro, which aims to 
study the movements and habitat use by spoonbills, an estuarine migratory species. This study 
will be essential to know the population status of spoonbills, as well as to help in the conservation 
of wetlands and biodiversity that these sensitive habitats host. In 2021, the movements of these 
birds were monitored using 8 GPS transmitters, sponsored by Bondalti. The Organization will 
continue to support this project in 2022.

Within the scope of its Climate Transition Programme, Bondalti banks on “Environmental protection”, 
undertaking to ensure that its operations cause minimum impact on local ecosystems and support 
biodiversity projects.

Regarding the “Raw materials” issue, the company aims to integrate raw materials with lesser 
carbon content and from sustainable sources, such as green hydrogen.

On the “Responsible Care” theme, Bondalti points out the aim of integrating sustainability principles 
in its decision-making processes, encouraging employees to be agents of Climate Transition, and 
involving the Local Community in the process.

Goal 15.9. | Indicator 15.9.1.
Bondalti promotes and supports several projects viewing the preservation 
and recovery of biodiversity
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ENERGY AND EMISSIONS
Given the nature of Bondalti’s activity, energy consumption is directly 
related to its production, since in Industrial Chemicals, Bondalti has the 
PCA sector using electricity as a key raw material and the PAD sector using 
natural gas to produce steam. In the Water Treatment segment, energy 
use has a much smaller impact and is mainly associated with the lighting 
of buildings or the use of vehicles. 

As a result, in Industrial Chemicals, energy management is planned and 
monitored in detail, and there are several projects and initiatives underway 
viewing the continuous optimisation of processes and operations for 
energy efficiency. 

In 2021, in Estarreja, 340 GWh of electricity were consumed, which is 6.8% 
higher than the consumption recorded in 2020. The amount of natural gas 
consumed was 122 GWh, falling by around 1% compared to the previous 
year, due to the efficient management of steam exporting units. Also 
noteworthy in 2021 was the contracting of long-term PPAs with guarantees 
of origin for a significant percentage of consumption. The Torrelavega units 
consumed 96 GWh of electricity and 7 GWh of steam in 2021, similar to the 
previous year, despite the growth in activity. 

With regard to energy intensity, it remained in line with the previous year at 
the PCA in Estarreja. In the PAD sector, however, energy intensity declined 
despite the significant increase in production, the consumption of natural 
gas fell as a result of the aforementioned efficient management of the units. 
In Torrelavega, there was a slight increase in energy intensity associated 
with the increase in production.

ELECTRIC POWER AND NATURAL GAS CONSUMPTION IN ESTARREJA (GJ)

1 121 923

1 358 481 1 290 326
1 155 193 1 227 193

395 453 420 986 393 678 399 596 398 773

Electric 
power

Natural 
gas

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

ELECTRIC POWER AND STEAM CONSUMPTION IN TORRELAVEGA (GJ)

Electric power Steam

232 484

23 005

2020

346 619

23 661

2021
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2020 2021

ENERGY INTENSITY IN TORRELAVEGA (GJ/ t product)

1.191 1.273

In the Water Treatment segment, electricity is used in the buildings and 
diesel is used in vehicles managed internally. Enkrott Group companies 
consumed 586 GJ of electricity and 3 869 GJ of diesel. AEMA Group 
companies consumed 416 GJ of electricity and 4 066 GJ of diesel. The 
AEMA Group has its own production of renewable energy from solar 
sources, selling its entire production, 525 GJ.

Goal 7.2. | Indicator 7.2.1. 
In 2021 the weight of energy from renewable sources considering the 
national energy mix was 34%, for the Industrial Chemicals area

Goal 7.3 | Indicator 7.3.1.
Bondalti remains committed to enhance energy efficiency in processes

Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions are monitored at the various Bondalti companies, thus ensuring 
alignment with carbon neutrality.

Direct emissions produced by Industrial Chemicals result mainly from the consumption of natural 
gas to produce steam in boilers, burning of residues in the incinerator and production of nitric acid. 
Indirect emissions are determined by electricity consumption, through the CO2 emission factor 
associated with the supplier on the electricity bill. Bondalti manages its emissions on an ongoing 
basis, with a focus on continuous improvement, investing in projects to reduce it.

Total GHG emissions produced in Estarreja in 2021 amounted to 117 295 t CO2 eq., comprising 24% 
of direct emissions and 76% of indirect emissions. This figure was 28% higher than in 2020, due to 
the increase in indirect emissions, the increase in electricity consumption and the CO2 emission 
factor, as a result of a lower incorporation of renewable energy in the energy mix of suppliers. 
Carbon efficiency declined standing at 0.077 t CO2 eq. per ton produced, corresponding to an 
increase by 12% over 2020. At Torrelavega, emissions totalled 20 223 t CO2 eq., of which 99.98% 
of indirect emissions, reflecting a carbon intensity of 0.069 t CO2 eq.

PCA Sector PAD Sector Total

ENERGY INTENSITY IN ESTARREJA (GJ/ t product)

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

1.081

0.671

1.553

1.159

0.720

1.552

1.189

0.763

1.552

1.170 1.069

0.762 0.625

1.587 1.589
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DIRECT AND INDIRECT GHG EMISSIONS IN ESTARREJA (t CO2 eq.)

DIRECT AND INDIRECT GHG EMISSIONS IN TORRELAVEGA (t CO2 eq.)

Total Indirect 
Emissions (Scope 2)

Total Indirect 
Emissions (Scope 2)

Total Direct 
Emissions (Scope 1)

Total Direct 
Emissions (Scope 1)

Total Emissions 
Diretas

Total Emissions 
Diretas

135 492

2017

76%

24%

194 251

2018

84%

16%

129 865

2019

79%

21%

91 570

2020

71%

29%

117 295

2021

76%

24%

14 853

2020

202020 223

2021

2021

CARBON INTENSITY IN ESTARREJA (t CO2 eq./ t product)

0.097

0.127

0.092
0.069

0.069 0.069

0.077

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

CARBON INTENSITY IN TORRELAVEGA (t CO2 eq./ t product)

In the Water Treatment sector, GHG emissions are considerably low and immaterial. The Enkrott 
Group recorded a total of 318 t CO2 eq. whilst the AEMA Group registered a total of 330 t CO2 eq. 
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Goal 9.4. | Indicator 9.4.1.
Optimisation and sustainable management of 
Bondalti’s industrial processes, mainly in Industrial 
Chemicals, to make them more effective and efficient, 
thus contributing to mitigate CO2 emissions  

Goal 13.2 | Indicator 13.2.2. 
In 2021 Bondalti emitted 137 836 t CO2 eq.

Fugitive emissions of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOCs) at Estarreja 
totalled 8.162 kg in 2021 (8.413 kg in 2020), with a repair rate of 46.6%. 

Goal 11.6. | Indicator 11.6.2  
Bondalti monitors all its emissions, especially those 
with impact on air quality, adopting, whenever possible, 
adequate measures to reduce them and mitigate their 
impact

Bondalti is positioned as a leading company towards carbon neutrality, 
having defined ambitious goals on the “Energy and energy efficiency” and 
“Air emissions” topics within the scope of its Climate Transition Program, 
namely the following: 

°  To operate at 100% using only renewable energy sources by 2030

°  To reach carbon-neutral intensity by 2030

°  To increase energy efficiency in operations and infrastructures

CIRCULAR ECONOMY
Water is a commodity without which mankind cannot live; its preservation and efficient 
management must be common practice and a priority. In Industrial Chemicals, water is used in 
production processes, therefore, the management of this theme is carried out in detail. In the 
Water Treatment segment, the use of water is on a very small scale, merely to serve building 
facilities.

Much of the water used in the processes of the Estarreja Industrial Chemicals comes from the 
Antuã River. In 2021, 1 848 thousand m3 of water were consumed, around 130 thousand m3 more 
compared to 2020 due to the increase in production. Regarding water intensity, the amount of 
water used by ton of product, figures recorded in 2021 are slightly lower than in previous years. At 
Torrelavega, water consumption totalled approximately 238 thousand m3, corresponding to water 
intensity of 0.82 m3/ t product.

PDA Sector PCA Sector Total

WATER INTENSITY AT ESTARREJA (m3/ t product)

1.32 1.25 1.24 1.29 1.22

0.99 0.96 0.97 0.99 0.97

1.61 1.58 1.56 1.59
1.42

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
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2020 2021

WATER INTENSITY AT TORRELAVEGA (m3/ t product)

Another of Bondalti’s responsibilities is associated with the correct 
management of liquid effluents derived from its activity. In the Water 
Treatment segment, the emission of effluents from its operations is 
irrelevant; however, the same is not true for Industrial Chemicals. At 
Estarreja, effluent emission increased slightly due to the rise in production. 
These effluents are sent to an inter-municipal WWTP where they are 
treated; as in previous years, no legal non-compliance was recorded. At 
Torrelavega, the effluent generated is brine which, in 2021, corresponded to 
347 thousand m3. The brine is sent to Solvay’s water treatment plant, after 
receiving a first treatment at Bondalti’s facilities. At Industrial Chemicals, 
Bondalti develops projects viewing the reusing of water in industrial 
processes, thus promoting circularity and the optimisation of this resource.

Goal 6.1. | Indicator 6.1.1. 
The water supplied to the majority of Portuguese homes is treated with 
chlorine produced by Bondalti

Goal 6.1. | Indicator 6.1.1.
All effluents generated by Bondalti are safely treated

Goal 6.4 | Indicator 6.4.1.
Bondalti reuses the water in industrial processes, ensuring an increasingly 
efficient use of this resource and ensuring the sustainability of sources. 
Additionally, in the Water Treatment segment, Bondalti invests in innovative 
solutions to promote the reuse of water and industrial effluents

Within the scope of circular economy, the management and recovery of waste are topics of 
analysis both in Industrial Chemicals and in Water Treatment.

At the Industrial Chemicals, in Estarreja, around 18.5 kt of waste were produced in 2021, 0.1 t less 
than in the previous year, of which 99% were hazardous. Given the type of waste produced as 
a result of this activity, most of it goes to incineration and 2% is recovered. In Torrelavega, the 
waste produced totalled 0.17 kt, 97 t less than in 2020, of which 67% was hazardous and 35% 
was recovered.

In the Water Treatment segment, the Enkrott Group recorded 41.8 t of waste, 36% hazardous and 
64% non-hazardous, of which 50% was recovered, either by recycling or another method. The 
AEMA Group produced 10.4 t of waste, 4% hazardous and 96% non-hazardous, of which 68% 
was recycled.
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Within the framework of its Climate Transition Programme, Bondalti 
established the following goals regarding “water consumption and effluent 
management” and “waste” and “circular economy”:

°  To increase water re-using rate in operations

°  To minimise the generation of effluents

°  To reduce the production of waste and increase their recovery

°  To enhance circularity in processes and products

Goal 12.4. | Indicator 12.4.2. 
In 2021, only 4% of the hazardous waste produced by 
the Industrial Chemicals segment was sent to landfill 
or other final disposal methods compared to 6% in 
the Water Treatment segment

Goal 12.5 | Indicator 12.5.1.
In 2021, the percentage of waste recovered within 
the scope of Industrial Chemicals was 2% compared 
to 54% in the Water Treatment segment
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People
OUR PEOPLE 
Bondalti’s expansion strategy for the Water Treatment business area 
with the acquisition of the Enkrott Group in 2020 and the AEMA Group in 
2021, added new people to the Organization. The number of employees 
of the Bondalti group increased almost two-fold from 355 employees in 
2019 to 691 in 2021. The integration of the management of all the Water 
Treatment companies and all other Bondalti companies is in progress, with 
the implementation of several processes, representing a considerable 
challenge. Thus, regarding the analysis of main social indicators, Bondalti 
Capital companies and Bondalti Chemicals Group companies are 
considered as an integral part of the Industrial Chemicals segment, while 
the Enkrott Group and the AEMA Group are part of the Water Treatment 
segment. 

As of 31 December 2021, Bondalti had 691 employees, of which 75% were 
male, 96% were full-time, 93% had permanent contracts and 65% were 
covered by collective bargaining agreements and/or extension ordinances. 
Of these 691 employees, Industrial Chemicals has 359 employees, 99% 
full-time and 96% with permanent contracts, and Water Treatment has 332 
employees, 93% full-time and 89% with permanent contracts.

INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS

WATER TREATMENT

TOTAL NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

Bondalti Capital

Renoeste

Enkrott Madeira

Aguas Rioja Medioambiente

Bondalti Cantabria

Enkrott África

Bondalti Chemicals

Enkrott

Agua, Energía y Medioambiente

Nutriquim

Enkrott Espanha

Laboratorios Alfaro

Elnosa

Grupo Aguas Alfaro

2019EMPLOYEES AS OF 31 DECEMBER 20212020

355

355

58

3

38

244

1

11

351

182

533

56

3

8

39

85

244

87

1

2

8

359

332

691

59

2

8

42

84

250

87

0

3

6

18

51

67

14
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EMPLOYEES BY GEOGRAPHY

Water 
Treatment

Industrial 
Chemicals

406

Portugal

95

20% 21% 21%

311

80% 79% 79%

201

Espanha

153
48

84

Angola

84

691

Total

332

359

EMPLOYEES BY GENDER - INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS

EMPLOYEES BY GENDER - WATER TREATMENT

355 351 359

Women

Women

Men

Men

2019 2020 2021

27%

73%

182

2020

29%

71%

332

2021
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Goal 8.3. | Indicator 8.3.1.
At Bondalti all employees are covered by official 
working contracts

Goal 8.7 | Indicator 8.7.1.
In line with the respect for Human Rights, Bondalti 
does not accept employees under 18 years old, whilst 
the educational requirement for admission is having 
completed secondary school

Goal 8.8 | Indicator 8.8.2.
65% of Bondalti employees are covered by collective 
bargaining agreement
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EMPLOYEES BY AGE GROUP - INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS

EMPLOYEES BY AGE GROUP - WATER TREATMENT

Up to 
30 years

Up to 
30 years

30 to 
50 Years

30 to 
50 Years

Above 
50 Years

Above 
50 Years

355 351 359

2019 2020 2021

43% 40% 38%

14%

44% 46% 48%

77%

14% 14% 15%

9%
2020 2021

15%

76%

9%

Currently Bondalti has 128 employees in administration, management, or coordination positions, of 
whom 69% are men and 31% are women. In Industrial Chemicals, management positions are 76% 
held by men and 24% held by women, whilst in Water Treatment the share of men and women in 
management positions is 63% and 37%, respectively.

In the Industrial Chemicals segment, the People management plan based on 4 strategic axes 
continues to be implemented:

°  Cohesion and well being: strengthening the identity and culture of Bondalti, maintaining full 
respect for people, recognising their contribution to the goals achieved and involving them in 
the road ahead;

°  Rejuvenation: promoting the rejuvenation of Bondalti’s human capital, ensuring a successful 
building of knowledge and the sharing of intergenerational experience;

°  Corporate Management: ensuring the global management of employees, implementing models 
and policies combining the transversality deriving from Bondalti’s strategy and values with the 
specificity of the business geographies;

°  Continuous development: enhancing leadership and teams, developing critical skills to achieve 
the goals set forth for the business.

These strategic axes are aligned with the corporate strategy and with the 
EFR (Family Responsible Company) measures plan implemented in these 
companies. Following its EFR certification promoted with the support 
of Fundación MásFamília and obtained in 2020, Bondalti was subject 
to an external audit in March 2021. This process, as with any audited 
management process, is continuous, and it is monitored according to 
a set of indicators that are essential in evaluating the success of the 
implementation of EFR measures. In this context, and in accordance with the regulations, 13 
indicators are monitored that measure topics such as, for example, the offer of conciliation, job 
stability, time and spatial flexibility, respect for motherhood and the presence of women, equal 
access to employment, communication, personal development, training, and satisfaction with 
EFR measures.

Goal 5.5. | Indicator 5.5.2 
In 2021, 31% of administration, management and coordination job positions 
were occupied by women
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There is also a plan to improve EFR measures, which is reviewed every year 
and that in 2021 involved:

°  Enhancing the implementation of teleworking

°  Promoting the flexibility of working hours

°  Strengthening leadership and management directives in the sphere of 
reconciliation

°  Implementing a Career Plan

°  Increasing support to specific needs of employees’ households

°  Adjusting EFR measures to the needs of employees

°  Implementing the employee portal

°  Paying tribute to employees with a direct contractual bond and over 
5-years seniority

°   Widening the offer of the School Kit up to 13 year old children (inclusively)

Amongst these measures, the implementation of the career plan and of 
the employee portal, which will be carried over as an improvement plan for 
2022, have not yet been effective.

At the end of 2021, a consultation was carried out with employees on their 
satisfaction with the EFR, which will act as a barometer of the measures to 
be implemented in the next 2 years.

Safety and Health at Work
Occupational Safety and Health is a key issue at Bondalti and translates in 
continuous improvements and the implementation of measures to prevent 
and mitigate existing risks so as to ensure the protection of employees. 

The year started with a rampant surge in Covid-19 contagions; Bondalti 
kept the measures implemented in the previous year to protect the health 
of its people and ensure the continuity of operations. 

In Industrial Chemicals, the Contingency Plan remained in force, as well as all 
the measures previously implemented, in addition to the regular disclosure 
of Newsletters providing updated information about the Covid-19 situation. 
As in the previous year, the Human Resources team ensured the regular 
monitoring of this situation with all employees, as well as the reinforcement 

of psychology services, or the availability of Bondalti’s nursing and medical staff, when the National 
Health Service was under more pressure. As a result, the year 2021 was not compromised with 
incidents or breakage of supply to clients. 

All Bondalti companies ensure the management of occupational safety and health issues through 
dedicated areas or external services contracted for this purpose. The effective management of 
these topics is key to identify and mitigate hazards and risks associated with activities, including 
incident analysis, consultation and training of employees, management of occupational health 
services, thus allowing the implementation of corrective and operational control measures, as 
well as ensuring compliance with relevant legal requirements.

Employees benefit from continuous training in subjects such as health prevention, mitigation of 
risk behaviours and occupational health. Additionally, regarding prevention, periodic assessments 
of risks associated with jobs are carried out, supported by mitigation plans. With a view to 
continuous improvement, Bondalti regularly assesses the needs of Personal Protective Equipment 
(PPE) and researches existing solutions to better serve the needs of its employees.

Within the scope of health and safety management systems, several Bondalti companies are 
certified by the UNE ISO 45001:2018 International Standard: Bondalti Chemicals (located in 
Estarreja: PAD, PCA and Aveiro Port) covering all employees and activities; Bondalti Cantabria; 
AEMA; and Aguas Rioja.

As a result of the good practices implemented in terms of health and safety management, in 2021, 
as in previous years, there were no fatal accidents nor serious accidents, there was no record 
of any employee requesting to be eligible for occupational disease status, either at Industrial 
Chemicals or Water Treatment. All occupational accidents happening at Bondalti are investigated 
and their causes identified, giving rise to the necessary corrective measures.

Goal 8.8. | Indicator 8.8.1.
In 2021, the occupational accident with sick leave frequency rate in Industrial 
Chemicals was 7.67 (Men 9.63; Women 0.00), and the serious accidents 
with sick leave frequency rate was 0
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0.000

Deaths

Deaths

Deaths

Accident severity rate

Accident severity rate

Rate of non-worked hours

Rate of non-worked hours

Incidence rate

Accident frequency rate

Accident frequency rate

Occupational accidents with sick leave

Occupational accidents with sick leave

Occupational accidents with sick leave

Incidence rate

Incidence rate

Absenteeism Rate 

Absenteeism Rate 

Serious accident frequency rate

Serious accident frequency rate

2019INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS

ENKROTT GROUP

AEMA GROUP

2021

2021

2021

2020

2020

0

0.453

5%

8.291

5

0.014

3%

0.000

0

0

0.249

0.250

18%

2%

3.608

29.418

2

10

0.006

3%

0%

0.000

0.000

0

0

0

0.135

0.131

7%

1%

0.048

7.668

5.815

5

2

7

0.014

0.011

7%

1%

0.000

0.000
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Development and training
In 2021 Bondalti continued to invest in the development and training of its 
employees. Despite the challenges associated with the pandemic, it was 
possible to increase the total volume of training almost to pre-pandemic 
levels. For Bondalti, employee training is considered the best mechanism 
for their personal development and can be provided on-the-job or in 
internal/external initiatives, either in person or remotely.

At Industrial Chemicals, the 4Learn platform for training management allows 
employees to record all data relating to the training carried out and to be 
carried out, also providing e-learning training on an “on demand” basis. 
In 2021, 89% of the employees in this area received training, with a total 
volume of 30 581 hours of training, which represents an increase of 113% 
compared to 2020, bringing the volume of training closer to the values 
of 2019 (36 447 h). The Organization reinforces post-recruitment training, 
mainly using on-the-job training more directed at operational areas, thus 
ensuring the necessary skills to carry out the assigned functions. This fact 
explains the greater volume of training given to men, who usually occupy 
these positions.

AVERAGE NUMBER OF TRAINING HOURS, BY EMPLOYEE - INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS

Men Women Total

100

28

85

2019

44
17

38

2020

96

18

79

2021

EMPLOYEES ASSESSED - INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS

Men Women Total

66% 66% 66%

2019

83% 92% 85%

2020

85% 88% 86%

2021

The employees of Industrial Chemicals are also assessed annually within the scope of the 
Performance Management System, which focuses not only on achieving general and specific 
objectives, but also on the development of skills. This allows employees to identify and plan their 
future training based on the assessment obtained. In 2021, 86% of employees were subject to 
performance assessment; only employees who had been with the company for less than 6 months, 
or who were in a 4x4 Training program were not evaluated. 4x4 Training is a training program aimed 
at Operational Technicians, which guarantees the timely transfer of intergenerational knowledge, 
through field and classroom training of new employees.

In 2021, other programs and measures implemented by the Organization were also continued to 
ensure rejuvenation and job succession, in addition to 4x4 Training, thus ensuring the sustainability 
of the business and the transfer of knowledge between different generations. These measures 
include internal mobility, through the allocation of internal employees to open positions (internal/
external recruitment), or functional flexibility, where employees are given the possibility to acquire 
new skills and assume new positions (still very much aimed at positions in industrial operations). 
Employee rejuvenation and development are also associated with the talent management project, 
whose first talent assessment cycle took place in 2021, using the 4Learn platform that was 
developed to respond to the digitization of the entire process.
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Goal 4.3. | Indicator 4.3.1.
In 2021 77% of Bondalti employees received training (Men 78%; Women 
74%), representing a total volume of training hours of 34 922 hours

AVERAGE NUMBER OF TRAINING HOURS, BY EMPLOYEE - WATER TREATMENT

Men Women Total

2

9

2

2020

16
22

13

2021

In the Water Treatment segment, training management is carried out 
independently in the Enkrott and AEMA groups. However, both groups 
implement annual training plans for their different companies, which cover 
topics such as Quality, Environment, Prevention and Occupational Risks, or 
other needs according to each department. In 2021, at the Enkrott Group, 
45% of employees underwent training, corresponding to a total volume 
of 1 676 hours. In the AEMA Group, 2 665 hours of training were provided, 
covering 88% of employees.

Vale de Perditos, Beja
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
Bondalti identifies several groups of stakeholders that are crucial for its 
value creation, with the employee group being the one considered to be 
the most relevant for the Organization. The different groups of stakeholders 
are identified in a matrix, which ranks the different groups according to 
their influence, their dependence regarding Bondalti (and vice-versa), as 
well as the responsibility of the Organisation towards these.

In
flu

en
ce

Reliance and Responsability

Shareholder

Transport Suppliers

Technology Suppliers

Households

Clients - Organic

Local Authorities

Suppliers of raw materials,
subsidiary materials and utilities

Partners

Clients - Inorganic

NGO

Local Community

Services Suppliers

Regolatory Entities

Sector Associations

Media

Employees

MATRIX OF STAKEHOLDERS

Every two years, the Organization carries out a consultation survey of its most relevant stakeholders 
in order to know their perception of Bondalti’s sustainable performance, assess their degree of 
relationship satisfaction, and also know their main needs and expectations.

In December 2021, 539 stakeholders were consulted, of which 360 employees; the responsiveness 
rate of 38% (42% in 2019), albeit low, represents the opinion of some of the main groups of the 
Organisation’s stakeholders, namely, Employees, Shareholders, Clients, Suppliers, Partners, and 
Associations. Stakeholders consulted were identified based on pre-defined criteria that assess 
their relevance to the Organisation; weighting rates are applied to the results of the consultation 
that reflect the relevance of the stakeholder group under analysis in accordance with the 
Stakeholder Matrix.
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The results of this last consultation exercise were quite positive, reflecting 
Bondalti’s commitment to sustainable development. The perception 
of Bondalti, regarding a clear vision and acting in accordance with its 
economic, environmental, and social responsibilities, obtained an average 
score of 4.14 out of 5; and Bondalti also points out the competitive position 
in terms of sustainability vis-à-vis its sector, with an average score of 3.9 
out of 5 by its stakeholders.

COMPARED TO OTHER COMPANIES IN THE SECTOR, HOW DO YOU ASSESS 
BONDALTI’S PERFORMANCE WITH REGARD TO THE SUSTAINABILITY PILLARS?

(1 – MUCH WORSE TO 5 – MUCH BETTER)

3.8

Principles of 
Governance

Planet People Prosperity

4.0 3.8 3.9

About the assessment of satisfaction with the relationship with Bondalti, 
73% of the stakeholders responded as satisfied or very satisfied, with 
emphasis on the increase in “very satisfied” assessments for all stakeholder 
groups. In the same context, respondents were asked to provide the words 
that best describe the relationship with Bondalti:

Though it does not assess in detail each of the topics covered, this listening exercise is relevant 
to determine the themes that need greater focus, the opportunities for improvement and the 
Involvement Plan for each group of stakeholders.
 
This survey also identified some of the sustainability practices of Bondalti’s main Clients and 
Suppliers, results which are very important for the analysis of the Organization’s Value Chain. All 
the responding Clients and Suppliers identified at least one of the listed good practices as being 
implemented:
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Trust
Cooperation

Availability

Sustainability

Satisfaction

Responsibility
Work

Communication

Family
Innovation

Ethics

Competence

Safety

Transparency

Loyalty

Professionalism

Partnership
Commitment

Compromise

Stability

Proximity

Progress

Future
Development 
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Committed to the sustainability journey, Bondalti subscribes to and applies 
various environmental, social and government (ESG) guidelines, which are 
based on: (i) Responsible Care initiative of the global chemical industry, 
(ii) United Nations Sustainable Development Goals and (iii) BCSD Portugal 
Charter of Principles, the latter being inspired by the 10 principles of the 
United Nations Global Compact, in the Universal Declaration of Human 
Rights and in the Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work of the 
International Labour Organization. In order to ensure that its suppliers are 
equally aligned with the principles of sustainable development, at the end 
of 2021, Bondalti approved and started the implementation of its Code 
of Conduct for Suppliers, which establishes the main guidelines on the 
themes of Environment, Safety and Health, Human and Labour Rights, and 
Ethics and Governance. Bondalti expects its suppliers to recognise and act 
in accordance with the contents of this Code, in addition to complying with 
their contractual obligations and Bondalti’s General Purchasing Conditions.

Clients
°  70% has an internal Code of 

Ethics

°  ISO Certifications of Quality 
(70%), Environment (70%) 
and Safety (60%)

°  50% has a Code of Conduct 
for Suppliers

°  40% disclose non-financial 
information

Suppliers
°  81% has an internal Code of 

Ethics

°  ISO Certifications of Quality 
(81%), Environment (65%), 
Safety (38%) and Energy 
(19%)

°  58% has a Code of Conduct 
for Suppliers

°  27% disclose non-financial 
information

°  35% have green/sustainable 
procurement policies

In relation to the supply chain and considering the respective places of operation of Industrial 
Chemicals, local suppliers are considered to be those located in Portugal and Spain. For operations 
carried out in Portugal, 86% were local suppliers, which accounted for 40% of purchases; in Spain, 
the share of local suppliers was 92%, accounting for 95% of Bondalti’s purchases. 

Regarding the supply chain in the Water Treatment area, Bondalti is reporting these indicators 
for the first time in relation to the Enkrott and AEMA groups as they are recent acquisitions. As 
for the Enkrott Group, which operates in Portugal, Spain, and Angola, in 2021 it had 90% of local 
suppliers located in Portugal, 89% located in Spain and 99% located in Angola, corresponding to 
a purchase volume of 70%, 99% and 99%, respectively. The AEMA Group is active only in Spain, 
with 97% of local suppliers representing 96% of purchases.

Client satisfaction is one of Bondalti’s material themes; therefore, the processes of involvement 
with this group are very important for the Organisation.

At Bondalti Chemicals, a survey is carried out every two years to determine the level of satisfaction 
of this group of stakeholders with the products and services that Bondalti provides, as well as 
possible opportunities for improvement in the areas of customer service, commercial service, 
product, documentation, supply, and technical assistance. In 2021, clients’ opinion regarding 
Bondalti Chemicals’ activity in 2020 was determined based on a total of 150 responses obtained 
(overall response rate of 68%), of which 115 from the Inorganics business (with a response rate of 
73%) and 35 responses from the Organic business (with a response rate of 56%). The results of 
this satisfaction survey continue to show the growing trend of the last three years, and compared 
to its peers, Bondalti Chemicals’ evaluations were good; “Response capacity/flexibility” had the 

Goal 12.7 | Indicator 12.7.1. 
Bondalti has implemented a Purchasing Policy, a Code of Conduct 
for Suppliers and General Purchasing Conditions, to ensure that 
its practices and those of its suppliers are in line with sustainable 
development
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best evaluation. It should also be noted that the most important criteria 
for evaluating a supplier, according to Bondalti Chemicals clients, were: 
“Product Quality”, “Price” and “Compliance with delivery deadlines”.

In the Water Treatment area, both the Enkrott Group and the AEMA Group 
carry out different surveys to assess client satisfaction. At the Enkrott 
Group, clients with a turnover of more than € 20 thousand were surveyed, 
obtaining a response rate of 75%, which reflected an overall assessment of 
78%, and a Net Promoter Score of 51%; 92% of clients gave an evaluation 
equal or better compared to the previous year. At AEMA Group, clients 
assessed the performance of the different companies of the Group, 
resulting in an average of 8.28 on a scale of 1 to 10.

CLIENT SATISFACTION ASSESSMENT OF BONDALTI CHEMICALS
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In order to ensure client satisfaction, Bondalti analyses and monitors all complaints received, so 
as to prevent future situations. The Organization implements resolution and mitigation measures 
to respond to complaints made, with the support of its teams that deal with the matter carefully 
and ensure that all claims are solved. 

With regard to Industrial Chemicals clients, in Estarreja, there was a 29% decrease in customer 
complaints compared to the previous year, of which 38% corresponded to “delay/early delivery”, 
14% corresponded to “non-conforming product” and it is in this type of complaints that the largest 
decrease compared to 2020 can be seen. In Torrelavega, whose activity grew significantly in 2021, 
there was a 49% increase in complaints compared to the previous year, with 55% of complaints 
motivated by “delay/early delivery”.

In the Water Treatment business units, in 2021 there were 12 complaints in the Enkrott Group, 
where “non-conforming product – own production” stands out with 67% of total complaints, 
while in the AEMA Group the trend was similar, with 14 complaints, of which 71% corresponded 
to “non-conforming product”.

CLAIMS OF CLIENTS FROM INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS

42
53 51

41

61

29

91

Estarreja Torrelavega

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
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Bondalti is aware of the necessary methodologies for the safe use of its 
products by its clients and discloses updated Safety Data Sheets to all. 
Its products are also labelled in accordance with current national and EU 
legislation. In 2021, Bondalti’s Industrial Chemicals had 16 products (11 in 
Estarreja and 5 in Torrelavega) duly identified with a Safety Data Sheet, of 
which 5 underwent changes compared to 2020. In order to ensure the 
correct use of its products, Bondalti Chemicals also carries out training, 
audits and visits to its clients and suppliers, having audited 51 clients in 
2021 within the scope of chlorine storage conditions and 15 clients within 
the scope of storage conditions of corrosive liquids. In the Water Treatment 
area, the Enkrott Group had all its chemical products under the Enkrott 
brand (205) duly identified with a Safety Data Sheet; the same happens 
with the AEMA Group, which has 146 chemical products with Safety Data 
Sheets. 

The Organization has put in place robust practices to ensure that all 
activities related to production, storage, transport, and use of products 
follow best safety practices. Thus, in 2021, Bondalti carried out 34 internal 
audits, 18 within the scope of the management systems implemented 
in the Industrial Chemicals companies and 16 within the scope of the 
management systems implemented in the Water Treatment companies. 

Bondalti is committed to sustainable development not only in its value 
chain, but also in its surrounding communities. Bondalti is committed to 
economic growth, care for the environment and the social well being of 
local communities, materialized through its Corporate Social Responsibility 
Program, which encompasses a set of more than 30 projects/initiatives. 
This Program lays out the various actions that Bondalti has carried out over 
the years, in all the geographies where it operates, in addition to exploring 
new opportunities aligned with the corporate strategy and Sustainable 
Development Goals. In this sense, the main lines of action with local 
communities were reinforced: to Educate on Science and Environment; 
to Protect Biodiversity; and to Preserve Water.

The Corporate Social Responsibility Program is also an important tool for 
engaging with stakeholders, fostering relationships of partnership and trust 
with the various entities involved in the defined projects and initiatives.
 

PACOPAR
Bondalti Chemicals is part of PACOPAR – Community Advisory Panel of the Responsible Care 
Program in Estarreja – whose mission is to improve the quality of life in Estarreja, applying the 
Responsible Care® commitments, by responding to people’s concerns, ensuring transparency, 
and promoting community cooperation. 

PACOPAR ensures good and effective communication between the companies of the Estarreja 
Chemical Complex and the local community, so that everyone feels respected and safe, promoting 
mutual assistance between entities in the areas of Education, Science, Health, Civil Protection, 
Safety, Environment, and the companies, for the benefit of the population. Within the framework 
of PACOPAR, Bondalti continues to sponsor and organise initiatives with local stakeholders, such 
as schools, cultural and sports associations, etc., fostering active and open communication with 
the community, with a view to promote sustainable development.
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Principles of Governance
Bondalti Capital, S.A. owns a group of companies dedicated to the 
management of industrial chemicals and water treatment businesses. 
Bondalti Capital, S.A. is responsible for defining cross-corporation 
responsibilities such as mission, vision, values, or strategy, as well as for 
coordinating the management of all the subsidiaries.

Bondalti’s governance model is based on ethical and transparency 
principles, operated by different bodies responsible for guiding, managing, 
and supervising the activity.

General Meeting
The General Meeting is formed by shareholders with voting rights and its operating rules and 
attributions are defined in the Articles of Association, complying with the provisions of the 
Commercial Companies Code. The General Meeting is convened and chaired by the chairman 
of the respective board, which is also made up of a secretary; they are both elected by General 
Meeting for a term of office of four years. The members of the Board of Directors and of the 
Supervisory Board must also participate in the meetings of this body, without the right to vote.

It is incumbent upon the General Meeting to appraise the report of the Board of Directors; discuss 
and vote on the balance sheet and accounts and resolve on the appropriation of results for the 
year; elect the Board of the General Meeting, the Board of Directors, the Statutory Audit Board, 
and the Remuneration Committee; resolve on any amendments to the articles of association and 
capital increase; among others.

Board of 
the General 
Meeting

Chairman
°  Alexandre Cabral Corte-Real de Albuquerque

Secretary
°  Pedro Jácome da Costa Marques Henriques
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The Statutory Audit Board and Statutory Auditor
The supervision of the company is the responsibility of the Statutory Audit 
Board, made up of three effective members and an alternate, elected 
at the General Meeting, for the current four-year period. The structure, 
composition, powers, and duties of this body are stipulated in articles 413 
to 423 of the Commercial Companies Code.

It falls to this body to supervise the administration of the company; monitor 
compliance with the law and the Articles of Association; verify the regularity 
of the books, accounting records and supporting documents; oversee the 
process of preparing and disclosing financial information; among others.

Statutory 
Audit Board

Statutory 
Auditor

Chairman
°  Maria do Rosário Mayoral Robles 

Machado Simões Ventura

Members
°  José Miguel Tavares Mora do Vale

°  Romualdo Luís Ribera Salcedo

Alternate
°  Igor Amarii

ERNST & YOUNG AUDIT & ASSOCIADOS - 
SROC S.A. 

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee’s duty is to define the remuneration policy of the members of 
corporate bodies, subject to the approval of the General Meeting, and fix the remuneration of the 
members of the corporate bodies.

Board of Directors
The management of the company is exercised by a Board of Directors, elected by the shareholders 
at the General Meeting for a renewable term of four years. In January 2021 the General Meeting 
elected the Board of Directors for the 2021-2024 period, having re-elected the Chairman of the 
previous term, as well as the members of the Executive Committee (EC).

This body is responsible for managing the business, actions and operations related to the 
corporate object; act on the company’s behalf; establish the technical-administrative organization 
and internal functioning rules, among others. The Chairman of the Board of Directors is responsible 
for ensuring the correct execution of the decisions of this body, as well as for coordinating its 
activity. The meetings of the Board of Directors must be held on a monthly basis and are convened 
by the Chairman.

Board of 
Directors

Chairman
°  João Maria Guimarães José de Mello*

Members
°  André Cabral Côrte-Real de Albuquerque*

°  João Jorge Gonçalves Fernandes Fugas

°  João Pedro Ribeiro de Azevedo Coutinho

°  João Pedro Stilwell Rocha e Melo

°  Luís Augusto Nesbitt Rebelo da Silva*

°  Luís Henrique Marcelino Alves Delgado*

°  Vasco Luís José de Mello

* Executive Committee
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João Maria Guimarães José de Mello
João de Mello is Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chairman of 
the Executive Committee of Bondalti Capital, as well as member of the 
Board of Directors and Executive Committee of José de Mello Capital, 
SA, the shareholder of Bondalti.

With over 30 years of professional experience in the chemical sector, 
in addition to his functions at Bondalti, he represents Bondalti with 
the General Council of COTEC (Portuguese Business Association 
for Innovation); he is Vice-chairman of the General Meeting of AIP 
(Portuguese Industrial Association), member of the Board of ACEGE 
(Christian Association of Entrepreneurs and Managers) and Vice-
chairman of the Board of the General Meeting of APQuímica (Chemical, 
Petrochemical and Refining Industry Association).

João de Mello studied Business Administration at École d’Administration 
et de Direction d’Entreprises, in Switzerland, having completed 
his university studies at Catholic University de Louvain, in Tournay, 
specialising in Industrial Textile Techniques. In addition, he trained 
in several management areas, having completed the Leadership 
Management Training Program for Top Managers, at IMD International.

André Cabral Côrte-Real de Albuquerque
With 10 years of experience in the chemical sector, André de 
Albuquerque is member of the Board of Directors and Executive 
Committee of Bondalti Capital. André de Albuquerque is also member 
of the Board of FEIQUE, and Business Angel accredited by IAPMEI 
(Competitiveness and Innovation Agency).

Over the years, André de Albuquerque held management positions 
in companies and sectors as different as Printed Electronics, 
Nanotechnology, Civil Explosives or Fertilizers, having gained large 
experience in several functional and sector areas.

André de Albuquerque has a degree in Business Administration from 
Universidade Católica Portuguesa, and postgraduate studies from the 
same University and AESE Business School.

João Pedro Ribeiro de Azevedo Coutinho
João Azevedo Coutinho is Executive Director of José de Mello Capital 
and non-executive member of the Board of Directors of Bondalti Capital. 

With over 35 years of professional experience, he started his career 
at Coopers & Lybrand and was the manager responsible for the 
Investment Banking Division of Deutsche Bank in Portugal. João Azevedo 
Coutinho was member of the Executive Committee of Banco Mello de 
Investimento, Executive Member of the Board of Directors and CFO of 
Brisa, being also responsible for several areas and subsidiaries of the 
Brisa Group. He was also a member and later Chairman of the Board 
of Directors of CCR - Companhia de Concessões Rodoviárias in Brazil. 

Graduated in Business Administration and Management from 
Universidade Católica Portuguesa, he completed the Leadership 
Management Training Program for Top Managers at IMD International 
and the Advanced Management Program at Harvard Business School.

João Jorge Gonçalves Fernandes Fugas
João Fugas is Non-Executive Member of the Board of Directors of 
Bondalti Capital and Auditor at the Instituto de Defesa Nacional (Institute 
of Homeland Defence).

João Fugas has over 35 years of professional experience in various 
industries, having held top management positions in various industrial 
and services companies of the Sonae Group.

João Fugas holds a degree in Chemical Engineering from Faculdade 
de Engenharia da Universidade do Porto. In addition, João Fugas has 
completed several management training programs, including the 
Leadership Program for Top Managers at IMD International and the 
Senior Business Management Program at the AESE Business School.
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João Pedro Stilwell Rocha e Melo
Pedro Rocha e Melo is Executive Director of José de Mello Capital, 
Non-executive Director of Bondalti Capital, Vice-chairman of CUF and 
Vice-chairman of ACEGE. 

He was Vice-chairman and Executive Director of Brisa Autoestradas de 
Portugal and Chairman of Via Verde Portugal. Before joining Brisa, he 
worked in Investment Banking, as CEO of Banco Mello de Investimentos, 
Director of Banco Mello, Companhia de Seguros Império and Mello 
Valores. He was also a member of the Board of the Portuguese Chamber 
of Commerce and Industry. 

Pedro Rocha e Melo has a degree in Mechanical Engineering from 
Instituto Superior Técnico and a MBA (Master of Business Administration) 
from Universidade Nova de Lisboa.

Luís Augusto Nesbitt Rebelo da Silva
Luís Rebelo da Silva is member of the Board of Directors and the 
Executive Committee of Bondalti Capital and member of the Board of 
Directors of the European Chemical Industry Council (CEFIC).

At the beginning of his career, Luís Rebelo da Silva worked for ICEP 
(Portuguese Trade and Investment Institute), and in the venture capital 
industry as an investment analyst. Prior to joining Bondalti, Luís Rebelo 
da Silva worked for more than 18 years in several other companies of 
the José de Mello Group, where he held top management positions.

Luís Rebelo da Silva graduated in Business Administration from Instituto 
Superior de Economia e Gestão in Lisbon.

Luís Henrique Marcelino Alves Delgado
Luís Delgado is member of the Board of Directors and of the Executive 
Committee of Bondalti Capital and Chairman of APQuímica.

Luís Delgado joined the José de Mello Group as head of the Strategic 
Planning, Development and Control Division of José de Mello, having 
subsequently held positions in several companies of the group, among 
which Efacec Power Solutions, where he was Executive Director, acting 
on behalf of shareholders José de Mello and Têxtil Manuel Gonçalves.

Luís Delgado holds a B.S. in Electro technical and Computer Sciences 
Engineering from Instituto Superior Técnico, and a MBA from 
Universidade Nova de Lisboa.

Vasco Luís José de Mello
Vasco Luís José de Mello is the General Manager of José de Mello 
Capital and a Non-Executive Member of the Board of Directors of 
Bondalti Capital.

With over 30 years of professional experience, he began his career in 
the mergers and acquisitions department of Hambros Bank in London 
and Lisbon. He joined the Corporate Finance area of Banco Mello de 
Investimentos and was the manager responsible for the Strategic 
Planning and Control area of José de Mello. He worked in the health 
area and was Executive Director of CUF, having held various positions, 
namely President of the Executive Committee of Hospital CUF Infante 
Santo and Hospital CUF Descobertas, Executive Director of Quirón 
(Spain), and he was also Chairman of the Board of Directors Hospital 
de Braga, PPP and Hospital de Vila Franca de Xira, PPP. He returned to 
the parent company as General Manager, with responsibility for the 
areas of Strategic Planning, Control and Accounting. 

Graduated in Mechanical Engineering at the Catholic University of 
Louvain, Belgium, Vasco Luís José de Mello completed a Master’s 
in Business Management at the same University and participated 
in several management courses at IMD, INSEAD (Institut Européen 
d’Administration des Affaires) and MIT Sloan.
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Executive Committee
The Board of Directors delegates the day-to-day management of the 
company to the Executive Committee (EC), namely the monitoring of all 
activities and projects developed in the Bondalti companies.

As a rule, this body’s meetings take place on a weekly basis, and aim to 
manage critical and priority issues of any of the Organization’s departments, 
so that decisions are taken in a timely and responsible manner. The regular 
follow-up carried out by the EC is crucial for managing risk and assessing 
the fulfilment of short-, medium- and long-term goals.

The performance assessment of this body is based on objectives defined 
for a specific time horizon and in different areas, namely the economic, 
social and stakeholder perception areas.

The Directors who form the Executive Committee are responsible for managing the coordination 
of different areas and departments:

Bondalti has other advisory bodies to support the management of relevant and wide-ranging 
themes within the Organisation.

Ethics Ombudsman
The mission of the Ethics Ombudsman is to monitor and supervise all matters related to the 
application of the Bondalti Code of Ethics. The Code of Ethics demonstrates the organization’s 
commitment to acting ethically and with integrity under all circumstances, always respecting the 
rights of its stakeholders. The Code of Ethics and Ombudsman Regulations provide the internal 
and external advisory and reporting mechanisms for behaviours that might be deemed unethical, 
unlawful, or lacking integrity.

The Ethics Ombudsman is appointed or dismissed by the Executive Committee and acts in direct 
coordination with corporate bodies, committees, and structures of the Organisation.

•  External 
Communication

•  Strategy, Control, 
Innovation and 
Sustainability

•  Human Resources

•  Internal Audit 
and Risk 
Management

• Commercial

•  Business 
Development and 
Market Intelligence

• Supply Chain

•  Coordination of 
Industrial Sites

•  Integrated Production 
and Energy Planning

•  Quality

•  Technical, Safety and 
Climate Action 

•  Administrative and 
Financial

•  Legal

•  Information Security

•  Information Systems 
and Industrial 
Automation

•  Real Estate, Insurance, 
General Services and 
Fleet Management

•  Water Treatment

João de Mello André de 
Albuquerque Luís Delgado Luís Rebelo 

da Silva

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  PRINCIPLES OF GOVERNANCE

João de Mello, Bondalti’s CEO, at the “Chemistry for Life” conference, Aveiro



GLOSSARY

70

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Goal 10.3. | Indicator 10.3.1. 
In 2021, at Bondalti, there were no complaints based 
on the Organization’s Code of Ethics

Integrated Management Council
The Integrated Management Council is responsible for the implementation 
of the different areas Management Systems, namely Quality, Occupational 
Health and Safety, Environment and Energy at Bondalti Chemicals 
and Bondalti Cantabria, viewing to improve performance, sustainable 
development, employee health and safety protection and prevention of 
serious industrial accidents.

This body is sub-divided into two, according to the subjects and areas 
concerned, the Quality and Safety Council, for issues relating to Quality, 
Occupational Safety and Health and Industrial Safety, and the Climate 
Transition and Sustainability Council, for Environment, Energy, Environmental 
Sustainability and Climate Change related matters.

Innovation Council
The Innovation Council is an advisory body created to define and guide the 
strategy and policy of Bondalti with regard to innovation, proposing and 
following up the general lines of the Research, Development & Innovation 
System implemented at Bondalti Chemicals according to NP 4457, with a 
view to improve its performance, whilst continuously promoting sustainable 
innovation focused on a better efficacy and efficiency of processes and/or 
exploiting growth opportunities paving the way for disruptive innovation.

Security Committee
The Security Committee is responsible for the Security of Information strategy, and for controlling 
its implementation. It is the responsibility of this Committee to: analyse and monitor Bondalti’s 
compliance with legal and regulatory obligations concerning Security of Information; discuss 
and propose initiatives in this field to improve the level of internal control; promote discussion 
about significant changes within the Organisation; identify and analyse the impacts at Information 
Security level and the risk profile of the Organisation; and control performance indicators relating 
to Security of Information.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

Bondalti Capital, S.A. (Amounts in €)

EQUITY, NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS AND LIABILITIES

Subscribed share capital

Legal reserves

EQUITY

31/12/2021Headings 31/12/2020

 20 422 000 

 4 084 400 

Notes

17.1

17.2

 20 422 000 

 3 963 177 

LIABILITIES  

Cash receipts from clients

Loans

Deferrals

NON CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Retained earnings

Loans

Suppliers

TOTAL EQUITY, NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 
AND LIABILITIES

State and other public entities

Other creditors

Adjustments and other changes in Equity

Deferred tax liabilities

Other reserves

Provisions

TOTAL EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL LIABILITIES

Non controlling interests

Liabilities for post-employment benefits

Net income for the year

Other non-current Liabilities

 4 789 508 

 31 873 689 

 903 963 

 48 359 648 

 102 650 049 

 67 540 947 

  355 333 619 

 3 456 629 

 14 905 700 

 19 104 459 

 3 943 816 

 11 265 027 

 5 799 421 

 

 241 986 754 

 113 346 865 

 1 981 582 

 118 516 319 

123 470 435

 8 129 749 

 2 645 769 

 111 365 282 

 3 477 264 

14

 

 14.5

13.2

17.2

17.3

14.5

14.3

12

14.4

30

17.2

15

16.1

17.4

14.4

 859 319 

 30 389 167 

 793 461 

 45 937 317 

 116 026 040 

 37 175 447 

 326 049 836 

 767 053 

 10 483 295 

 14 543 554 

 3 175 211 

 11 265 027 

 10 208 050 

 220 506 422 

 105 543 414 

 1 644 903 

 140 038 681 

 80 467 741 

 7 767 436 

 3 291 965 

 103 898 511 

 7 337 415 

ASSETS

NON CURRENT ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

Investment property

Clients

Deferred tax assets

Cash and bank deposits

Goodwill

Other accounts receivable

Tangible fixed assets

Inventories

Other financial assets

Other financial assets

Equity holdings - other methods

Equity holdings - equity method

Financial assets held for trading

State and other public entities

Intangible assets

Deferrals

31/12/2021Headings 31/12/2020

 228 626 276

 126 707 343

 355 333 619 

 19 228 188 

 68 984 069 

 22 945 588

 4 744 677 

 4 202 026 

 129 673 725 

 28 167 653 

 7 114 742

 -  

 62 472 073

 71 006

 1 507

 4 298 347 

 - 

 1 023 517 

 2 406 500 

Notes

 

6

10.1

14.2

4

9.1

14.2

7

11.1

26

30

14.1

8

12

9.2

13.1

224 416 434

 101 633 401

 326 049 836 

 18 685 058 

 32 808 645 

 39 171 085 

 1 300 968 

 2 880 102 

 135 873 678

 22 828 632 

 6 077 460 

 -   

 61 244 774 

 167 328 

 1 507 

 667 

 1 614 553 

 1 066 502 

 2 328 877 
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT BY NATURE

Bondalti Capital, S.A.
Period ended at 31 December 2021 (amounts in Euro)

Income tax for the year

Interest and similar income

 EARNINGS BEFORE INTERESTS AND TAXES 

Net income for the year attributable to:

 EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES 

Interest and similar expenses

 NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR 

- Parent company shareholders

- Non-controlling interests

 (5 374 948)

 178 682 

  40 116 966

 

  (15 646 286)  

 24 649 362 

 19 274 414 

 19 104 459 

 169 955 

  19 274 414 

28

29

30

17.4

 (3 344 785)

 1 030 202 

  20 931 676

 

 (4 096 886)

 17 864 993 

  14 520 207 

  14 543 554 

 (23 347)

  14 520 207 

Operating subsidies

Personnel costs

Other income

Expenses/reversal of depreciation and amortisation

 EARNINGS BEFORE INTERESTS, TAXES, 
DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION 

Gains/losses of Subsidiaries, 
Associates and Joint Ventures

Impairment of receivables (losses/reversals)

Sales and services

External Supplies and Services

Cost of goods sold

Increase/decrease in fair value

Other expenses 

Impairment of depreciable inventories

Work for own entity

Product stock variation

Impairment of non depreciable inventories

Impairment of inventories (losses/reversals)

Provisions (increase/decrease)

31/12/2021 31/12/2021Profit & Loss Profit & Loss31/12/2020 31/12/2020

 157 806 

 (28 101 108)

 9 543 231 

 (21 648 857)

 61 765 823 

 93 665 

 443 872 961 

 (89 788 322)

 (273 169 564)

 (96 570)

 (3 902 181)

 -  

 229 126 

-

 391 137 

 - 

 367 786 

 2 167 856 

Notes Notes

19

20

16.4

23

27

11.2

14.2

18

22

26

24

27

11.3

9.2

11.4

21

15

 69 117 

 (22 390 419)

 7 464 823 

 (19 059 883)

 40 069 452 

 (8 839)

 243 047 616 

 (60 140 045)

 (129 386 636)

 154 008 

 (1 456 209)

 (77 892)

 321 202 

-

 2 054 543 

 6 090 

 (109 761)

 443 961 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR 2021

Bondalti Capital, S.A.
Period ended at 31 December 2021 (amounts in Euro)

POSITION AT BEGINNING OF 2020

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR

APPROPRIATION OF NET INCOME

Adjustments to Financial Assets - Subsidiaries

OPERATIONS WITH EQUITY HOLDERS DURING THE YEAR

Emission allowances

Subsidies

Set up of Legal Reserve

CHANGES IN THE PERIOD

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT

Distributions

POSITION AT END OF 2020

Transfer to Retained Earnings

 12 166 812 

- - - - -

14 543 554 

14 543 554 

(2 376 743)

TotalShare capital 
(Note 17.1)

Adjustments/ 
Other 

changes in 
Equity 

(Note 17.3)

Description 

13 610 345 

Total 
Equity

Other 
reserves 

(Note 17.2)

Net income 
for the 
period 

(Note 17.2)

1 443 533 

Non-
controlling 
interests 

(Note 17.5)

Legal 
reserves 

(Note 17.2)

Retained 
earnings 

(Note 17.2)

20 422 000 3 455 663 11 265 027 10 144 179 39 294 570 10 150 261 94 731 700 201 369 1

1 357 199 

94 933 069 

105 543 414 

1 466 880 

1 644 903 

- - - - - (109 682)(109 682)

(839 194)

(3 000 000)

(1 427 867)

-

-

-

- -

- -

103 898 511 

- -

-  507 514 - - -

-

 9 642 747 (10 150 261)

20 422 000 3 963 177 11 265 027 7 767 436 45 937 317 14 543 554 

- -

 -  

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

 (3 000 000)

-

-

-

-

(839 194)

 (3 000 000)

(1 427 867)

 (839 194)

-

(1 427 867)

2

5

3

4=2+3

6

7=1+2+3+5+6

(909 862)1 466 880 

14 543 554 

(2 376 743)

 -   -   -   -   (3 000 000) -  (3 000 000)  (3 000 000)

-  507 514 -

-

-

-

--  (507 514)

9 642 747 (9 642 747)

14 520 207 (23 347)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR 2021

Bondalti Capital, S.A.
Period ended at 31 December 2021 (amounts in Euro)

POSITION AT BEGINNING OF 2021

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR

APPROPRIATION OF NET INCOME

Adjustments to Financial Assets - Subsidiaries

OPERATIONS WITH EQUITY HOLDERS DURING THE YEAR

Other Operations

Set up of Legal Reserve

CHANGES IN THE PERIOD

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT

Distributions

Acquisition of minority shareholders

POSITION AT END OF 2021

Transfer to Retained Earnings

19 466 771 

- - - - 19 104 459 

19 104 459 

-

 20 910 305 1 443 533 

20 422 000 3 963 177 11 265 027 7 767 436 45 937 317 14 543 554 103 898 511 1 644 903 7

1 829 193 

105 543 414 

113 346 865 

1 466 880 

1 981 582 

- - - - - 362 312362 312 

1 829 193 

(13 106 854)

-

1 466 880 

(1 106 854)

-

- -

- -

111 365 282 

- -

- 32 069 - - -

-

14 511 485  (14 543 554)

20 422 000 4 084 400 11 265 027 8 129 749 48 359 648 19 104 459 

- -

 -  

(1 106 854)

-

-

-

89 154 

-

89 154 

-

-

-

(89 154)

(12 000 000)

(89 154)

-

-

-

362 312

(12 000 000)

-

362 312 

-

-

8

11

9

10=8+9

12

13=8+9+11+12

19 104 459  

 -  

 -  

 -  

 -  

 -  

 -  

 -  

 -  

(12 000 000)

-

-

-

(12 000 000)

-

(12 000 000)

(1 106 854)

- 32 069 -

-

-

-

-- (32 069)

14 511 485 (14 511 485)

19 081 112  (23 347)

TotalShare capital 
(Note 17.1)

Adjustments/ 
Other 

changes in 
Equity 

(Note 17.3)

Description Total 
Equity

Other 
reserves 

(Note 17.2)

Net income 
for the 
period 

(Note 17.2)

Non-
controlling 
interests 

(Note 17.5)

Legal 
reserves 

(Note 17.2)

Retained 
earnings 

(Note 17.2)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Bondalti Capital, S.A.
Period ended at 31 December 2021 (amounts in Euro)

Intangible assets

Financial investments

Other assets

 4 734 

 6 638 592 

 -

 1 382 681 

 3 000 000 

 914 880 

Dividends

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Investment subsidies

Cash receipts relating to:

Cash payments relating to:

Cash flows from financing activities 

Interest and similar income

Dividends

Cash flows from investing activities (2)

Cash flows from investing activities (3)

Investment subsidies

Interest and similar costs

Effect of exchange rate differences

Changes in the consolidation perimeter

Loans

Loans

Variation in cash and cash equivalents (1+2+3)

 163 822 

 7 363 849 

 (60 009 836)

 443 234 

 (22 479 311)

 (27 682 007)

 

 

  32 327 829

 (12 000 000)

 39 171 085

 22 945 588 

 -   

 116 629 

 (5 596 088)

 -

 2 155 482

 32 211 201 

 (42 413 749)

 (18 380 980)

4

4

4

 1 002 661 

 8 679 373 

 (33 979 324)

 354 450 

 (6 954 353)

  (29 323 380)

 4 655 944

 (3 000 000)

 42 893 086

 39 171 085 

 32 290 

 14 973 

 (3 621 283)

 (165 053)

 337 451

 4 640 971 

 (27 358 041)

 (4 059 452)

Income tax received/paid  (1 803 439)  (916 829)

Cash received from clients

Flows generated by operations

Net cash from operating activities (1)

Financial investments

Cash payments relating to:

Cash receipts relating to:

Cash flow from operating activities - direct method 

Other cash received/paid

Other assets

Cash paid to personnel

Cash paid to suppliers

Intangible assets

Investment property

Cash flows from investing activities 

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets

31/12/2021 31/12/202131/12/2020 31/12/2020

 410 355 817

 60 182 414 

 31 780 338 

 (6 000 000)

 

 

 (26 598 638)

 (13 141 526)

 (29 843 160)

 (23 179 284)

 (188 262)

 70 467 

 (326 994 120)

 (10 513 371)

 43 000 

Notes Notes

 294 840 372 

 56 718 076

 32 218 281 

 (4 640 570)

 (23 582 966)

 (8 951)

 (15 633 726)

 (22 292 353)

 (7 470)

 316 624 

 (215 829 944)

 (10 976 735)

 1 675 788 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
This Document contains disclosures as required by the Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards (NCRF) comprised in the Portuguese Accounting Standardization System (SNC), relating to 2021.
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1. THE COMPANY
The Bondalti Group (“Group”), which is designated by the parent company Bondalti 
Capital, S.A. is headquartered in Lisbon and was incorporated on May 19, 1997. Bondalti 
Capital’s corporate purpose is to provide consultancy in the economic, financial, and 
human resources areas, the management of companies, the provision of services of 
any nature, as well as the performance of all related operations.

Bondalti Capital is currently the holding company of a group of companies operating 
in Portugal and Spain in three different activities:

°  Chemicals - production and sale of industrial chemicals

°  Real estate - purchase and sale of real estate;

°  Water Treatment – production and sale of water treatment products and technology

The parent company of the Bondalti Group is José de Mello Capital, S.A., with registered 
office in Lisbon. 

2.  BASES OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

 
The Group prepares its accounts according to the Accounting and Financial Reporting 
Standards (NCRF) which form an integral part of the SNC (Portuguese accounting 
system).

There were no derogations to providing a true and appropriate image.

Financial statements for 2021 and 2020 were prepared using principles consistent with 
those used in the previous year, therefore all balance sheet and profit and loss captions 
are comparable with those of the previous year.

3. MAIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
3.1 - Measurement bases used in the preparation of the financial statements:
The financial statements were prepared on the ongoing concern and accrual basis of 
accounting, consistency of presentation, materiality and aggregation, offsetting, and 
comparative information.

Based on provisions in the NCFR, the accounting policies followed by the Company 
were as follows:

(a) Tangible Fixed Assets
Os ativos fixos tangíveis referem-se a bens utilizados na produção, na prestação de 
Tangible fixed assets refer to assets used in production, rendering of services or for 
administrative purpose.

The Group adopted the deemed cost in the measurement of tangible fixed assets as 
of 1 January 2009 (date of transition to the NCRF), pursuant to the exemption provided 
in NCFR 3 - First time adoption of NCFR. The Group adopted as deemed cost the 
amount recorded in the former financial statements prepared according to the former 
accounting standards (POC), which included revaluation reserves carried out pursuant 
to various decree-laws that took into account currency devaluation coefficients.

With the exception of land, which does not depreciate, tangible fixed assets are 
subject to depreciation over the expected economic useful life, and they are assessed 
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be in impairment. 
Depreciation is determined on a twelfth basis as of the moment the assets become 
available for their intended use, in accordance with the straight-line method. The 
following depreciation rates are used:

 Buildings and other constructions 

 Transport equipment 

 Other tangible fixed assets 

 Basic equipment 

 Administrative equipment 

20202021

 2.00 - 33.33

 6.25 - 25.00 

 12.5 - 20.00 

 5.00 - 50.00 

 5.88 - 50.00 

 2.00 - 33.33 

 6.25 - 25.00 

 12.5 - 20.00 

 5.00 - 50.00

 5.88 - 50.00 

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  ANNEXES

Bondalti Capital, S.A. (amounts in Euro)



GLOSSARY

79

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Depreciation costs are recognised on the Profit and Loss Statement under the heading 
“Depreciation and amortization (Expenses/Reversal)”.

Tangible fixed asset dismantling and removal costs, and site restoring where these 
are located, the obligation of which is incurred when assets are acquired, or as a 
consequence of having been used for a certain period for purposes other than 
inventory production, form part of the corresponding tangible fixed asset cost and are 
depreciated over the useful life period of the assets in question.

Current maintenance and repair costs are recognised as expenses in the period they 
occur.

Replacement and major repair costs are capitalised, provided that they increase the 
useful life of the fixed asset to which they relate and are depreciated over the remaining 
useful life period of the fixed asset or its own useful life period, if shorter.

Any gain or loss resulting from the derecognition of a tangible asset (calculated as 
the difference between the sale price, less the costs of sale and accounting value) is 
included in the profit and loss account of the financial year during which the asset is 
derecognised.

Tangible fixed assets in progress concern goods which are still under construction or 
development and are measured at acquisition cost, and they can only be depreciated 
when they will become available for use.

At the end of each year the company assesses any possible impairment in assets, which 
if any, will be recognised in the profit and loss statement for the year.

(b) Investment Property
The Group adopted considered cost in the measurement of tangible fixed assets 
referring to 1 January 2009 (transition to the NCRF), under the terms of the exemption 
provided in NCRF 3 – First Adoption of the NCRF. Deemed cost resulted from an 
assessment made as of the said date by independent and qualified auditors. 
Subsequently, the Group adopted the cost model in the measurement of investment 
property.

Depreciation is determined on a twelfth basis as of the moment the assets become 
available for their intended use, in accordance with the straight-line method. 
Depreciation rates used are as follows:

(c) Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured at cost on the initial recognition 
date.

Internally generated costs of intangible assets, excluding development costs under 
certain circumstances, are considered as an expense, and are shown on the profit and 
loss accounts for the year in which the expense is incurred.

After initial recognition, intangible assets are presented at cost less accumulated 
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as finite or indefinite. Intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested annually for impairment, 
regardless of whether or not there are indicators that they may be impaired. Intangible 
assets with finite useful lives are amortised over their expected life span, and they 
are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 
impaired. Amortizations of Intangible Assets are shown on the Statement of Results by 
Nature, on the line entitled “Depreciation and Amortization Expenses/Reversal”.

The criteria described in line a) tangible fixed assets, are used to determine the 
impairment of these assets.

 Buildings and other constructions 

20202021

 2.00 - 10.00  2.00 - 10.00 
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Amortizations are calculated on a twelfth basis, using the straight-line method. The 
following amortization rates are used:

Any gain or loss resulting from derecognition of an intangible asset is included in the 
profit and loss accounts for the financial year in which the asset is derecognised.

Some specific aspects relating to each type of intangible asset are shown below.

(c.1) Development projects
Research costs are recognised as expenses in the period they occur. 

Development costs of an individualised product are recognised as intangible assets 
when the Group can demonstrate the following:

°  The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset, such that it is available 
for use or sale;

°  Its intention to complete the intangible asset and ensure that it meets the conditions 
for its usage or sale;

°  How the asset will generate future economic benefits;

°  The availability of resources to complete the asset;

°  The capacity to reliably measure expenditure during development.

(c.2) Computer software
This caption includes computer software purchased to third parties.

Internal costs associated with the maintenance and development of computer 
programs are recognised as expenses when incurred, as it is considered that they 
cannot be reliably measured and/or will not generate future economic benefits.

(c.3) Industrial Property
This heading shows patents registered in the names of companies included in the 
consolidation, for which exclusive usage rights are held.

Amortization is calculated during the exclusive usage period of each patent.

(c.4) Emission rights
CO2 emission rights awarded to the Company under the scope of the National CO2 
Emissions License Allocation Plan and are recognised in accordance with NCRF 26, 
that is under the heading Intangible Assets charged against Other Changes in Equity 
- Subsidies and Donations, at the market value on the allocation date.

Acquired licenses are recognised under Intangible Assets charged against the 
corresponding account payable or availability account.

A Depreciation and Amortization expense is recognised against the Accumulated 
Amortisations of Intangible Assets, for CO2 emissions made by the Company, based 
on the FIFO criteria. An amount equivalent to the reduction in the corresponding share 
of the subsidy is simultaneously transferred to Other Revenue and Gains, against 
Subsidies and Donations.

Whenever the Company emits CO2 without holding the respective licenses, a provision 
is recognised under the terms of NCRF 21 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Assets. 
The contingent amount corresponds to the best price estimate to obtain it, plus the 
estimate amount of penalties that will be incurred for emitting the CO2 without a license.

Sales of emission rights lead to a gain or loss ascertained based on the realisable 
value and the respective cost of acquisition, which is recorded under Other Income 
and Gains - Income and Gains from Non-Financial Investments and other Expenses and 
Losses - Expenses and Losses in Non-Financial Investments, respectively. 

As there is an active market for emission rights, they are re-valued at market value at 
the end of each period, and the Equity - Subsidies and Donations or the profit and loss 
account is adjusted simultaneously, depending on whether the licenses are granted 
or acquired, respectively.

 Development projects 

 Industrial property 

 Other intangible assets 

 Software 

 Goodwill 

20202021

 20.00 - 33.33 

 20.00 - 33.33 

 20.00 - 33.33 

33.33

 10.00 

 20.00 - 33.33 

 20.00 - 33.33 

 20.00 - 33.33 

33.33

-
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(d) Equity Holdings – Equity method
Investments in associates are valued according to the equity method.

On the investment acquisition date, the difference between the cost of the investment 
and the Group’s share in the identifiable fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the acquired investment was accounted for in accordance with NCRF 14 - 
Concentrations of Business Activities. Therefore:

°  Related goodwill was included under the intangible assets item, and amortised, under 
the terms of NCRF 6, over the period of its useful life (or in 10 years if its useful life 
cannot be reliably estimated). 

 
After the acquisition date, the carrying value of the investments:

°  was increased or decreased to recognise investee shares in results after the date 
of acquisition;

°  was decreased by the earnings distribution received;

°  was increased or decreased to reflect, against Equity, changes to the Group’s 
proportional interest in stakes resulting from changes in the equity of the stakes in 
question that were not recognised in the respective income statement. Among other 
situations, these changes include those resulting from the Revaluation of Tangible 
Fixed Assets and from differences in foreign currency exchange rate. 

The following provisions regarding the application of this method were also followed 
when measuring these investments:

°  The financial statements of the investees were prepared, or adjusted outside the 
accounts, in order to reflect the Group’s accounting policies before being used to 
determine the effects of the equity method;

°  The investee financial statements used to determine the equity method effects are 
reported on the same date as those of the Group or, if different, there is a difference 
of no more than three months from those of the Group;

°  Results from “ascending” and “descending” transactions are only recognised to 
the extent that they correspond to the interests of other investors in the associate, 
unrelated to the investor; 

°  When the value of an investment is reduced to zero, additional losses are taken 
into account by recognising a liability whenever the Company incurs into legal or 
constructive obligations. If the investees subsequently report profits, the Group only 
recommences their recognition once its share in the profits equals the unrecognised 
share of the losses.

(e) Equity Holdings – other methods
The group uses the cost model for financial investments in non-listed entities, to which 
the equity method does not apply. 

According to the cost model, financial stakes are initially recognised at acquisition 
cost, including transaction costs. Their value is subsequently decreased by impairment 
losses, whenever they occur.

(f) Income Tax
Income tax for the year includes current and deferred taxes from the financial year.
 
(f.1) Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities result from determining the time differences between 
the accounting bases and tax bases of the Group’s assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets reflect:

°  Deductible time differences, to the extent that future taxable gains are likely to exist, 
with regard to which the deductible difference may be used;

°  Unused tax losses and unused tax credits, to the extent that it is likely that future 
taxable gains will be available, against which they may be used.

Deferred tax liabilities reflect taxable time differences.

Deferred taxes relating to time differences associated with investments in associates 
and interests in joint ventures are not recognised, because it is considered that the 
following conditions are simultaneously met:

°  The Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the time difference; and

°  It is likely that the time difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities:

°  Measurements are made according to the rates expected to apply during the period 
that the asset was held, or the liability liquidated, based on the approved tax rates 
on the balance sheet date; and 

°  Measurements reflect tax consequences arising from the way in which the Group, on 
the balance sheet date, expects to recover or settle the carrying value of its assets 
and liabilities. 
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(f.2) Income tax for the year
Income tax for the year includes current and deferred taxes from the financial year.
Current tax is determined based on the accounting profit and loss, adjusted in 
accordance with current tax legislation to which each of the companies included in 
the consolidation is subject. 

The parent company and direct or indirect subsidiaries in which at least 90% of the 
respective capital is held, which are resident in Portugal and taxed under Income Tax 
and are taxed under the scope of the Special Taxation Regime for Groups of Companies 
at a rate of 21%, plus the surcharge up to the maximum rate of 6.5% of Taxable Income, 
resulting in a maximum aggregated rate of 27.5.

Income tax relating to the rest of the companies included in the consolidation is 
calculated at the current rates in the countries where respective registered offices 
are located:

Under the terms of the current legislation in the different jurisdictions in which the 
companies included in the consolidation carry out their activities, the corresponding 
tax returns are subject to review by the tax authorities for a period that varies from 
between four to five years, which may be prolonged under certain circumstances, 
specifically when there are tax losses or inspections, claims or challenges are in 
progress.

The Board of Directors, based on the positions of its tax advisers, and considering the 
recognised responsibilities, understand that any possible reviews of these tax returns 
will not result in material corrections to the consolidated financial statements.

(g) Inventories
The assessment of inventories and respective costing methods are as follows:

The cost of inventories includes:

°  Average acquisition cost of the raw materials that are incorporated;

°  Purchase costs (purchase price and transport costs).
Whenever the net realizable value is lower than the purchase or conversion cost, the 
value of the inventories is reduced by recognising an impairment loss, which is reversed 
when the reasons that led to it cease to exist.

For this purpose, the net realisable value is the estimated selling prices during the 
ordinary course of the business activity, less the estimated costs of finishing and 
the costs required to make the sale. Estimates consider changes related to events 
occurring after the end of the period.

Income tax

State surcharge

Income tax

Municipal surcharge

Income tax

Country 2020 Tax2021 Tax

 Portugal 

 Portugal 

 Angola 

 Portugal 

 Spain 

21.0%

3% - 5%

25.0%

1.5%

25.0%

21.0%

3% - 5%

25.0%

1.5%

25.0%

Goods

Finished and semi finished products

(*) Net realizable value, whichever the lower

Raw materials, subsidiary materials and 
consumables

Works in progress

Valuation methodsValuation

Acquisition cost (*)

Production cost (*)

Acquisition cost (*)

Production cost (*)

Average cost

Average cost

Average cost

Average cost
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(h) Other financial assets
Financial assets are recognised when the companies included in the consolidation 
become a party to the respective contractual relationship.

Financial assets not included in previous items, and not valued at fair value, are valued 
at cost or at amortised cost net of impairment losses, where applicable.

The group assesses the impairment of these assets at the end of the year. Whenever 
there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group recognises and impairment loss 
on the profit and loss statement.

Objective evidence that a financial asset or group of assets could be in impairment 
takes into account observable data that can call attention to the following loss events.

°  The debtor being in significant financial difficulty;

°  Breach of contract, such as non-payment or default on interest payments or 
repayment of debt;

°  For economic or legal reasons related to the debtor’s financial difficulty, the 
companies included in the consolidation offer concessions to the debtor that they 
would not otherwise consider;

°  It is likely that the debtor will go into bankruptcy or any other type of financial 
reorganisation;

°  Observable information indicating that has been a measured decrease in future cash 
flow estimates of a group of financial assets, since their initial recognitions.

Individually significant financial assets were assessed individually for the purposes 
of impairment. All other financial assets were assessed based on similar credit risk 
characteristics.

Some specific aspects relating to each type of financial asset are shown below:

(h.1) Clients
During the initial recognition, accounts receivable form clients are measured according 
to the Sales and Services Provided measurement criteria described in line q) and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost less impairment.

Impairment is determined based on criteria defined in line h).

(h.2) Other accounts receivable
Other accounts receivable is valued as follows:

°  Personnel - at cost less impairment;

°  Receivables from accrued income - at cost;

°  Other debtors - at cost less impairment;

°  Loans to shareholders do not bear interest or have any implicit interest rate, so 
they are presented at their respective nominal value, less impairment losses, where 
applicable.

In both cases, impairment is determined based on criteria defined in line h).

(h.3) Cash and bank deposits
The amounts included in this item correspond to the amounts of cash and other 
deposits, which mature in less than three months and can be mobilised immediately 
with an insignificant risk of change in value.

These balances are measured as follows:

°  Cash - at cost;

°  Deposits without defined maturity - at cost;

°  Other deposits with defined maturity - at amortised cost, determined based on the 
effective interest rate method.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, the “Cash and cash equivalents” caption 
includes any bank overdrafts included under the “Loans” caption, as well as cash and 
bank deposits”.

(i) State and other public entities
The active and passive balances of this item are ascertained based on current 
legislation.

No impairment whatsoever was recognised for assets, as it is not considered to apply 
due to the specific nature of the relationship.
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(j) Deferred assets and liabilities
This item reflects transactions and other events the full recognition of which is 
not appropriate in the profit and loss of the year in which they occur but should be 
recognised in the profit and loss of future years.

(l) Equity captions
(l.1) Legal Reserves
According to art. 295 of the Portuguese Trading Companies Code (CSC), at least 5% 
of Net Income must be allocated to setting-up or increasing the legal reserve, until at 
least 20% of the share capital is represented.

The legal reserve cannot be distributed, except in cases of liquidation, and may only be 
used to absorb losses once all other reserves have been exhausted, or for inclusion in 
the share capital (art. 296 of the CSC).

(l.2) Other reserves
This item includes reappraisal reserves made under the terms of previous GAAP on the 
date of transition, net of any corresponding deferred taxes, and that are not presented 
in the “Revaluation Surplus”, due to the fact that the entity adopted the considered cost 
method on the SNC conversion date.

Revaluation reserves made by law, according to the legislation in question, are only 
available to increase capital or to cover losses incurred up until the date on which the 
reappraisal is reported, and only after being paid in (for use or sale).

This also includes reserves resulting from a reappraisal on the transition date, which 
will only be available for distribution after being paid in (for use or for sale).

(l.3) Retained earnings
This item includes the realised results that are available for distribution to shareholders 
and gains due to increases in the fair value of derivative financial instruments, financial 
investments, and investment properties that, according to item 2. of art. 32 of the CSC, 
will only be available for distribution when the elements or rights that led to them are 
divested, exercised, terminated, or liquidated.

(l.4) Adjustments and other changes in equity
This caption includes fair value adjustments of financial assets, such as changes in 
the fair value of derivatives used to manage risk of changes in interest rate, exchange 
rate risk, risk of prices of goods under a commitment or a high likelihood of a future 
transaction which, according to no. 2 of art. 32 of the CSC, will only be available for 
distribution when the elements or rights that led to them are divested exercised, 
terminated or liquidated.

This also includes adjustments concerning the application of the equity method, specifically 
the appropriation of changes to the equity of investees and unallocated profits.

Other changes in equity include:

(l.4.1) Investment subsidies
Subsidies are recognised when there is reasonable certainty that the Group has 
complied/will comply with the associated conditions and that the subsidy will be 
received.

This account is reduced following the initial recognition as follows:

°  Subsidies relating to tangible fixed assets subject to depreciation, and intangible 
assets with a defined useful life, are reduced by systematic allocation to revenue for 
the necessary periods to balance subsidies with the related expenses that they are 
intended to compensate for;

°  Tangible fixed assets not subject to depreciation, and intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful life are reduced by allocation to revenue during any year where it is 
necessary to compensate for any impairment loss recognised regarding the assets 
concerned.

These subsidies are not available for distribution until they are assigned to revenue 
during the periods necessary to: (i) balance the subsidies against related costs that 
these are intended to compensate for, i.e., amortizations and depreciations and/or (ii) 
to compensate for any impairment loss that maybe recognised in relation to the assets 
in question.

(l.4.2) Emission rights
These reserves, corresponding to Emission Rights given and recognised as provided 
in sub-paragraph c.4) above are transferred to Other income and gains as the 
corresponding CO2 emissions are made by the group companies. 
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According to sub-paragraph 2 of article 32 of the CC, these reserves will only be 
available for distribution when the underlying rights will be sold, exercised, extinguished, 
or liquidated.

(m) Provisions 
This caption reflects the Group’s legal and constructive obligations arising from past 
events, whose liquidation is expected to result in an outflow of resources from the 
entity, including economic benefits, with uncertain timing and amounts, but whose 
value can be reliably estimated.

This item includes the following provisions, among others:

°  Provisions for tangible fixed asset dismantling and removal costs, and for site 
restoration costs where localised, the obligation of which is incurred when assets are 
acquired, or as a consequence of having been used for a certain period for purposes 
other than inventory production.

(n) Post-employment benefit and staff cost responsibilities
Personnel expenses are recognised when the service is provided by employees, 
regardless of their payment date.

Some specific aspects relating to each benefit are shown below:

(n.1) Post-employment benefits
The group has the post-employment benefit plans indicated on the following table:

Under the terms of the Social Benefits Regulation in force in the group, certain 
employees on the permanent workforce are entitled, after retirement, to a share of 
health care expenses and a pension supplement for old age, disability or survival. Years 
of service are considered when calculating these supplements and contributions, as 
well as their perks in the company that originally employed them.  

In the defined benefit plans, responsibilities are recognised and measured in 
accordance with NCRF 28 - Employee Benefits.

Under these terms, the cost of providing benefits is determined as follows:

°  Separately for each plan;

°  Using the projected credit unit method;

°  Based on actuarial assumptions in force in Portugal.

The cost of past services of current employees is recognised: (i) immediately, as 
concerns the share already due, and (ii) on a straight-line basis over the remaining 
period of service, as concerns the share not yet due. 

(n.2) Holiday Pay and Holiday Bonus
According to the law in force, employees are entitled to holiday pay and holiday bonus 
in the following year to which the service is provided. Hence, the company recognised 
in the profit and loss statement for the year an amount payable in the following year, 
which is recorded in caption “Other Debts Payable”.

(o) Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recognised when the companies included in the consolidation 
become a party to the contractual relationship.

(o.1) Loans
Loans covered by variable interest rate hedges are recorded at amortised cost 
determined based on the effective interest rate. According to this method, loans are 
initially recognised as liabilities at the amount received, net of issuing costs, which 
corresponds to the respective fair value at that date. Subsequently, loans are measured 
according to the amortised cost method, which includes all financial expenses 
calculated according to the effective interest rate method.

Other loans are measured at cost and recognised as liabilities at their nominal value.

Addressees Location TypeCompany Name of Plan

 Defined benefit - 
Pension supplement for 

old age, disability and 
survival 

 Defined benefit - 
Healthcare plan without 

provided fund 

Bondalti 
Chemicals

Bondalti 
Chemicals

 Retirement 
Pension Plans 

 Healthcare Plan 

 Some of 
the former 

and present 
employees 

 Some of 
the former 

and present 
employees 

 Portugal 

 Portugal 

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  ANNEXES

Bondalti Capital, S.A. (amounts in Euro)



GLOSSARY

86

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(o.2) Trade payables, Cash receipts from customers and Other creditors
These items are measured at cost.

(o.3) Shareholders
Shareholders loans do not accrue interest or involve any type of interest; therefore, 
they are stated at respective nominal value, in caption “Other debts payable”, minus 
any impairment loss where applicable, determined based on the criteria provided in 
sub-paragraph o).

(o.4) Other Financial liabilities
This caption includes financial instruments held for sale and the negative fair value 
of derivative financial instruments which, although contracted in accordance with 
the Group’s risk management policies, do not qualify for hedge accounting whether 
because they were not formally designated for that purpose or simply because they are 
not efficient hedges in accordance with the conditions established NCRF 27 and IAS 39.

Other financial liabilities include:

°  Non efficient part of hedging derivatives;

°  Non-hedging derivatives;

°  Other liabilities held for trading.

These are measured at fair value and changes in the fair value are recognised in the 
income statement for the period.

(o.5) Leases
Lease contracts are classified as finance lease if it substantially transfers all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset to the lessee.

Fixed assets acquired under finance lease contracts as well as the corresponding 
liabilities are recorded in accordance with the financial method, where fixed assets, 
corresponding accumulated depreciation and liabilities are recognised in accordance 
with the contracted financial plan. In addition, the interest included in the lease 
instalments and depreciation of the tangible fixed assets are recognised as expenses 
in the statement of profit and loss for the year concerned.

In the case of operating leases, lease instalments are recognised as expenses on 
a straight-line basis in the statement of profit and loss over the period of the lease contract.

(p) Effect of changes in exchange rate
Foreign currency transactions are translated into Euro at the date of transaction.

Balances due at the end of the period are translated at closing rate and the difference 
is recognised in the income statement.
 
(q) Sales and services
Sales and rendered services are measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, minus the amounts relating to trade discount for multiple 
purchase/orders.

Where the selling price of products/services includes an identifiable amount of 
subsequent services, such amount is deferred and recognised as revenue in the period 
in which the service is provided.

Although revenue is only recognised when it is probable that any future economic 
benefit associated with the item of revenue will flow to the company, when there 
is doubt as to the recoverability of an amount already recognised as revenue, the 
irrecoverable amount, or the amount unlikely to be recovered, will be recognised as 
impairment and not as an adjustment to the revenue amount initially recognised.

The recognition of sales and rendered services is subject to specific features, amongst 
which the following:

(q.1) Sales
Revenue arising from the sale of goods should be recognised when all of the following 
criteria have been satisfied:

°  the seller has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership;

°  the seller retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually 
associated with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

°  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

°  it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to 
the seller; and

°  the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect to the transaction can be measured 
reliably.
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(q.2) Rendered Services
Revenue arising from rendered services is recognised when the result of the transaction 
can be reliably estimated, which occurs when all of the following criteria are met:

°  The amount of revenue can be reliably measured;

°  It is likely that the economic benefits associated to the transactions will flow to the 
Group;

°  the costs incurred, or to be incurred, in respect of the transaction can be measured 
reliably;

The stage of completion is determined based on the proportion of the costs incurred 
so far on total estimated costs of the rendering of the services (relating to rendered 
services or services to be rendered).

When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, the Group recognises it 
according to the nil profit method. According to this method, total costs incurred are 
recognised as expenses for the period combined with equivalent revenues, and no 
profit is recognised.

Progressive payments and cash receipts from clients are not taken into account for 
determining the completion percentage, not even according to the null profit method.

(r) Operating subsidies
São reconhecidos nesta rubrica os subsídios não reembolsáveis que não estejam 
relacionados com ativos e apenas quando existe uma segurança razoável de que 
o Grupo cumpriu/irá cumprir com as condições a ele associadas e que o subsídio será 
recebido. 

(s) Interest and similar expenses
Financing costs are recognised in the income statement for the period to which they 
relate and include:

°  Interest paid determined based on the effective interest rate method;

°  Interest of interest rate hedging instruments and raw materials (swaps).

Costs incurred on loans obtained directly to finance the acquisition, construction or 
production of tangible fixed assets are capitalised as part of the cost of the assets. 

Such costs are capitalised as from the beginning of the preparation for construction or 
development of the assets and end upon termination of the production or construction 
of the asset or when the project in question is suspended.

(t) Hedging instruments
Only the effective part of derivatives designated as such are considered as financial 
hedging instruments, when the entity expects that the changes to the fair value or cash 
flows of the hedged item, attributable to the hedged risk, will practically compensate 
for changes to the fair value or cash flows of the hedging instrument.

In the absence of guidelines detailed in NCRF 27 - “Financial instruments” on methods 
used to test and document the effectiveness of the hedge, the Group follows the 
applicable provisions of IAS 39 - Financial instruments.

Changes to the fair value of derivative instruments to hedge fixed interest rate risks, or 
the risk of price of goods that are held, as well as changes to the fair value of the asset 
or liability subject to that risk, are recognised in the profit and loss accounts under the 
“Fair value increases/reduction” caption.

Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments of floating interest rate risk, foreign 
exchange risk, commodity price risk resulting from firm commitment or highly probable 
transaction are recognised in equity under caption “adjustments to financial assets” 
as concerns their effective part and in the income statement in caption “Increase/
decrease at fair value” as concerns their ineffective part. 

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument matures, is sold, or 
exercised, or when the hedging relationship ceases to comply with the requirements 
NCRF 27 - Financial Instruments, under the terms specified in of IAS 39 - financial 
instruments.

The effective part of the hedging instruments is included in the balance sheet under 
“Loans”.

(u) Contingent assets and liabilities
A contingent asset is a possible asset arising from past events the existence of which 
will depend on whether some uncertain future event will occur which are not entirely 
under company’s control and therefore are not recognised. However, they are disclosed 
when a future inflow is likely to occur.
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A Contingent Liability is:

°  A possible obligation arising from past events the existence of which will depend 
on whether some uncertain future event occurs which are not entirely under the 
company’s control,

or 

°  A present obligation as a result of past events but which is not recognised as:
   an outflow of resources is not likely to be required to settle the obligation; or
  the amount of the obligation cannot be reasonably quantified.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised. However, they are disclosed when there is a 
probability of future outflows which is not remote.

(v) Conversion of the FS in foreign currency
The results and financial position of the entity whose functional currency differs from 
the Euro are translated into the measurement currency using the following procedures:
 a)  Non-monetary items were translated using the exchange rate at the date of 

the transaction;
 b)  Monetary items were translated using the closing rate at the date of the 

balance sheet;
 c)  Income and expenses in each financial statement were translated using the 

exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
 d)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component 

of equity.

(x) Subsequent events
Events that occur after the balance sheet date that provide additional information on 
conditions that existed as of the balance sheet date are reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements.

3.2 - Consolidation bases
The corporate universe of the Group is made up of the subsidiaries listed in Note 5.

Joint ventures are included in the financial statements according to the proportional 
consolidation method, combining, line by line, the share in each item of assets, liabilities, 
income and gains and expenses and losses of the jointly controlled ventures with the 
similar items of the Groups financial statements.

In compliance with provisions in article 6 of Decree-law 158/2009, of 15 July, as amended 
by Decree-Law No. 98/2015, of 2 June, which approved the SNC, the entity prepares 
consolidated accounts of the Group composed by itself and all the subsidiaries in 
which:

°  Irrespective of the capital ownership, one of the following occurs:
   It can exercise or effectively exercises a controlling influence;
   It governs the business policies of both companies as though they constituted 

a single entity.

° As holder of share capital:
   It holds the majority of voting rights, except if it is proven that such rights do not 

confer control;
   It has the power to appoint or remove the majority of the members of the governing 

body of the other entity with powers to govern the financial and operating policies 
of such entity;

   It exercises a controlling influence over the other entity, by virtue of a contract 
entered with such entity or any other clause in the said entity’s memorandum of 
association;

   It holds at least 20% of the voting rights and the majority of the members of the 
governing body of the other entity with the powers to govern the financial and 
operating policies of such entity who have held office during the year to which the 
consolidated financial statements refer, or in the preceding year until the moment 
these are prepared, were exclusively appointed as result of the exercise of its 
voting rights;

   It holds, alone or by virtue of an agreement with other capital holders of the other 
entity, the majority of the voting rights of the holders of this entity’s share capital.

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that can currently be exercised or 
converted are considered when an appraisal is made as to whether or not control 
exists.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which 
the Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date when such 
control ceases.
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Accounting policies followed by the subsidiaries and joint ventures for preparing their 
separate financial statements were altered, where necessary, to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

The purchase method is used for accounting business combinations. The cost of an 
acquisition is measured at the fair value of the delivered assets, capital instruments 
issued, and liabilities incurred or assumed on the acquisition date plus costs directly 
attributed to the acquisition.

The excess of the acquisition cost over the share of the Group in the fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities purchase is recognised as 
Goodwill. 

If the acquisition cost is lower than the said fair value, the difference is recognised 
directly in the income statement for the year it is determined, after reassessing the 
identification process and measuring of the fair value of the liabilities and contingent 
liabilities.

In the consolidation process, transactions, balances and non-realised gains in intra-
group transactions and dividend distributed amongst group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence of loss 
through the impairment of the assets being transferred.

Provisions in NCRF 25 - Income Tax were applied for temporary differences arising from 
the elimination of results deriving from intra-group transactions.

Equity and net profit of subsidiaries which are held by other than the Group are 
recorded in Non-controlling Interests captions of the Balance Sheet (separately under 
equity) and in the consolidated income statement, respectively. On the date of each 
business combination, the amounts attributable to minorities are determined using the 
shareholding percentage held by them at the fair value of the identifiable net assets 
and contingent liabilities acquired.

Where losses attributed to minority shareholders exceed the minority interest in 
shareholders’ equity of the subsidiary, the Group absorbs such excess and any 
additional losses, except where the minority shareholders are required to and can cover 
such losses. Where the subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the Group appropriates 
them up to the amount of the losses absorbed by the Group.
 
3.3 -  Main judgements and estimates used in the preparation of the financial 

statements
In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements according to the ASS, the 
Board of Directors of the Group uses judgements, estimates and assumptions which 
affect the application of policies and reported amounts. 

Estimates and judgements are continuously assessed and are based on experiences 
of past events and other factors, including expectations regarding future events 
considered likely due to the circumstances, where estimates are based on or are 
the result of acquired information or experience. Real effects may differ from the 
judgements and estimates that are made, specifically regarding the impact of costs 
and profits that actually occur.

The most significant accounting estimates reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements are as follows:

(a) Useful life of tangible and intangible fixed assets
The useful life of an asset is the estimated period of during which an asset subject to 
depreciation is judged to be productive in a business and should be reviewed at least 
at the end of each economic year.

The amortisation/depreciation method applicable and estimated losses arising 
from replacing the equipment before the end of their useful life, due to technology 
obsolescence, is crucial to determine the effective life of an asset.

These parameters are defined according to the management’s best estimate for the 
assets and businesses concerned, considering the practices adopted by companies 
in the sector where the Company operates.
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(b) Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all recoverable losses to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised.

Taking into account the effect that this may have on future results, the Board of 
Directors must make a judgement to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that 
can be recognised, taking the following into account:

°  The date and likely amount of future taxable gains, and

°  Future tax planning strategies.

(c) Provisions for tax
The Group, based on the opinion of its tax consultants and taking into account 
recognised liabilities, believes that any possible reviews of these tax returns will not 
result in material corrections to the consolidated financial statements that would 
require the constitution of any provisions for tax.

(d) Fair value of financial instruments
When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated 
balance sheet cannot be determined on active markets, it will be determined based on 
valuation techniques including discounted cash flows and other adequate techniques 
under the circumstances. The inputs for these techniques will be withdrawn, where 
possible, from market variables, but if not possible, a certain degree of judgement will 
be required to determine the fair value, including considerations on the liquidity risk, 
credit risk and volatility.

(e) Post-employment benefits
The assessment of responsibilities for retirement and health benefits granted to 
company employees is conducted on an annual basis, using actuarial studies drawn up 
by independent experts, based on actuarial assumptions associated with economic and 
demographic indicators. All the indicators that are used are specific to the countries 
where employee benefits are granted and include, among others:

°  Salary Growth Rate, Fund Yield Rate and Technical Interest Rate;

°  Mortality tables available for Portugal;

°  Future salary and pension increases based on expected future inflation rates for 
Portugal.

Changes in these assumptions may have a significant impact on liabilities.

(f) Development costs
Development costs are capitalised according to the accounting policy described in 
Note 3. Initial capitalisation of costs is based on management’s judgement that 
technological and economic feasibility is confirmed, usually when a product 
development project has reached a defined milestone according to an established 
project management model. In determining the amounts to be capitalised the Board 
of Directors makes assumptions regarding the expected cash flows which will be 
generated by the project, discount rates to be applied and the expected period of 
benefits.

(g) Impairment of accounts receivable
The credit risk of balances of accounts receivable is assessed on the date of each 
report, taking into account the debtor’s historical information and risk profile, as 
mentioned in paragraph 3.1.

Receivables are adjusted based on an assessment of estimated collection risks in 
existence on the balance sheet date, which may differ from the effective risk to be 
incurred in the future.
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(h) Provisions
The recognition of provisions includes determining the probability of future outflows 
and its reliable measurement.

These factors are often dependent on future events which are not always under the 
Group’s control, hence they may lead to significant adjustments in the future, via change 
in the assumptions used or the future recognition of provisions previously recorded 
as contingent liabilities.

(i) Provisions dismantling and restoring sites
Provisions for dismantling and removal of goods from the tangible fixed asset and for 
restoring the site depend on assumptions and estimates that make them sensitive to:

°  Expected cost to be incurred;

°  Foreseeable date for the occurrence of the costs;

°  Discount rate used in the discount of expected outflows.

3.4 - Changes in accounting policies
There were no changes in accounting policies in the year ended December 31, 2021.
 

4. CASH FLOWS
Caption Cash and Cash Equivalents in the Cash Flow Statement is made up as follows:

5. RELATED PARTIES

5.1 – Group entities
The Group is 100% owned by José de Mello Capital, S.A., where it presents its 
consolidated Financial Statements.

Cash  

Other bank deposits 

Bank overdrafts (Note 14.5) 

Bank deposits 

31/12/2031/12/21

 29 597 

 127 183 

 1 047 538 

 21 898 050 

 22 788 808 

 22 945 588 

 26 784 

 -   

 2 075 796 

 37 095 290 

 39 144 301 

 39 171 085 
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The subsidiaries included in the consolidation, their head offices and the proportion 
of capital held in them at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

These subsidiaries were fully consolidated according to the criteria described in Note 3.

In 2021, Renoeste signed a framework contract with two third parties (related to 
each other) that encompasses the purchase and sale of its properties and assets, as 
well as the hiring of its workers and the assignment of its contractual position in the 
concession contract that it maintains with the Portuguese State. The execution of 
this framework agreement is subject to preceding conditions that we believe will be 
verified in 2022.

The Company acquired Grupo Aguas Alfaro, one of the main Spanish operators in the 
wastewater treatment segment, a company headquartered in Alfaro, in the province 
of Rioja, Spain. The Group offers a range of engineering, construction, operation and 
maintenance solutions for process and wastewater treatment, Legionella control, 
waste and sludge treatment, supply of chemical products, laboratory analysis and 
inspections, among others.

Effective control 2021 Effective control 2020% heldGroup Location

Parent company

68.49%

-

-

-

-

-

-

100%

-

-

-

-

-

100%

-

-

100%

100%

Bondalti Capital, S.A. (“B. Capital” )

Enkrott - Gestão e Tratamento de Águas, S.A. (“Enkrott SA”)

        Nutriquim - Produtos Químicos, S.A. (“Nutriquim”)

        Agua, Energia y Medioambiente, Servicios Integrales, S.L.U (“AEMA”)

Bondalti SGPS, S.A. (“B. SGPS”)

        Enkrott Madeira - Gestão e Tratamento de Águas, Lda. (“Enkrott Madeira”)

        Bondalti Cantabria, S.A. (“B. Cantabria”)

        Laboratorios Alfaro, S.L.U (“LABORATORIO ALFARO”)

Bondalti Chemicals, S.A. (“B. Chemicals”) e subsidiárias:

        Enkrott África - Gestão e Tratamento de Águas, Lda. (“Enkrott África”)

        Miralcalis - Ativos de Produção de Cloro S.A. (“Miralcalis”)

        Aguas Rioja Medioambiente, S.L.U (“AGUAS RIOJA”)

        Renoeste - Valorização de Recursos Naturais, S.A. (“Renoeste”)

        Enkrott España, S.L.U. (“Enkrott Espanha”)

Innovnano - Materiais Avançados, S.A. (“Innovnano”)

        Agua, Gestion y Tratamientos, Servicios Integrales, S.L. (“AGESMA”)

        Elnosa - Electroquímica del Noroeste, S.A. (“Elnosa”)

Grupo Aguas Alfaro, S.L.  (“AGUAS ALFARO”)

Dolopand - Investimentos Imobiliários e Turisticos, S.A. (“Dolopand”)

Lisbon

Sintra

Barreiro

Alfaro

Lisbon

Funchal

Torrelavega

Alfaro

Estarreja

Luanda

Porto Salvo

Alfaro

Pombal

Barcelona

Coimbra

Alfaro

Pontevedra

Alfaro

Porto Salvo

Parent company

71.22%

100%

100%

-

45.55%

100%

100%

100%

54.79%

100%

100%

100%

68.49%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

71.22%

100%

-

100%

45.55%

96% 

-

100%

54.79% 

80%

- 

100% 

68.49% 

100%

-

100%

-

100%
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The Subsidiaries included in the consolidation by the equity method, their registered 
offices and proportions of capital held on 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:  

Enkrott Química de Cabo Verde has been without activity in recent years.

5.2 – Transactions and balances between related parties
The nature of the relationship with related parties is as follows:

As of 31 December 2021, and 2020 balances with these entities were made up as 
follows:

Effective control 2021 Effective control 2020% heldAssociates Location

-

-

AQP - Aliada Quimica Portugal, Lda (“AQP”)

Enkrott Quimica Cabo Verde

Estarreja

Cidade da Praia

49.9%

34.25%

49.9%

34.25%

José de Mello Capital, S.A.

Imposto Sobre o Rendimento (ID)

GUIMARÃES DE MELLO, LDA.

EFACEC Energia, Maquinas 
e Equipamentos, S.A.

HOSPITAL CUF-ISU

M DADOS - Sistema de Informação, S.A.

Sociedade Agricola D. Dinis, S.A.

EFACEC Engenharia e Sistemas S.A.

SAGIES - Segurança, Higiene 
e Saúde no Trabalho, S.A.

Nature of relationship 
(services it provides / 

transactions it provides)
Related party 

Nature of relationship 
(services received / 

transactions it receives)

Bond loan / loan

Information services Equipment 
maintenance

Consultancy services

Sale of transformers

Medical benefits

Sale of office material and 
fixed assets

Internal events

Engineering services

Occupational medicine 
services

José de Mello Capital, S.A.

EFACEC Energia, Maquinas e Equipamentos, S.A.

EFACEC Engenharia e Sistemas S.A.

HOSPITAL CUF-ISU

SAGIES - Segurança, Higiene e Saúde no Trabalho, S.A.

ATM - Assistência Total em Manutenção, S.A.

GUIMARÃES DE MELLO, LDA.

M DADOS - Sistema de Informação, S.A.

Sociedade Agricola D. Dinis, S.A.

Sales / ServicesCompanies Purchases Goods / 
Services

-

-

-

-

-

 231 417 

-

-

-

 231 417 

 4 512 

 153 384 

 15 603 

 12 809 

 10 360 

-

 933 315 

 186 053 

 13 685 

 1 325 209 

2021
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As of 31 December 2021, and 2020, balances with these entities were made up as 
follows:

José de Mello Capital, S.A.

EFACEC Energia, Maquinas e Equipamentos, S.A.

HOSPITAL CUF-ISU

SAGIES - Segurança, Higiene e Saúde no Trabalho, S.A.

ATM - Assistência Total em Manutenção, S.A.

GUIMARÃES DE MELLO, LDA.

M DADOS - Sistema de Informação, S.A.

Sociedade Agricola D. Dinis, S.A.

Sales / ServicesCompanies Purchases Goods / 
Services

-

-

-

-

 229 097 

-

-

-

 229 097 

 4 131 

 29 454 

 82 446 

 4 893 

-

 970 725 

 191 318 

 13 915 

 1 292 751 

2020

Loan Suppliers

LiabilitiesAssets

Other debts 
payableCompanies Clients

31/12/21

4 980 763
 - 

 - 

 - 

 -
 -

-

 -

4 980 763

José de Mello Capital, S.A.

ATM - Assistência Total em Manutenção, S.A.
EFACEC Energia, Maquinas e Equipamentos, 
S.A.
GUIMARÃES DE MELLO, LDA.Equipamentos, 
S.A.
HOSPITAL CUF-ISU

M DADOS - Sistema de Informação, S.A.
SAGIES - Segurança, Higiene e Saúde no Trabalho, 
S.A.
Sociedade Agricola D. Dinis, S.A.

 -   
 25 625 

 -   

 -   

 -   
 3 729 

 -   

 -   

29 354

 61 180 000 
-

-

-

-
-

-

-

61 180 000

 468 
-

 836 

 202 833 

 7 482 
 7 293 

 184 

 11 433 

230 529

Loan Suppliers

LiabilitiesAssets
Other debts 

payableCompanies Clients

31/12/20

 2 502 264

 - 

 - 

 - 

 -

 -

-

 -

 2 502 264

José de Mello Capital, S.A.

ATM - Assistência Total em 
Manutenção, S.A.

EFACEC Energia, Maquinas e 
Equipamentos, S.A.

GUIMARÃES DE MELLO, LDA.
Equipamentos, S.A.

HOSPITAL CUF-ISU

M DADOS - Sistema de Informação, 
S.A.

SAGIES - Segurança, Higiene e Saúde no 
Trabalho, S.A.

Sociedade Agricola D. Dinis, S.A.

 -   

 36 446 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 3 729 

 -   

 -   

 40 175 

 61 180 000 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

61 180 000

-

-

 2 927

 202 833 

 229 

 12 679 

 184 

 10 735 

 229 587
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6. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
The gross recorded amount and any cumulative depreciation and impairment losses 
and the reconciliation of the recorded amount for the beginning and end of the period, 
separately showing increases, revaluations, disposals, assets held for sale, amortisation, 
impairment losses and respective reversals and other changes, are specified in the 
following table:

Land and natural 
resources

Buildings 
and other 

constructions

Basic 
equipment

Total tangible 
assets

Transport 
equipment

Administrative 
equipment

Other fixed 
assets

Investments in 
progress

Advanced 
payment

 Cost: 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

    Write-downs 

    Transfers 

 01 January 2020 

    Other reclassifications 

 31 December 2020 

    Disposals 

    Increases 

    Transfers 

    Increases 

    Write-downs 

    Impairment 

    Disposals 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

 31 December 2021 

636 714 

-

-

2 269 595 

-

2 906 629 

-

320 

-

11 954 

-

-

-

120 118 

3 038 701 

4 365 091 

(2 094 841)

89 541 

40 842 871 

(4 625 936)

51 725 166 

-

354 270 

12 909 037 

16 965 

(1 801 164)

-

(25 325)

936 501 

50 967 009 

656 113 

(14 186 202)

1 746 913 

326 592 530 

(12 402 639)

354 390 763 

-

6 928 931 

48 163 020 

5 720 014 

(5 140 800)

(79 975)

(1 281 014)

2 716 758 

359 433 647 

2 737 686 

(17 107)

32 025 

704 362 

(6 653)

3 418 288 

(170 245)

- 

-

51 641 

-

-

-

1 190 802 

4 522 512 

797 657 

(269 958)

131 924 

3 735 817 

(1 769)

4 371 236 

(372)

76 148 

33 340 

181 747 

(192 318)

-

-

685 278 

5 177 495 

172 138 

(672 772)

105 332 

2 675 844 

(91 800)

2 123 998 

(924)

73 395 

53 672 

161 503 

(188 378)

2 083 

(88 563)

612 176 

2 813 707 

8 421 

-

(2 105 734)

56 642 252 

3 668 196 

2 561 439 

-

2 851 748 

(60 609 178)

4 673 852 

-

-

-

-

5 129 558 

-

-

-

553 277 

-

-

-

- 

(553 277)

-

-

-

-

-

-

9 373 821 

(17 240 879)

-

434 016 548 

(13 460 602)

421 497 519 

(171 541)

10 284 811 

(3 385)

10 817 676 

(7 322 660)

(77 892)

(1 394 902)

6 261 633 

431 082 628 
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As shown in table above, depreciation for the period totalled € 18 923 thousand 
(2020: € 17 910 thousand) and cumulative depreciation and impairments at the end of 
the period totalled € 301 409 thousand (2020: € 285 624 thousand).

Land and natural 
resources

Buildings 
and other 

constructions

Basic 
equipment

Total tangible 
assets

Transport 
equipment

Administrative 
equipment

Other fixed 
assets

Investments in 
progress

Advanced 
payment

 Amortization and Impairment: 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

    Depreciation (Note 27) 

    Write-downs 

 01 January 2020 

    Disposals 

    Previous years correction 

 31 December 2021 

    Depreciation (Note 27) 

    Write-downs 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

    Previous years correction 

 31 December 2020 

    Disposals 

 Net carrying amount: 

 At 31 December 2021 

 At 31 December 2020 

 At 01 January 2020 

- 

-

-

219 308 

-

-

219 308 

- 

-

-

-

219 308 

- 

2 819 393 

2 687 320 

2 050 287 

2 041 498 

1 055 588 

(1 787 267)

32 957 284 

(22 511)

-

31 764 334 

1 078 714 

(2 094 841)

504 403 

(1 968 534)

31 991 610 

-

19 202 675 

19 733 556 

7 885 587 

531 389 

17 434 789 

(5 146 122)

253 055 978 

(1 281 014)

(34 540)

259 256 890 

16 503 550 

(12 451 776)

2 045 182 

(11 400 547)

244 957 580 

- 

100 176 758 

109 433 182 

73 536 551 

2 059 537 

169 569 

- 

611 335 

- 

- 

3 525 558 

79 045 

(17 107)

786 807 

(6 653)

2 726 156 

(156 975)

996 954 

692 132 

93 028 

618 647

125 573 

(192 318)

3 533 835 

- 

- 

4 354 573 

92 507 

(211 022)

448 118 

(60 623)

3 973 345 

(145)

822 923 

397 892 

201 982 

169 593 

137 047 

(188 378)

2 274 410 

(88 563)

- 

2 288 241 

156 354 

(731 708)

584 654 

(24 245)

1 755 842 

(924)

525 466 

368 156 

401 434 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

5 129 558 

2 561 439 

56 642 252 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

- 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

553 277 

5 420 663 

18 922 565 

(7 314 084)

292 652 151 

(1 392 088)

(34 540)

301 408 903 

17 910 170 

(15 506 453)

4 369 164 

(13 460 602)

285 623 842 

(158 044)

129 673 725 

135 873 678 

141 364 397 
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7. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Investment property is property held (by the owner or by the lessee under a finance 
lease) to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, an investment 
property generates cash flows largely independent from the other assets held by 
the entity, which are whether occupied by Group companies or held for use in the 
production or supply of goods or services or determined as for short-term sale in the 
ordinary course of business.

As described in paragraph 3.1-b), the Company adopts the cost model to evaluate its 
investment property.

The gross recorded amount and any cumulative depreciation and impairment losses 
and the reconciliation of the recorded amount for the beginning and end of the period, 
separately showing increases, revaluations, disposals, assets held for sale, amortisation, 
impairment losses and respective reversals and other changes, are specified in the 
following table:

As shown in table above, depreciation for the period totalled € 46 thousand 
(2020: € 47 thousand) and cumulative depreciation at the end of the period totalled 
€ 2 090 thousand (2020: € 1 967 thousand).

Land and 
natural 

resources

Buildings 
and other 

constructions

Total 
Investment 

property

 20 703 822 

 (52 190)

 20 651 632 

 779 395 

 (112 347)

 21 318 680 

 Cost: 

 01 January 2020 

    Disposals 

 31 December 2020 

    Acquisition of Subsidiary 

    Disposals 

 31 December 2021 

 

 18 365 482 

 (52 190)

 18 313 292 

 155 246 

 (26 948)

 18 441 590 

 

 2 338 339 

 -   

 2 338 339 

 624 150 

 (85 399)

 2 877 090 

Land and 
natural 

resources

Buildings 
and other 

constructions

Total 
Investment 

property

 1 919 985 

 46 589 

 1 966 574 

 45 603 

 149 403 

 (71 087)

 2 090 492 

 

 

 19 228 188 

 18 685 058 

 18 783 837 

 Amortization and Impairment: 

 01 January 2020 

    Depreciation (Note 27) 

 31 December 2020 

    Depreciation (Note 27) 

    Discontinued operations (Note 9) 

    Disposals 

 31 December 2021 

 

 Net carrying amount: 

 At 31 December 2021 

 At 31 December 2020 

 At 01 January 2020 

 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

 

 

 18 441 590 

 18 313 292 

 18 365 482 

 

 1 919 985 

 46 589 

 1 966 574 

 45 603 

 149 403 

 (71 087)

 2 090 492 

 

 

 786 598 

 371 765 

 418 355 
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
The gross recorded amount and any cumulative amortisation and the reconciliation 
of the recorded amount for the beginning and end of the period, separately showing 
increases, disposals, assets held for sale, amortisation, impairment losses and other 
changes, are shown in the following table:  

Development 
projects Software Industrial 

property
Emission 

allowances Other 
Total 

intangible 
assets

 Cost: 

    Use of emission allowances 

 31 December 2020 

    Use of emission allowances 

 01 January 2020 

    Changes in fair value 

    Allocation of emission allowances 

    Changes in fair value 

    Acquisitions 

    Transfers 

    Acquisitions 

    Transfers 

    Write-downs 

    Impairment 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

    Disposals 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

 31 December 2021 

-

 2 045 031 

-

 2 038 693 

-

-

-

-

 (9 620)

 184 687 

-

 (9 620)

 9 620 

 15 958 

-

 1 040 253 

 3 269 972 

 -   

 1 372 429 

-

 1 068 942 

-

-

-

 148 925 

 (13 874)

 32 658 

 1 780 

 (2 983)

 2 983 

 168 436 

-

 653 859 

 2 060 725 

-

 193 766 

-

 124 177 

-

-

-

 5 437 

-

-

-

-

-

 107 652 

 (43 500)

 2 077 

 195 842 

 (657 701)

 1 743 428 

 (875 163)

 2 682 791 

 502 658 

 4 030 864 

 810 789 

- 

-

 6 387 

 (316 126)

-

-

-

 (784 320)

 -   

 5 400 179 

-

 526 415 

-

 526 415 

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

 (144 693)

 (333 736)

-

-

-

 47 985 

 (657 701)

 5 881 068 

 (875 163)

 6 441 018 

 502 658 

 4 030 864 

 810 789 

 154 362 

 (23 494)

 223 732 

 (314 346)

 (157 296)

 (321 133)

 292 045 

 (827 820)

 1 696 189 

 10 974 703 
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As shown in table above, depreciation for the period totalled € 2 421 thousand 
(2020: € 1 103 thousand) and cumulative depreciation at the end of the period totalled 
€ 6 230 thousand (2020: € 4 580 thousand).

Development 
projects Software Industrial 

property
Emission 

allowances Other 
Total 

intangible 
assets

 Amortization and Impairment: 

    Transfers 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

    Impairment 

 01 January 2020 

    Write-downs 

    Other reclassifications 

 31 December 2021 

    Amortisation (Note 27) 

 31 December 2020 

    Transfers 

 

 Net carrying amount: 

 At 31 December 2021 

    Acquisition of subsidiary 

    Amortisation (Note 27) 

    Write-downs 

 At 31 December 2020 

 At 01 January 2020 

 (9 620)

 286 764 

 9 620 

 2 014 196 

-

-

 2 331 795 

 24 497 

 2 045 031 

-

 

 938 177 

 15 958 

-

 (9 620)

-

 24 497 

 (17 259)

 616 296 

 2 983 

 880 210 

-

 (118)

 1 893 405 

 119 634 

 1 145 173 

-

 

 

 167 320 

 162 588 

 132 055 

 (2 983)

 227 255 

 188 732 

-

 2 077 

-

 6 758 

-

 (135)

 97 532 

 10 059 

 81 720 

-

 98 311 

 64 903 

 13 869 

 -   

 112 045 

 117 419 

-

 -   

-

 638 293 

 (805 104)

 -   

 1 859 309 

 948 572 

 781 761 

 (316 126)

 

 3 540 869 

-

 2 274 640 

 (880 965)

 961 668 

 2 044 498 

-

 -

 (333 736)

 526 415 

-

-

 47 985 

-

 526 415 

-

-

-

-

 (144 693)

-

-

 (26 879)

905 136 

 (321 133)

4 065 871 

 (805 104)

 (253)

 6 230 026 

 1 102 763 

 4 580 100 

 (316 126)

 

 4 744 677 

 243 449 

 2 420 564 

 (1 038 261)

 1 300 968 

 2 375 147 
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9. EQUITY HOLDINGS 
The Group’s equity holdings at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are made up as follows:

9.1 - Investment in associates
Associate companies consolidated according to the equity method, their results and 
the proportion of capital held in them are as follows:

 Equity method 

 Investments in Associates (Note 9.1) 

31/12/2031/12/21

 1 023 517 

 1 023 517 

 

 1 066 502 

 1 066 502 

 Other methods 

 Non listed shares (Note 9.2) 

 Investment in other Companies 

31/12/2031/12/21

 9 782 

 61 224 

 71 006 

 

 9 533 

 157 795 

 167 328

Equity Net 
Income % 31/12/20 31/12/21

Equity method

 AQP 

Other 

 2 278 536

 -  

 2 278 536 

 397 288

 (6 151)

 391 137 

49.9

-

 1 060 034

 6 468

 1 066 502

 1 014 088

 9 429

 1 023 517
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Changes occurred during the year in associated companies measured by the equity 
method are as follows:

9.2 - Equity Holdings – other methods

Balance at 
01 January 2021

Balance at 
01 January 2020

   Acquisition 
of subsidiary

   Acquisition 
of subsidiary

Net income 
(Note 20)

Net income 
(Note 20)

Dividend 
distribution

Dividend 
distribution

Changes 
in Equity

Changes 
in Equity

Balance at 
31 December 2021

Balance at
31 December 2020

 AQP - Aliada Quimica Portugal, Lda 

 AQP - Aliada Quimica Portugal, Lda 

 Other 

  Other  

 1 060 034 

 971 250 

 6 468 

10

 1 066 502 

 971 260 

-

-

-

 7 811 

-

-

 397 288 

 443 234 

 (6 151)

 (1 353)

 391 137 

 441 881 

 (443 234)

 (354 450)

-

-

 (443 234)

 (354 450)

-

-

 9 112 

-

-

-

 1 014 088 

 1 060 034 

 9 429 

 6 468 

 1 023 517 

 1 066 502 

31/12/21 31/12/20

 Erase - Emp. Regeneração de Águas e Solos de Estarreja, ACE 

 Ynvisible Interactive Inc. 

 Other 

 

 Amortization for losses in securities and other applications 

 9 228

 61 224 

 13 954 

 84 406 

 (13 400)

  71 006 

 9 228

 157 795 

 13 705 

 180 728 

 (13 400)

 167 328 
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10. GOODWILL

10.1 - Reconciliation of amount recorded as goodwill
The positive consolidation differences recorded in assets, the acquisition cost, and 
the percentage value of the equity of subsidiaries and associates as of acquisition 
date, are as follows:

11. INVENTORIES

11.1 - Inventories
The total carrying value of inventories, and the carrying value in appropriate 
classifications, are shown on the following table:

The amounts of inventories recognised as expenses for the period are as follows:

10.2 - Additional information concerning business combinations
In 2021 Bondalti SGPS was merged with Bondalti Capital with no impact for the Group.

Year 
of acquisition Acquisition cost % Equity purchased Opening purchase 

difference
Cumulative 

amortisation
Closing purchase 

difference

 MIRALCALIS 

 DOLOPAND 

 GRUPO AGUAS ALFARO  

2021

2016

2021

 5 139 230 

 1 000 

 10 291 577 

 20 

 100 

 100 

 139 230 

 611 

 4 418 631 

 4 558 472 

 (2 321)

 (51)

 (257 753)

 (260 125)

 136 910 

 560 

 4 160 878 

 4 298 347 

31/12/21 31/12/20

 Goods 

 Raw materials, subsidiary materials and consumables 

 Finished and intermediate products 

 Products and works in progress 

 4 608 110 

 17 411 203 

 4 699 256 

 1 449 084 

 28 167 653 

 4 067 543 

 14 556 311 

 4 204 778 

 -   

 22 828 632 
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11.2 - Variation in production

11.3 - Cost of goods sold

11.4 - Impairment of Inventories
Inventory adjustment and reversal amounts recognised as expenses during the period 
and as expense reductions during the period are shown on the following table:

12. STATE AND OTHER PUBLIC ENTITIES
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 this caption was made up as follows:

Finished and 
intermediate 

products

Products and work 
in progress Total

 5 286 411
 (977 963)

 6 090 
 (109 761)

 4 204 778 

 4 204 778 
 455 355 
 1 120 422 
 367 786 

 6 148 341 

 Balance at 01 January 2020 

     Adjustments 

     Impairment 

     Increase/decrease for the year 

 Balance at 31 December 2020 

 Balance at 01 January 2021 

 Adjustments 

 Change in the consolidation perimeter 

 Increase/decrease for the year 

 Balance at 31 December 2021 

 5 286 411 
 (977 963)

 6 090 
 (109 761)

 4 204 778 

 4 204 778 
 455 355 

 
 39 123 

 4 699 256 

 -
-
-
-
-

-
-

 1 120 422 
 328 663 

 1 449 084 

Goods
Raw materials, 

subsidiary materials 
and consumables

Total

 15 050 372 
 130 836 599 

-
 2 123 519 

 18 623 855 
 129 386 636 

 18 623 855 
 275 923 196 

-
 641 826 

 22 019 313 
 273 169 564 

 Balance at 01 January 2020 
     Procurement 

     Impairments 

     Correction of inventories 

 Balance at 31 December 2020 

 Balance at 01 January 2021 
     Procurement 

     Impairments 

     Correction of inventories 

 Balance at 31 December 2021 

 980 414 
 8 241 021 

-
-

 4 067 543 
 5 153 892

 4 067 543 
 16 447 181 

-
-

 4 608 110 
 15 906 614 

 14 069 958 
 122 595 578 

-
 2 123 519 

 14 556 311 
 124 232 744 

 14 556 311 
 259 476 016 

-
 641 826 

 17 411 203 
 257 262 950 

 Reversal of impairment losses: 

     Finished and intermediate products 

     Goods 

20202021

-

-

-

 

6 090

 6 090

-

 Accounts receivable 

     VAT 

 Accounts payable 

     Income tax 

     Income tax withheld 

     VAT 

     Payments to Social Security 

     Income tax 

31/12/2031/12/21

 -

 40 135 

 393 933 

 2 437 977 

 584 583 

 3 456 629 

-

 

 1 505 525 

 -   

 332 711 

 -   

 434 343 

 767 053 

 109 027 
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13. DEFERRALS

13.1 - Expenses to recognise
At 31 December 2021 and 2020 the expenses to be recognised had the following 
breakdown:

Caption Financial Expenses concern the accounting of amortised cost relating to the 
loan contracted at Bondalti Chemicals in 2020.

13.2 - Income to recognise
Recognisable income is as follows:

Caption Other Income to recognise comprises € 320 thousand from the sale of 
equipment belonging to Innovnano.

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
 
Measurement bases and other accounting policies used in the accounting of financial 
statements that are relevant for an understanding of the financial statements are 
described in sub paragraphs h), m) and o) of paragraph 3.1.

Assets headings:

Liabilities headings:

 Expenses to be recognised 

   Financial expenses 

   Other 

   Insurance 

31/12/2031/12/21

 1 616 688 

 424 104

 2 406 500

 365 708 

 

 1 905 327 

 343 901 

 2 328 877

 79 648 

 Income to be recognised 

   Ongoing projects 

   Other deferred income 

   Surface rights 

31/12/2031/12/21

 89 413 

 320 000 

 903 963 

 494 550 

 

-

 264 961 

 793 461 

 528 500 

 Non current 

 Current 

    Clients (Note 14.2) 

    Other trade receivables (Note 14.2) 

  

    Other financial assets (Note 14.1) 

31/12/2031/12/21

 62 472 073 
 

 68 984 069 

 4 202 026 

 73 186 095 

 62 472 073 

 

 61 244 774
 

 32 808 645 

 2 880 102 

 35 688 747 

 61 244 774 

 

Non current

   Other debts payable (Note 14.4) 

Current

   Suppliers (Note 14.3)

   Advances from clients

   Loans (Note 14.5)

   Other debts payable (Note 14.4)

   Loans (Note 14.5)

31/12/2031/12/21

 3 477 264 

 106 127 313 
 

 67 540 947 

 4 789 508 

 31 873 689 

 14 905 700 

 119 109 844 

 102 650 049 

 

 7 337 415 

 123 363 455 
 

 37 175 447 

 859 319 

 30 389 167 

 10 483 295 

 78 907 227 

 116 026 040 
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14.1 - Other financial assets
Financial assets for which impairment was recognised are indicated on the following 
tables, showing i) the accounting amount resulting from measuring at amortised cost 
and ii) accumulated impairment, separately for each of the classes:

Loans to group companies concern the subscription of bonds issued by José de Mello 
Capital, S.A., in the amount of € 61 180 000. These bonds accrue interest at normal 
market rates. 

Caption “Advances on account of investments” refers to a financial investment by the 
subsidiary AEMA in the facilities of a client.

Gross amount Cumulative impairment

31/12/21

Net amount Gross amount Cumulative impairment

31/12/20

Net amount

 Non current assets 

 Non current assets 

   Loans to other related parties 

   Other 

   Advances on account of investments

 

 61 180 000 

 97 740 

 62 472 073 

 1 194 333 

 

 

-

-

 -   

-

 

 

 61 180 000 

 97 740 

 62 472 073 

  1 194 333  

 

 

 61 180 000 

 64 774 

 61 244 774 

-

 

-

-

-

-

 

 

 61 180 000 

 64 774 

 61 244 774 

-
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14.2 - Clients and other accounts receivable
Financial assets for which impairment was recognised are indicated on the following 
tables, showing i) the accounting amount resulting from measuring at amortized cost 
and ii) accumulated impairment, separately for each of the classes:

Gross amount Cumulative impairment

31/12/21

Net amount Gross amount Cumulative impairment

31/12/20

Net amount

 Clients 

   Clients c/a 

 Other accounts receivable 

   Clients securities receivable 

   Personnel 

   Other doubtful receivables 

   Doubtful receivables 

   Accrued receivables and trade pay 

   Advanced payment to suppliers 

   

   Other receivables 

   Other receivables group (Note 5) 

 68 521 633 

 

 462 436 

 29 595 

 269 316 

 4 017 709 

 1 070 020 

 540 900 

 73 001 778 

 2 561 510 

-

 4 471 341 

 

-

 

-

-

 (269 316)

 (4 017 709)

-

-

 (4 017 709)

-

-

 (269 316)

 

 68 521 633 

 

 462 436 

 29 595 

-

-

 1 070 020 

 540 900 

 68 984 069 

 2 561 510 

-

 4 202 026 

 

 32 694 738 

 

 113 907 

 42 280 

 269 316 

 3 681 669 

 179 110 

 218 695 

 36 490 314 

 2 440 018 

-

 3 149 418 

 

-

-

 (269 316)

 (3 681 669)

-

-

 (3 681 669)

-

-

 (269 316)

 

 32 694 738 

 

 113 907 

 42 280 

-

-

 179 110 

 218 695 

 32 808 645 

 2 440 018 

-

 2 880 102 
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The amount of impairment losses recognised for each class of financial assets is as 
shown in the following tables:

Year 2021 Opening balance

Opening balance

Impairment (P&L)

Impairment (P&L)

Used and corrected

Used and corrected

Reversal (P&L)

Reversal (P&L)

Perimeter Change

Perimeter Change

Closing Balance

Closing Balance

 Financial assets measured at cost minus impairment 

   Clients 

      Doubtful receivables 

   Other accounts receivable 

      Other doubtful receivables 

 

 (3 681 669)

 (3 950 985)

 (269 316)

 

 

 (6 327)

 (6 327)

-

 

 

 (364 469)

 

 (364 469)

-

 

 

 99 991 

 

 99 991 

-

 

 (65 236)

 (65 236)

-

 

 

 (4 017 709)

 (4 287 025)

 (269 316)

Year 2020

 Financial assets measured at cost minus impairment 

   Clients 

      Doubtful receivables 

   Other accounts receivable 

      Other doubtful receivables 

 

 (2 380 534)

 (2 649 849)

 (269 316)

 

 

 (8 839)

 (8 839)

-

 

 

 (1 292 296)

 

 (1 292 296)

-

 

 

-

 

-

-

 

-

-

-

 

 

 (3 681 669)

 (3 950 985)

 (269 316)
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14.3 - Suppliers
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, caption Payable is made up as follows:

14.4 - Other debts payable
As of 31 December 2021, and 2020, caption Other Trade Payable was made up as follows:

Caption Suppliers of Capital Goods (non-current) includes a debt of Bondalti Cantabria, 
which will only be repaid within more than a year.

Other non-current debts payable refers to a payment to be made to the shareholders 
of the Alfaro Group, within a period of four years.

 Suppliers 

    Suppliers c/a Group (Note 5) 

    Suppliers securities receivable 

    Invoices being checked 

    Suppliers c/a 

31/12/2031/12/21

 230 529 

 1 921 647 

 9 719 469 

 67 540 947 

 55 669 301 

 

 229 587 

 1 637 464 

 4 448 549 

 37 175 447 

 30 859 847 

Invoices being checked 

   Supplies 

   Other debts payable 

 Current 

 Other debts payable 

   Personnel 

   Suppliers of investment  

   Accrued expenses 

     Holiday Pay and Holiday Bonus 

     Financial expenses  

     Insurance 

     Other accruals 

  Other debts payable 

  Other debts payable Group (Note 5) 

   Investment Providers 

31/12/2031/12/21

-

 2 000 000 

 3 477 264 

 

 

 29 881 

 3 334 855 

 

 1 912 690 

 12 232 

 563 

 2 566 099 

 2 068 618 

 4 980 763 

 14 905 700 

 18 382 964 

 1 477 264 

 

 4 700 000 

-

 7 337 415 

 

 

 21 351 

 2 839 354 

 

 1 846 154 

-

-

1 651 115

 1 623 057 

 2 502 264 

 10 483 295 

 17 820 710 

 2 637 415 
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The balance of the item Other accruals includes the anticipation of water resources 
and tributaries treatment fees, IMI and AIMI, € 422 thousand referring to the works at 
the Loulé mine that will be carried out in the coming years and € 1 738 thousand of the 
raw material hedging swap expenses.

The balance of caption Other Amounts Payable (Note 5) concerns the tax payable by 
the Group to José de Mello Capital, pursuant to RETGS.

14.5 - Loans
Caption Loans as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 is made up as follows:

Bank overdrafts refer to the subsidiary Bondalti Cantabria and the Enkrott Group and the 
escrow accounts and Financial Leases to the Enkrott Group and the Aguas Alfaro Group.

14.5.1. – Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Current and non-current financial liabilities measured at amortised cost and respective 
terms and conditions are as shown in the following table:

In 2019 Bondalti restructured its financial debt through a syndicated long-term loan 
with 8 banks, which allowed to refinance all its loans and set out conditions for new 
investments in the next few years. 

This refinancing assumes compliance with debt-to-equity ratios of at least 25% and 
net debt over EBITDA with a maximum of 4.0x. As of the closing of the year these ratios 
were met.  

Financing entity Current Non current

2021 2020

Current Non current

Bank loans at amortized cost 
(Note 14.5.1) 

 Bank loans at cost 

 Other AICEP loans 

 Bank overdrafts (Note 4) 

 Finance leases 

 Secured accounts 

 Factoring 

 Other Financiers

 25 000 000

 3 926 850 

-

 1 047 538 

 821 326 

 552 500 

 520 455 

 5 019 

 31 873 689 

 100 121 185 

 2 136 175 

-

-

 392 689 

-

-

-

 102 650 049 

 25 000 000 

 326 159 

 670 

 2 075 796 

 983 092 

 2 003 450 

-

-

30 389 167  

 115 000 000 

 1 017 051 

 1 676 

-

 7 313 

-

-

-

 116 026 040 

 Loans payable 

 Non current 

 Current 

    Bank loans 

    Bank loans 

       Retail banking 

         Retail banking 

Maturity Maturity2021 2020

  

  

  

  

  

30/06/27 30/12/26

30/06/27 30/12/26

  

  

  

  

  

 100 121 185  115 000 000 

 25 000 000 

 125 121 185 

 25 000 000 

 140 000 000 
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15.  PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND 
CONTINGENT ASSETS

The accounting policies adopted for the recognition of Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets are described in line  m) of paragraph 3.1.

15.1 - Provisions
The change occurred in provisions, according to provision, is as follows:

 At 01 January 2020 

   Reversals in the year 

   Increases for the year 

   Increases due to penalties

 At 31 December 2020 

 At 01 January 2021 

   Used in the year 

   Reversals in the year 

   Increases for the year 

   Increase purchased Entities 

 At 31 December 2021 

   Used in the year 

Other provisions

 12 275 512 

 (1 210 000)

 766 039 

 9 066 

 10 208 050 

 10 208 050 

 (2 369 736)

 (2 275 628)

 107 772 

 128 963 

 5 799 421 

 (1 632 567)
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Changes in the year were as follows: 

In February 2009, it was decided to discontinue all urea and ammonia production at 
subsidiary AP. In order to face liabilities stemming from the decision to discontinue this 
operation, a provision was set up in the amount of € 57 000 thousand. In past few years, 
this provision was reduced by € 52 000 thousand as all amounts due as severance 
pay, payments to suppliers following contract rescissions, dismantling operations and 

cleaning of land had already been settled. The amount available at 31 December 2021 
totalling € 5 000 thousand will be used to face any liabilities which may still arise out 
of the said discontinuing process.

At the beginning of the year subsidiary Elnosa had a provision set up in the amount of 
€ 1 849 thousand related to the decontamination of the land and the dismantling of 
the facilities, which was almost entirely used for this purpose (leaving € 94 thousand). 

Description

Description

Opening balance

Opening balance

Used in the year

Used in the year

Reversals in the year 
(P&L)

Reversals in the year 
(P&L)

Increases in the year 
(P&L)

Increases in the year 
(P&L)

TOTAL P&L

TOTAL P&L

Increase purchased 
Entities

Increase purchased 
Entities

Closing Balance

Closing Balance

 Provision of discontinuing operations 

 Provision of discontinuing operations 

 Provision Guarantees to Customers 

 Provision for restructuring 

 Provision for restructuring 

 Provision of other legal proceedings 

 Provision for other pending lawsuits 

 Other provisions 

 Other provisions 

 5 000 000

 5 000 000

 -   

 4 084 857 

 2 452 290 

-

 9 066 

 3 190 655 

 10 208 050 

 12 275 512 

 2 746 693 

 -   

 -   

 

 (1 632 567)

 (1 865 164)

 -   

 -  

 (2 369 736)

 (1 632 567)

 (504 571)

 -   

 -   

 

 -

 -   

 -   

 

 (1 210 000)

 (2 275 628)

 (1 210 000)

 (2 275 628)

 -   

 -   

 

- 

 

 -

 2 442 

 766 039 

 107 772 

 766 039 

 105 330 

 -

 -

-

-

-

-

 2 442 

 (443 961)

 (2 167 856)

 (443 961)

 (2 170 298)

-

-

 5 000 000 

 5 000 000 

 23 213 

-

 23 213 

 2 452 290 

-

 9 066 

 587 126 

 9 066 

-

-

 11 508 

 2 746 693 

 128 963 

 9 066 

 5 799 421 

 10 208 050 

 105 750  177 574 

2021

2020
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A provision with an amount of € 1 150 thousand was also set up for Nutriquim in 2013 
to cover the company’s dismantling plan. However, during recent years, part of the 
provision was used to cover costs for the purpose. The remaining amount as of 31 
December 2021 is of € 493 thousand.

16. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
 
16.1 – Employees benefits 
The reconciliation between opening and closing balances of the current value of these 
obligations is shown in the following table:

16.2 - Post-employment benefits (Defined Benefit Retirement Pension Plan)
The Group’s accounting policy concerning the recognition of actuarial gains and losses 
relating to post-employment benefits pursuant to Defined Benefit Plans is described 
in sub-paragraph m.1) of paragraph 3.1. 

The Group has commitments with some of its former and current employees with 
whom it assumed this responsibility to complement the retirement pensions for old 
age, disability, and survival.

Total

 2 993 889 

 18 496 

 (216 088)

 495 669 

 3 291 965 

 20 026 

 (501 798)

 (164 424)

 2 645 769 

Liability for defined benefits 
at 01 January 2020 

   Interest expenses 

   Benefits paid 

   Actuarial (gains) / losses 

Liability for defined benefits at 31 
December 2020 

   Interest expenses 

   Benefits paid 

   Actuarial (gains) / losses 

Liability for defined benefits at 31 
December 2021 

Medical 
benefit 

plan 
(no Fund set up)

 364 039 

-

 111 352 

-

 475 391 

-

 (208 995)

-

 266 397 

Defined 
retirement 

benefit plan (no 
fund set up)

 2 629 850 

 18 496 

 (327 441)

 495 669 

 2 816 574 

 20 026 

 (292 804)

 (164 424)

 2 379 373 

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  ANNEXES

Bondalti Capital, S.A. (amounts in Euro)

Addressees Location TypeCompany Name of Plan

 Defined benefit - 
Pension supplement for 

old age, disability and 
survival 

 Defined benefit - 
Healthcare plan without 

provided fund 

Bondalti 
Chemicals
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 Healthcare Plan 

 Some of 
the former 

and present 
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 Some of 
the former 
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 Portugal 

 Portugal 
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The Group uses the Projected Unit Credit method and the following assumptions and 
technical bases in 2021 and 2020:

Although it did not set up any fund or insurance to cover this responsibility, the Group 
set up a provision for the purpose, which is adjusted according to an actuarial valuation 
carried out by a specialised and independent firm.

Companies included in the consolidation perimeter at 31 December 2021 and 2020 
were subject in reference to this date, to an actuarial report prepared by Actuariado - 
Estudos Actuariais, Económicos e Financeiros. The current value of liabilities for past 
services and retirement pensions at the date of the balance sheet is estimated at € 2 
379 thousand in 2021 and € 2 817 thousand, in 2020; the liability for post-employment 
benefits was adjusted accordingly.

16.3 - Healthcare benefits
The Group is also liable for the costs of hospitalization, appointments, and surgery, 
according to the Company’s regulations and an agreement in force with the CUF Infante 
Santo Hospital, as well as for the part of drugs not reimbursed by the National Health 
Service (only drugs reimbursed by the National Health Service) for some of its former 
and current employees, with whom this responsibility has been assumed.

This Company has not set up any fund or insurance to cover this responsibility, 
however it did set up a provision for the purpose, which is adjusted according to an 
actuarial valuation made by Actuariado - Estudos Actuariais, Económicos e Financeiros. 
According to the assessment report that was submitted, the current value of medical 
liabilities for former Bondalti Chemicals employees, at 31 December 2021, is estimated 
at € 266 thousand (€ 475 thousand at 31 December 2020), and is included under the 
“Post-employment Benefits Responsibilities” caption.

16.4 – Personnel expenses
Personnel expenses were as follows:

 Remuneration of Governing Bodies 

 Wages 

 Retirement benefits 

    Retirement pension plans 

 Occupational insurance 

 Indemnities 

 Social security expenses 

 Other personnel expenses 

 Wage expenses 

2020

 3 173 205 

 12 727 062

 562 697 

 201 525 

 889 836 

 1 334 917 

 298 377 

 22 390 419 

 3 202 801 

2021

 3 332 058 

 17 740 680 

 21 189 

 306 852 

 728 070 

 1 083 377 

 411 798 

 28 101 108 

 4 477 084 

 Salary growth rate for Social Security Responsibility 

 Salary growth rate 

 Rate of return of the fund 

 Pension growth rate 

 Mortality table 

 Technical rate (life rents) 

 Disability table 

 Revaluation of salaries for Social Security 

2020

2%

2%

0.75%

0%

TV 88/90

0.75%

EKV80

1%

2021

2%

2%

0.75%

0%

TV 88/90

0.75%

EKV80

1%
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During 2021 and 2020 the average number of employees at the Group was of 689 and 
541, respectively, as follows:

17. EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

17.1 - Share capital
The Company’s share capital at 31 December 2021 and 2020 was made up of 4 084 400 
fully subscribed and paid up shares with a nominal value of € 5 each.

17.2 - Reserves and Results
Amounts of retained earnings are  available for distribution.

The Net Profit for the year 2020, in the amount of € 14 543 196.07 was appropriated 
as follows:
Legal Reserve: € 32 069.04
Dividends: € 6 000 000.00
Retained earnings: € 8 511 127.03

17.3 – Adjustments/Other changes in equity
The amounts resulting from changes in the fair value of hedging instruments recognised 
in equity during the period, for the purpose of hedging the interest rate risk of the loans 
contracted for the Capacity Expansion Plan, and other risks are as follows:

Changes in issuing rights are as follows:

(Including 5 remunerated directors, in 2020 and 2021, respectively)

 Grupo Bondalti Chemicals 

 Bondalti Capital 

 Grupo Enkrott  

 Grupo Aguas Alfaro 

Change

 15 

-

 (3)

 136 

 148 

20202021Corporate name

 298  313 

 60  60 

 183 180

- 136 

 541  689 

Change in assets 

     Equity holdings and 
associated companies 

    CO2 licences 

    AICEP subsidies (Note 18) 

    Other 

    Swap hedges  

31/12/19 31/12/20 31/12/21Changes in 
fair value

Changes in 
fair value

   

   

 1 605 436 

 5 702 934 

 2 835 809 

 766 242 

 4 275 066 

 2 726 128 

 2 836 252 

 2 311 152 

 2 982 345 

 -   - -

  

  

 (839 194)

 (1 427 867)

 (109 682)

 2 070 010 

 (1 963 915)

 256 217 

- -

 Balance at 1 January 

    Assignments (Note 8) 

    Acquisition (Note 8) 

    Used (Notes 23 and 31.1) 

    Transfers 

    Fair value (Note 31.1) 

 Balance at 31 December 

    Deferred taxation (Note 30) 

 Net balance at 31 December 

    Disposals (Note 8) 

31/12/20

 2 044 498 
-

-

 (948 572)

 147 403 

 502 658 

 961 668 
 (195 425)

 766 242 

 (784 320)

31/12/21

 961 668 
 4 030 864 

 6 387

 (2 268 545)

 (293)

 810 789 

 3 540 869 
 (704 618)

 2 836 252 

 -   
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17.4 - Non controlling interests
As of December 2021, and 2020, non-controlling interests related to the following 
subsidiaries:

The change in the non-controlling interests caption as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 
was as follows:

Proportion 
in net 

income

Proportion in 
Equity

31/12/21 31/12/20
Proportion 

in net 
income

Proportion in 
Equity

 Miralcalis 

 Enkrott 

 -   

 169 955 

 169 955 

 -   

 1 981 582 

 1 981 582 

 (124 889)

 101 542 

 (23 347)

 76 480 

 1 568 422 

 1 644 903 

 Opening balance 

 Appropriation of income for the year 

 Changes in the consolidation perimeter - Miralcalis 

 Adjustment 

 Closing Balance 

31/12/20

 201 369 

 (23 347)

 1 462 880 

 4 000 

 1 644 902 

31/12/21

 1 644 902 

 169 955 

 166 725 

 -   

 1 981 582 

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  ANNEXES

Bondalti Capital, S.A. (amounts in Euro)



GLOSSARY

116

TABLE OF CONTENTS

18.  SUBSIDIES AND OTHER FUNDING FROM PUBLIC 
ENTITIES

 
The nature and amount of the government subsidies recognised in the financial 
statements are  as follows:

Recognised in equity:

The main investment subsidy concerns the Expansion and Growth Plan and the amount 
of Other Debts payable to the associated deferred tax.

Recognised in income for the year:

Gross value Gross valueNet value Other debts payableOther debts payable Net value

 Opening balance 

    Received in the year 

    Transferred to profit and loss 

    Adjustment 

 Closing Balance 

 Attributable to the Group (Note 17.3) 

 

 5 493 331  7 344 721

 -    30 935 

 (2 223 335)  (1 882 326)

 (266 234)  -  

 3 003 762  5 493 331 

 4 275 066 

-

 (2 223 335)

 259 420 

 2 311 152 

 2 311 152 

 (1 641 787) (1 218 264)

--

--

 423 523 525 654

 (1 218 264) (692 610)

 5 702 934 

 30 935 

 (1 882 326)

 423 523

 4 275 066 

 4 275 066

20202021

 Investment subsidies (Note 23) 

 Operating subsidies 

2020

 1 882 326 

 69 117 

 1 951 443 

2021

 2 223 335 

 157 806 

 2 381 141 
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19. REVENUE
 
As of 31 December 2021, and 2020, item Sales and Services is broken down as follows:

Sales and services broken down by significant geographical market are as follows:

Gross margin is as shown in the following table:

As described in the management report, the increase in sales in 2021 is not only due 
to the increase in quantities sold but also to the increase in prices, whose formation 
mechanism is indexed to the price of various raw materials that in 2021 reached historic 
highs.

 Sales of Goods 

     Goods 

     Finished and intermediate products 

     By-products, waste, residues and refuse 

     Return of sales 

 Rendered services 

     Services 

     Discounts and reductions 

 

 

     Discounts and reductions to sales 

2020

 

 21 275 041 

 226 984 907 

 94 912 

 239 633 445 

 (617 330)

 

 3 575 976 

 (161 805)

 3 414 171 

 243 047 616 

 (8 104 085)

2021

 

 28 906 312 

 413 424 750 

 120 273 

 434 088 993 

 (732 347)

 

 10 283 670 

 (499 702)

 9 783 968 

 443 872 961 

 (7 629 995)

Rest of EuropePortugal

Portugal

Africa

Africa

2021

2020

Asia

Asia

Total

Total

America

America

 Sales of goods 

 Sales of goods 

 Rendered services 

 Rendered services 

167 272 946 

88 357 685 

237 757 122 

140 905 886 

1 398 161 

713 231 

8 362 710 

2 700 941 

168 671 107 

89 070 916 

246 119 832 

143 606 827 

1 343 561 

133 173 

23 097 

-

1 366 658 

133 173 

668 495 

1 905 624 

434 088 993 

239 633 445 

-

-

9 783 968 

3 414 171 

668 495 

1 905 624 

443 872 961 

243 047 616 

27 046 869 

8 331 076 

-

-

27 046 869 

8 331 076 

Rest of Europe

 Sales 

 Changes in production (Note 11.2) 

 Cost of goods sold (Note 11.3) 

2020

 239 633 445 

 (109 761)

 (129 386 636)

 110 137 048 

2021

 434 088 993 

 367 786 

 (273 169 564)

 161 287 216 
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20.  GAINS/LOSSES OF SUBSIDIATIES, ASSOCIATES AND 
JOINT VENTURES

 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

21. WORK FOR OWN ENTITY
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

Income and gains of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint 
Ventures 

      Application of the Equity Method (note 9.1) 

     Gains on business combinations 

Expenses and losses of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint 
Ventures 

     Others 

2020

 

 441 881 

 1 617 679 

 2 059 560 

 5 017 

 

 2 054 543 

 

 5 017 

2021

 

 397 288 

-

 397 288 

 6 151 

 

 391 137 

 

 6 151 

 Work of own company to: 

     Tangible fixed assets 

2020

 

 321 202 

 321 202 

2021

 

 229 126 

 229 126 
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The heading of specialized work includes € 1.5 million and € 375 thousand referring 
to specialized consultancy and legal work, respectively, essentially referring to new 
projects.

The significant increase in the electricity item, by around € 16 million, is due to the 
increasing price of the electricity market.

The increase in transport costs during the year and the increase in sales led to an 
increase of€ 6.2 million in the transport of goods item.

22. EXTERNAL SUPPLIES AND SERVICES
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

 Sub-contracts 

 Specialised services 

 Materials 

 Fuel 

 Specialised works 

 Tools and utensils 

 Water 

 Advertising costs 

 Books and technical documentation 

 Gas 

 Other fees 

 Other 

 Maintenance and repair 

 Energy and fluids 

 Other services 

 Electricity 

 Surveillance and Safety 

 Stationery 

 Other fluids 

 Fees 

 Promotional items 

2020

 105 207 

 

 

 2 675 553 

 3 771 945 

 27 240 

 978 884 

 140 910 

 53 182 

 

 48 743 

 150 149 

 4 387 918 

 

 2 325 050 

 23 074 519 

 630 246 

 255 464 

 938 360 

 213 157 

 10 790 

2021

 1 741 740 

 

 

 3 639 600 

 5 639 747 

 50 188 

 1 123 957 

 251 272 

 51 007 

 

 94 447 

 155 914 

 5 622 996 

 

 2 273 222 

 39 073 815 

 721 875 

 447 357 

 1 127 846 

 185 948 

 33 012 

 Sundry services 

 Rents and rentals 

 Consolidation corrections 

 Communication 

 

 Insurance 

 Representation fees  

 Cleaning, hygiene and comfort 

 Other 

 Royalties 

 Legal services 

2020

 

 3 288 017 

 (18 725)

 126 285 

 

 2 138 823 

 60 140 045 

 48 439 

 357 915 

-

 -   

 8 695 

2021

 

 3 637 935 

-

 243 818 

 2 356 441 

 89 788 322 

 67 144 

 393 486 

 17 691 

 -   

 9 668 

 Travelling and accommodation 

 Transport of personnel 

 Transport of goods 

 Other transports 

 Travelling, accommodation and transport 

 320 315 

 365 

 13 963 765 

 118 836 

 

 473 136 

 310

 20 182 220 

 172 528 
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23. OTHER INCOME
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

The Benefit of Non-Contractual Penalties, at Bondalti Capital, refers to the conclusion 
of a dispute in Spain of an affiliate sold in 2001 by Bondalti SGPS.

Gains from emission allowances concern the Portuguese Carbon Fund subsidy 
concerning the reduction of CO2 emissions in the amount of € 2 269 thousand.

 

24. OTHER EXPENSES
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

 Supplementary income 

     Equipment rental 

     Other 

     Other 

 Other 

 Prompt payment discounts obtained 

     Corrections relating to previous years 

 Income and Gains on Non Financial Investments 

     Excess of estimated tax  

     Tax refund 

     Disposals 

     Appropriation of investment subsidies 

     Operating exchange differences (Note 25) 

     Rents and other income on investment property  

     Gains on emission allowances 

     Other, non specified 

 Recovery of receivables 

     Benefits Contractual penalties

         Use of allowances (Note 17.3) 

 Gains on inventories 

     Indemnities of insurable events 

         Gains on the disposal of emission allowances 

2020

 

 374 324 

 46 200 

 1 549 852 

 

 30 

 63 539 

 

 148 418 

 75 119 

 707 034

 1 882 326 

 6 908

 3 666 

 

 270 256 

 7 464 823 

 -

- 

 948 572 

 767 

 472 932 

 914 880 

2021

 

 374 324 

 46 511 

 1 682 904 

 4 157 

 285 893 

 

 769 839 

 75 

 84 037 

 2 223 335 

 314 185 

 8 261 

 

 854 588 

 9 543 231 

 135 

 307 086 

 2 268 545 

 890 

 2 634 

 315 833 

 Tax 
 Prompt payment discounts granted 

     Donations 

 Irrecoverable debt 

     Contributions 

 Losses on inventories  

     Samples and offers of inventories 

     Write-downs 

     Penalties and fines 

 Others 

         Tax penalties  

     Corrections relating to previous years 

         Non tax penalties 

 Expenses and Losses on Non Financial Investments 

     Insufficiency of  estimated tax 

     Industrial Property Expenses 

     Disposals 

     Operating exchange differences (Note 25) 

     Other 

2020

 269 710 
 6 347 

 175 690 

 3 895 

 170 299 

 7 873 

 3 937 

-

 

 1 456 209 

 2 282 

 38 860 

 -

 64 585 

-

 2 911 

 77 409 

 632 412 

2021

 516 777 
 8 274 

 1 151 971 

 143 440 

 430 204

 76 685 

 140 

 53 

 

 3 902 181 

 

 424 

 246 418 

 561 

 

 -   

 8 468 

  2 053  

 1 094 323 

 222 391 
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Taxes reflect environmental levies, property, and similar taxes.

The amount of € 1 150 thousand under Donations, includes a donation of € 1 000 
thousand to Universidade Católica Portuguesa within the scope of a protocol signed 
between this university and the José de Mello Group. 

25. EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATES
 
The amount of foreign exchange differences recognised in the income statement is 
shown in the following table:

No changes have occurred in the operating currency or in relation to the parent 
company or any of its foreign businesses.

Favourable and unfavourable exchange rate differences arise exclusively from the 
depreciation of the US Dollar against the Euro resulting from the acquisition of raw 
materials.

 

26. INCREASE/DECREASE IN FAIR VALUE
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2021, this caption was made up as follows:

This variation results from the adjustment to the Fair Value of the Compensation Fund 
of the work and participation of Ynvisible Interactive Inc.

 Exchange gains included in: 

    Other Income and gains 

       Other operating exchange differences (Note 23) 

       Other operating exchange differences (Note 24) 

 

 Exchange gains included in: 

    Other expenses and losses 

2020

 

 

 6 908 

 6 908 

 77 409 

 77 409

 

2021

 

 

 314 185 

 314 185 

 1 094 323 

 1 094 323 

 

Balance P&L

2021 2020

Balance P&L

 Financial assets 

    Other financial assets -

-

 (96 570)

 (96 570)

-

-

 154 008 

 154 008 
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27.  EXPENSES/REVERSAL OF DEPRECIATION AND 
AMORTISATION

 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

28. INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

 Depreciation and Amortisation expenses 

    Investment property (Note 7) 

    Tangible fixed assets (Note 6) 

    Intangible assets (Note 8) 

    Goodwill

 

 Impairment of depreciable inventories 

    Tangible fixed assets (Note 6) 

2020

 

 46 589 

 17 910 170 

 1 102 763 

 361 

 77 892 
 19 137 776 

 19 059 883

 77 892 

2021

 

 45 603 

 18 922 565 

 2 420 564 

 260 125 

-
 21 648 857 

 21 648 857 

 -  

 Interest earned 
    On deposits 
 Other similar income 
    Raw material hedging swap 

    Other 

2020

 
 287 566 

 
 742 558 

 79 
 1 030 202 

2021

 
 170 855 

 
 7 112 
 715 

 178 682 

29. INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSES
 
At 31 December 2021 and 2020, this caption was made up as follows:

 Interest paid 

    Loans 

    Others

 Other financing expenses and losses 

    Commissions 

    Stamp duty on loans 

    Expenses with bank guarantees 

    Raw material hedging swap 

    Other 

2020

 

 3 903 493 

-

 

 127 482 

 3 676 

 2 050 

 6 174 

 54 010 

 4 096 886 

2021

 

 5 955 616 

 15 406 

 

 125 609 

 10 916 

 29 856 

 9 439 313 

 69 570 

 15 646 286 

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  ANNEXES

Costs of raw material hedging swaps correspond to non-speculative operations 
to mitigate the impact of price changes on the operational cash flows of Bondalti 
Chemicals.

Bondalti Capital, S.A. (amounts in Euro)



GLOSSARY

123

TABLE OF CONTENTS

30. INCOME TAX
 
Expenses (income) for current taxes are as follows:

Deferred and current income tax on the items debited or credited to equity are shown 
in the following table:

 Current tax 

    Corporate Income Tax for the year 

 Deferred tax 

     Originated and subject to reversal for temporary 
differences 

 

 

2020

 

 5 677 085 

 5 677 085 

 

 (2 332 299)

 (2 332 299)

 3 344 785 

2021

 

 9 046 108 

 9 046 108 

 

 (3 671 160)

 (3 671 160)

 5 374 948 

 Deferred tax 

    Net gains on the revaluation of tangible fixed assets 

        Recognised in revaluation reserves 

    CO2 licences subsidy 

2020

 

 

 2 964 439 

 195 425 

 3 159 864 

2021

 

 

 2 933 625 

 704 618 

 3 638 243 
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The amounts of deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet for 
each period shown according to each type of temporary difference and concerning 
each type of non-used tax losses and credit for non-used taxes are as follows:

2021

 59 939 

 535 359 
 1 287 467 

-
 541 549 

 3 744 005 

 670 805 
 275 618 

 7 114 742 

2021

 (47 024)

 (98 370)
 (461 435)

 (231 550)
 (103 540)
 3 183 289 

-
 1 075 618 
 3 316 987 

2021

-

-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

2020

 106 963 

 633 729 
 1 878 666 

 231 550 
 1 162 956 
 1 822 945 

 240 651 

 6 077 460 

2020

 25 054 

 42 013 
 (145 343)

 (1 370)
 (433 954)
 1 884 501 

 71 527 
 837 475 

 2 279 903 

2020

-

-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

 Deferred tax assets 

 Temporary differences: 

    Other 

 Tax benefits 

       Post employment benefits - healthcare 

       Post employment benefits - pensions 

       Provisions not considered for tax purposes 

       Impairments on inventories 

       Impairment of depreciable assets 

       Tax losses 

       Others 

Balance sheet items Profit & Loss items Other Equity items

2021

 2 933 625 

 704 618 
-

 305 573 
 3 943 816 

2021

 (30 814)

-
 (16 217)

 (307 142)
 (354 173)

2021

-

 509 192 
-

-
 509 192 

2020

 2 964 439 

 195 425 
-

 
 15 347 

 3 175 211 

2020

 (18 525)

-
-

 (33 871)
 (52 396)

2020

-

 (243 637)
-

-
 (243 637)

 Deferred tax liabilities 

 Temporary differences: 

    Transition adjustments to SNC 

       Revaluation of investment property 

       CO2 licence subsidy (Note 17.3) 

       Others 

 Other 

       Re-assessment of tangible fixed assets 

Balance sheet items Profit & Loss items Other Equity items
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31. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

31.1 - Environmental matters - Greenhouse gas emissions
The European Emissions Trading (ETC) is a mechanism for regulating greenhouse gas 
(GHG) emissions in activities that are responsible for about 45% of GHG emissions in 
the European Union, such as the burning of fuels, mineral oil refining, metallurgy, clinker, 
lime and glass production, ceramics, pulp and paper, chemicals, and aviation.

The global GHG emission limit set at EU level has been reduced over time. In the fourth 
period of implementation of the ETS (2021-2030) a linear reduction factor of 2.2% was 
introduced in the total amount of available emission allowances (instead of 1.74% in 
the period 2013-2020).

An emission allowance allows the emission of one ton of carbon dioxide (CO2) equivalent 
during a certain period. Obtaining emission allowances is, as a rule, done through an 
auction. The revenues generated by the auctions of emission allowances awarded to 
Portugal are part of the Environmental Fund.

Part of the emission allowances is allocated free of charge, as a transitional rule of this 
regime, namely, to avoid “carbon leakage” – the transfer of production to countries 
where the restrictions on emissions are less stringent. The production of electricity 
and the capture, transport and storage of carbon dioxide are excluded from the free 
allocation of emission allowances. The allocation of free emission allowances has been 
reduced and, with the exception of urban heating, will be eliminated by 2030.

During the year, emphasis was placed on environmental legal compliance, and on 
completing the process of awarding CO2 emission allowances for the period 2021-2030 
and identifying actions for environmental improvement. 

Bondalti Chemicals was granted 50 411 allowances for the 2021 financial year.

At this date, the APA - Portuguese Environment Agency - has not yet published the 
number of allowances that will be awarded in the remaining years (2022 2030) within 
the scope of the fourth period of implementation of the CELE.

 Allowances 

2021

 50 411 
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Changes in CO2 ton relating to greenhouse gas emission allowances during the year 
were as follows:

Emissions in 2021 totalled 28 380 tons, which in terms of allowances, gives rise to a 
positive differential in relation to the previous years of 67 536 ton, which will remain 
available for future use.

31.2 - Bank guarantees
As of 31 December 2021, the Company had liabilities for guarantees given, as follows:

The guarantee given to APA had to be readjusted due to new requirements.

The amount of € 74 282 corresponds to the guarantee required by the Municipal 
Council of Loulé concerning infrastructures for the real estate development located in 
Betunes, subject to Licence nr. 2/2002.

The two guarantees from the potential client Canal Isabel II were required to Bondalti 
Chemicals for public tenders for the supply of chlorine.

The surety bonds assumed this year are as follows:

Description Opening balance Attribution and 
purchase Disposals Transfers Used 

(Note 23)
Fair value 
(Note 17.3) Closing Balance

 Balance at 1 January 2021 

    Tons 

    Tons 

    Amount 

    Amount 

 Balance at 1 January 2020 

 

 53 578 

 109 457 

 961 668 

 2 044 498 

 

 52 053 

 4 037 251 

 

 -

 (32 000)

 -   

 (784 320)

 (9 715)

 3 007 

 (293)

 147 403 

 

 (28 380)

 (26 886)

 (2 268 545)

 (948 572)

 

-

-

 67 536 

  53 578 

 810 789 

 502 658 

 3 540 869 

 961 668 

 

Entities Amount

2021 2020

Amount

 Agência Portuguesa do Ambiente 

 Direcção Geral Energia e Geologia 

 

 Alfândega do Porto de Leixões, Freixieiro e Aveiro 

 Autoridad Portuaria de Vigo 

 Canal Isabel II, S.A. 

 Câmara Municipal de Loulé 

 Xunta de Galicia 

 Canal Isabel II, S.A. 

 21 122 

 14 964 

 369 721 

-

 24 500 

 136 553 

 74 282 

 6 500 

 91 800 

-

 14 964 

 181 026 

 91 780 

-

-

 74 282 

-

-

Entities Amount

2021 2020

Amount

 Autoridade Tributária e Aduaneira - Alfandega Aveiro 

 AdP - Águas de Portugal Serv Ambientais 

 Autoridade Tributária e Aduaneira - Alfandega Aveiro 

 

 Autoridade Tributária e Aduaneira - Alfandega Aveiro 

 200 000 

 36 343 

 75 000 

 386 343 

 75 000 

-

-

-

-

-
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31.3 Leases
31.3.1. Operating leases - the Group as lessee:
Operating leases in which the Group is lessee concern vehicles and premises. These 
leases do not have purchase option clauses.

The total amount of minimum future lease payments for operating leases assuming 
that existing ones will not be rescinded or renewed, is as follows:

31.4 – Other Guarantees, Securities and Mortgages
Pursuant to the loan agreement entered by Bondalti Chemicals in June 2019, to secure 
compliance with obligations thereof, the company entered mortgage on land property, 
pledge on equipment, pledge on bank accounts, pledge on shares of Elnosa and 
Bondalti Cantabria share capital, shares, and partners’ loans of Miralcalis and assigned 
claims and partners’ loans as security.

32. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 
No events have occurred since 31 December 2021 to this date that are not already 
adjusted and/or disclosed in the financial statements.

The effects of the current situation (at the time of conclusion of this report) with the 
recent invasion of Ukraine led to a huge rise in the prices of raw materials, with a special 
impact on the prices of electricity, natural gas, and fuel. Despite the great uncertainty 
regarding the duration, extent and impact associated with this circumstance, there is 
no prospect, as of today, of a break in the production and distribution chains that could 
jeopardize Bondalti’s ability to operate in its markets.
 
These financial statements were approved for issuing by the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors

João Maria Guimarães José de Mello

André Cabral Côrte-Real de Albuquerque

João Jorge Gonçalves Fernandes Fugas

João Pedro Ribeiro de Azevedo Coutinho

João Pedro Stilwell Rocha e Melo

Luís Augusto Nesbitt Rebelo da Silva

Luís Henrique Marcelino Alves Delgado

Vasco Luís José de Mello

The Statutory Auditor

Sónia Cristina José Camacho

Oeiras, 26 April 2022

 Up to 1 year 

 Over 1 year and up to 5 years 

 Over five years and up to 10 years 

2020

 2 744 148 

 9 538 147 

 13 789 653 

 26 071 948 

2021

 3 417 894 

 13 671 574 

 20 840 578 

 37 930 046 
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LEGAL CERTIFICATION OF ACCOUNTS
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Ernst & Young  
Audit & Associados - SROC, S.A. 
Avenida da República, 90-6º 
1600-206 Lisboa 
Portugal 

 Tel: +351 217 912 000  
Fax: +351 217 957 586 
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(Translation from the original document in the Portuguese language. 
In case of doubt, the Portuguese version prevails)  

Statutory Auditor’s Report 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Bondalti Capital, S.A. (the Group), which 
comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2021 (showing a total of 355,333,619 euros and a 
total equity of 113,346,865 euros, including a net profit for the year of 19,104,459 euros), the Consolidated 
Income Statement by Nature, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material 
respects, of the consolidated financial position of the Bondalti Capital, S.A. as at 31 December 2021, and of its 
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the 
Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards adopted in Portugal under the Portuguese Accounting System.  

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and other technical and 
ethical standards and guidelines as issued by the Institute of Statutory Auditors. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements ” section below. We are independent of the entities comprising the Group in accordance with the law 
and we have fulfilled other ethical requirements in accordance with the Institute of Statutory Auditors´ code of 
ethics. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 

Responsibilities of management and the supervisory body for the consolidated financial 
statements 
Management is responsible for: 

► the preparation of consolidated financial statements that presents a true and fair view of the Group´s 
financial position, financial performance and cash flows  in accordance with the Accounting and Financial 
Reporting Standards adopted in Portugal under the Portuguese Accounting System; 

► the preparation of the Management Report in accordance with the laws and regulations;  

► designing and maintaining an appropriate internal control system to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 

► the adoption of accounting policies and principles appropriate in the circumstances; and 

► assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern that may cast significant doubt on the Group´s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 

The supervisory body is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
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Bondalti Capital, S.A. 
Statutory Auditor’s Report 

(Translation from the original document in Portuguese language 
In case of doubt, the Portuguese version prevails) 

31 December 2021 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

► identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

► obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control; 

► evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management; 

► conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern; 

► evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation;  

► obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion; and 

► communicate with those charged with governance, including the supervisory board,  regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

Our responsibility also includes the verification that the information contained in the Management Report is 
consistent with the consolidated financial statements. 
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(Translation from the original document in Portuguese language 
In case of doubt, the Portuguese version prevails) 

31 December 2021 
 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 

On the Management Report 
Pursuant to article 451, nr. 3, paragraph e) of the Commercial Companies Code, it is our opinion that the 
Management Report was prepared in accordance with the applicable legal and regulatory requirements and the 
information contained therein is consistent with the audited consolidated financial statements and, having regard 
to our knowledge and assessment over the Group, we have not identified any material misstatement. 

 
 
Lisbon, 29 April 2022 
 
 
Ernst & Young Audit & Associados – SROC, S.A. 
Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas 
Represented by: 
 
(Signed) 
 
Paulo Jorge Luís da Silva (ROC nr. 1334) 
Registered with the Portuguese Securities Market Commission under license nr. 20160944 
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GRI STANDARD INDICATORS

General Indicators

Organisational profile

102-1 Name of the organisation Pg. 4

102-2 Activities, brands, products, and 
services Pág. 10-18

102-3 Location of headquarters Lagoas Park, Porto Salvo

102-4 Location of operations Pg. 13, 18

102-6 Markets served Pg. 10-18, 37, 39

102-5 Ownership and legal form Pg. 9

102-7

102-8

Scale of the organisation

Information on employees and other 
workers

Pg. 9, 38, 52
The Administration excludes from counting the number of employees.

Pg. 52
The Administration excludes from counting the number of employees.

Location

35 72

Employees with fixed term contract Employees with fixed term contract 

Men Men

Men Men

Employees with open-ended contract Employees with open-ended contract

% Employees with fixed term contract % Employees with fixed term contract 

Women Women

Women Women

% Employees with open-ended contract % Employees with open-ended contract

WATER TREATMENT INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS2021 20212020 2020

11 7

136 272

8 6

171 344

6% 2%

3 1

94% 98%

36 15

209 268

26 14

296 344

11% 4%

87 76

10 1

89% 96%

43

Employees with fixed term contract 

Men

Men

Employees with open-ended contract

% Employees with fixed term contract 

Women

Women

% Employees with open-ended contract

BONDALTI CHEMICALS GROUP 20212020

6

246

5

289

2%

1

98%

13

242

12

287

4%

45

1

96%
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General Indicators

102-10

102-11

102-12

102-15

102-16

102-21

102-17

102-22

102-23

102-26

102-20

102-9 Supply chain

Pg. 9

Bondalti has an active approach to the management of financial, operational, equity, environmental and health and safety risks, based on a precautionary principle. Through this principle 
the company seeks to minimise potential adverse effects associated with these risks.

Pg. 14, 17, 20-23, 31-32, 43-44, 54, 61, 63
www.bondalti.com

Pg. 8, 25-31, 33-35

Pg. 8, 14, 17, 61
Ethics Code (www.bondalti.com); Conducts Code for Suppliers (www.bondalti.com)

Pg. 59-61

Pg. 69
Ethics Code (www.bondalti.com); Conducts Code for Suppliers (www.bondalti.com)

Pg. 65-70

Pg. 65-66

Pg. 65-66, 69

Pg. 69

Significant changes to the 
organisation or its supply chain

Precautionary Principle or approach

External initiatives

Key impacts, risks, and opportunities

Values, principles, standards, and 
norms of behaviour

Consulting stakeholders on economic, 
environmental, and social topics

Mechanisms of advice and 
concerns about ethics

Composition of the highest 
governance body and its committees

Chair of the highest governance 
body

Role of highest governance body 
in setting purpose, values, and 
strategy

Executive-level responsibility for 
economic, environmental, and social 
topics

Pg. 11, 15-16

102-14

102-18

102-19

102-13

Statement from senior decision-maker

Governance structure

Delegating authority

Membership of associations

Pg. 5-6

Pg. 65-66

Pg. 65-66, 69

www.bondalti.com

Location

Strategy

Ethics and Integrity

Governance
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General Indicators

102-28

102-32

102-42

102-46

102-43

102-41

102-52

102-45

Pg. 69

Pg. 65-66, 127

Pg. 59

Pg. 4, 9

Pg. 31-32, 59-63

Pg. 52
All employees of the Bondalti Chemicals Group and the AEMA Group are covered by Collective Bargaining Agreements. 
The Administration excludes from counting the number of employees.

Annual
By publishing its Integrated Report every year Bondalti contributes to SDG 12 “Sustainable Production and Consumption”, specifically to Target 12.6 “Encourage companies, especially large 
and transnational companies, to adopt sustainable practices and to integrate sustainability information into their reporting cycle” (indicator 12.6.1)

Pg. 4, 9

Evaluating the highest governance 
body’s performance 

Highest governance body’s role in 
sustainability reporting

Identifying and selecting 
stakeholders

Defining report content and topic 
boundaries

Approach to stakeholder 
engagement

Collective bargaining agreements

Reporting cycle

Entities included in the consolidated 
financial statements

102-33

102-40

102-44

102-47

102-49

102-48

102-50

102-51

Communicating critical concerns

List of stakeholder groups

Key topics and concerns raised

List of material topics

Changes in reporting

Restatements of information

Reporting period

Date of most recent report

Pg. 69

Pg. 59

Pg. 26, 59-63

Pg. 26

Pg. 4

Not applicable

Activity in 2021, which began on January 1, 2021, and ended on December 31, 2021.

Integrated Report 2020, which was published in May 2021.

Location

Stakeholder involvement

Reporting practice
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General Indicators

102-53

103-1

102-54

103-2

Pg. 4

Pg. 4-70

Pg. 4

Pg. 4-70

Contact point for questions 
regarding the report

Explanation of the material topic and 
its boundary

Claims of reporting in accordance 
with the GRI Standards

The management approach and its 
components

102-55

103-3

102-56

GRI content index

Evaluation of the management 
approach

External assurance

Pg. 130-158

Pg. 4-70

Pg. 128-129, 159-160

Location

Management Approach
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Specific Indicators

201-1 Direct economic value generated 
and distributed

Location

Economic performance indicators

-0,28

Generated Economic Value

Payments to the State 

Cumulative Economic Value 

Distributed Economic Value 

Wages and benefits 

Revenues  

Investments in the Community 

Operating costs 

Payment to capital suppliers

(€M) 2018 2019 2020 20212017

-0,35

36

-18

330

-268

-8

-0,41 -0,26 -0,28 -0,50

43 29 34 42

-18 -20 -22 -28

346 291 252 453

-0,50 -0,35 -0,38 -1,60

-275 -233 -191 -365

-9 -9 -4 -16

201-2

201-3

In 2021 Bondalti consumed 28 380 EETS allowances and was allocated 4 037 251 at market price.

Only Bondalti employees from Industrial Chemicals recruited by the company before 31/12/1977 enjoy a retirement benefit. Industrial Chemicals offers a wide range of benefits to 
employees, such as Health Insurance, Life Insurance, Curative Medicine, Nutrition and Psychology consultations, allowance for gym, allowance for summer camp and school expenses, 
travel allowance, among others, which in 2021 corresponded to expenses of € 605 208. In the Water Treatment business area, depending on the company, employees can benefit from 
Health Insurance, with a total of €152 722 in employee benefits in 2021.

Financial implications and other 
risks and opportunities due to 
climate change

Defined benefit plan obligations and 
other retirement plans

201-4 In 2021 Bondalti received Government subsidies in the amount of € 2 381 141.Financial assistance received from 
government
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204-1 Proportion of spending on local 
suppliers

Location

8 371 534 € 

Operations in Portugal

Local suppliers

% Of local suppliers

% Of purchases with local suppliers

Purchases with local suppliers

% Of purchases with local suppliers

Local suppliers

Purchases with local suppliers

% Of local suppliers

Operations in Spain

INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS 2019 2020 20212018

38

93%

35%

143 419 959 €

52%

640

86%

308 294 315

95%

48%

92%

91%

92%

95%

81 739 590 € 95 374 785 € 133 310 967 €

37% 38% 40%

648 599 706

54 768 332 € 29 572 857 € 24 944 651 € 

88% 85% 86%

 158 951 € 

99%

99%

Operations in Spain Operations in Portugal

Local suppliers

Purchases with local suppliers

Purchases with local suppliers Purchases with local suppliers

% Of local suppliers

% Of purchases with local suppliers % Of purchases with local suppliers

Operations in Angola

Local suppliers Local suppliers

Purchases with local suppliers

% Of local suppliers

% Of purchases with local suppliers

% Of local suppliers % Of local suppliers

% Of purchases with local suppliers

Operations in Spain

Local suppliers

AEMA GROUP ENKROTT GROUP2021 2021

17

 534 564 € 

 9 508 753 €  5 251 710 € 

89%

96% 70%

900 459

97% 90%

99%

92

Pg. 61
Bondalti’s main operations are located in Portugal, Spain and Angola, considering as local suppliers those located in these geographies.
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301-1 Materials used by weight

Location

Environmental performance indicators

Brine

Cellulose

Sodium Bisulfite

Sulphuric Acid

CONSUMPTIONS AT BONDALTI CANTABRIA (t) 20212020

94 697

29

106

32

125 284

23

158

98

  Benzene   Salt   Ammonia   Hydrogen   Sulphuric Acid

13 636
4 013

MAIN CONSUMPTIONS AT BONDALTI CHEMICALS (t)

192 743

114 460

48 840

13 130
3 916

188 732

154 190

47 302

12 493 3 927

167 777

139 413

41 113

11 848
3 830

171 996

121 768

43 346

11 931
3 452

217 042

128 822

53 283

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

301-2 Recycled input materials used Not applicable due to the types of materials that are consumed.
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302-1 Energy consumption within the 
organisation

Location

2 166 319

Purchased energy

Sold

Natural gas

Produced energy

Diesel

Total energy used

Electric power

Used

BONDALTI CHEMICALS (GJ) 2018 2019 2020 20212017

5 202

395 453

960

1 121 923

647 982

6 021 4 771 5 267 5 161

420 986 393 678 399 596 398 773

798 1 149 646 788

2 398 655 2 278 037 2 153 567 2 280 769

1 358 481 1 290 326 1 155 193 1 227 193

618 390 592 885 598 132 654 015

Pg. 45-46
Bondalti Chemicals produces energy in the form of steam by taking advantage of the exothermic reactions of its chemical production processes. Part of the energy produced is used 
internally, and part is sold.
The AEMA Group produces renewable energy from solar sources, which is entirely sold.
In the Enkrott Group, only the consumptions of Enkrott - Gestão de Tratamento de Águas, S.A. were considered.
Gasoline (GJ) = (Litres of Gasoline x PCI (1) x Density) / 103

Diesel (GJ) = (Litres of Diesel x PCI (1) x Density) / 103 
Natural Gas (GJ) = m3N x PCI (1) / 1,000
Electric power (GJ) = KWh x 36 x 10-3

(1)PCI (lower calorific value) - Portugal Inventário Nacional APA | Spain: Ministerio para la transición ecológica y el reto demográfico

302-2 Bondalti is developing a tool for the Industrial Chemicals sector to calculate this indicator, which is expected to be completed in the first half of 2022.Energy consumption outside the 
organisation

Purchased energy

Steam

Diesel

Electric power
Total energy used

BONDALTI CANTABRIA (GJ) 20212020

23 005

40

232 484
255 529

23 661

43

346 619
370 323
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302-3   

302-4   

302-5   

303-1  

Pág. 45-46
Industrial Chemicals: Only purchased electricity, natural gas and steam are considered as relevant for calculating energy intensity. Energy intensity = Purchased energy (GJ) / Total 
Production (t)
Water Treatment: For the calculation of the Energy Intensity, the diesel consumption of the vehicles and the purchased electric energy are considered: Energy intensity = Purchased 
energy (GJ) / Total Employees (no.)
At Enkrott - Gestão de Tratamento de Águas, S.A. Energy intensity recorded was 51 GJ/person, whilst at AEMA it was 30 GJ/person.

In 2021, in Industrial Chemicals, there was a reduction of 938 GJ of natural gas associated with changes in the PAD unit, resulting from the optimization of the primary air flow in the 
treatment of effluents.

Not applicable, due to the types of products and services that Bondalti markets.

Bondalti Chemicals collects the water it uses in its operations from River Antuã and water holes and wells, according to Use Licences issued by the relevant entity. Consumption from 
each catchment is controlled through flow meters, with respective information filled in on APA’s SILIAMB platform and annually reported on Portal ARH. Extracted water is used in the 
industrial activity after being treated at the Water Treatment Plant, where it goes through a filter process, followed by flocculation/decantation treatment, with removal of sludge resulting 
from the clarification of the water. Demineralised water is required for specific uses, being produced in de-mineralisation facility in ion exchangers.
Industrial effluents from the industrial activity are discharged to a multi municipal collector, managed by AdRA. Rain effluents are directly discharged in the water environment.

Bondalti Cantabria obtains the water it uses in production from Solvay, mainly clarified and demineralised water. Monitoring of the water used (clarified and demineralised) is made on a 
monthly basis, through a flow meter. The monitoring of effluents is also carried out monthly through flow meter. Effluent (brine) is treated through a physical and chemical dechlorination 
process prior to being sent to Solvay, which then sends it for final treatment.

Energy intensity

Reduction of energy consumption

Reductions in energy requirements 
of products and services

Interactions with water as shared 
resource

Location
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303-2  

Bondalti Chemicals

PAD
pH: 5.5 - 9.5 with continuous monitoring
TOC: ≤ 400 mg/L with continuous monitoring
Total Suspended Solids (OsST): ≤ 1 000 mg/L weekly analysis in external laboratory
Nitrates: ≤ 1 000 mg/L weekly analysis in external laboratory
Sulfates: ≤ 2 000 mg/L weekly analysis in external laboratory
Total nickel: ≤ 2 mg/L quarterly analysis in external laboratory
Nitrites: ≤ 30 mg/L quarterly analysis in external laboratory
Note: Emission limit parameters and values (ELV) defined in the Authorization License for the Rejection of Industrial Wastewater of AdRA of November 24, 2015. Continuous flow monitoring 
at ed1 discharge point in accordance with Environmental License 52/1.0/2017 of July 14, 2017.

PCA
pH: 5.5 - 9.5 with continuous monitoring
Biochemical Oxygen Deficiency (BOD5): ≤ 500 mg/L fortnightly analysis in external laboratory
Chemical Oxygen Deficiency (COD): ≤ 1 000 mg/L weekly analysis in external laboratory
Total Suspended Solids (TSS): ≤ 1 000 mg/L weekly analysis in external laboratory
Sulfates: ≤ 2 000 mg/L weekly analysis in external laboratory
Chlorides: Without ELV. Monthly analysis in an external laboratory
Chlorates: No ELV. Monthly analysis in an external laboratory
Note: parameters and ELV defined in the Authorization License for the Rejection of Industrial Wastewater of AdRA of November 24, 2015. Continuous flow monitoring at ed2 discharge point.
Note: Parameters defined in Environmental License 52/1.0/2017 of July 14, 2017. Free Chlorine: ≤ 0.2 mg/L according to the document BREF-CAK - BAT Conclusions of 9 December 2013.

Bondalti Cantabria

The requirements for discharge of the AAI are: 0.2 mg/L Cl2 in specific samples once a month. Bondalti Cantabria undertakes to ensure the characteristics of the wastewater it sends to 
Solvay:
Average flow: 58 m3/h
Maximum annual flow: 485 000 m3/h/a
Maximum image flow: 100 m3/h
Comply with the limits of the seller’s IPPC license, except for the pH in the discharge of effluents to the WWTP that will be greater than 4 and less than 10.
Installation of a pre-treatment unit of effluents in its facilities, with output to the WWTP, and this point is defined for the measurement and control of quality and quantity.

Management of water discharge-
related impacts

Location
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303-3 Water withdrawal

Location

Extracted water

Holes

Total extracted water

River

Wells

Public Network water

BONDALTI CHEMICALS (ML) 2018 2019 2020 20212017

21

2 808

2 764

23

5

29 16 44 29

2 810 2 638 2 606 2 766

2 760 2 619 2 551 2 737

20 3 11 0

8 10 11 15

Water discharged

Water consumption

BONDALTI CHEMICALS (ML)

BONDALTI CANTABRIA (ML)

2018

2018

2019

2019

2020

2020

2021

2021

2017

2017

772

-

802 755 661 679

- - 275 347303-4

A total of 238 ML of water was collected at Bondalti Cantabria through Solvay.
Though Bondalti does not analyse the collected water, it is deemed fresh.
Fresh water ≤ 1000 mg/L Total dissolved solid
Non fresh water > 1000 mg/L Total dissolved solid

Information defined in Indicator 303-2.
All water discharged by Bondalti is deemed fresh.
Fresh water ≤ 1000 mg/L Total dissolved solid
Non fresh water > 1000 mg/L Total dissolved solid

Water discharge
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303-5

305-1

305-2

305-3

305-4

Water consumption

Direct (scope 1) GHG emissions

Indirect (scope 2) GHG emissions

Other indirect (scope 3) GHG 
emissions

Intensidade carbónica

Location

Water (ML)

Water (ML)

Sold

Sold

Used

Used

Water Intensity (ML/t)

Water Intensity (ML/t)

BONDALTI CHEMICALS

BONDALTI CANTABRIA

2018

2018

2019

2019

2020

2020

2021

2021

2017

2017

954

-

1 854

-

0,00132

-

889

-

882

-

888

0

918

0

1 921

-

1 756

-

1 717

267

1 848

238

0,00125

-

0,00124

-

0,00129

0,00124

0,00122

0,00082

Only the water used in the industrial activity is deemed material to determine water intensity.
Water intensity = Total used water (ML) / Total Production (t)

Pg. 46-47
There are no biogenic emissions at Bondalti.
Bondalti Chemicals has CO2 and N2O emissions managed by operational control.
 CO2 from natural gas and diesel consumption - calculation-based methodology
 CO2 from the incinerator - measurement-based methodology
 N2O from nitric acid production - measurement-based methodology
Bondalti Cantabria recorded a total of 3.21 t CO2 eq.
Enkrott - Gestão de Tratamento de Águas, S.A. recorded a total of 283 t CO2 eq whilst the AEMA Group registered a total of 301 t CO2 eq.
Emission factors - Portugal: Inventário Nacional APA and European Commission Regulation R601/2012 | Spain: Ministerio para la transición ecológica y el reto demográfico

Pg. 46-47
Bondalti has indirect CO2 emissions managed by operational control. For the calculation of these emissions, the electrical energy purchased is considered as material. The emission factor 
is provided by the energy supplier.
Enkrott - Gestão de Tratamento de Águas, S.A. recorded a total of 35 t CO2 eq whilst the AEMA Group registered a total of 29 t CO2 eq.

Bondalti is developing a tool for the Industrial Chemicals sector to calculate this indicator, which is expected to be completed in the first half of 2022.

Pg. 46-47
Only direct and indirect GHG emissions, analysed in indicators 305-1 and 305-2 are deemed material to determine carbon intensity.
Industrial Chemicals: Carbon intensity = Total Direct and Indirect GHG Emissions (t CO2 eq.) / Total Production (t)
Water treatment: Carbon intensity = Total Direct and Indirect GHG Emissions (t CO2 eq.) / Total Employees (no.)
At Enkrott - Gestão de Tratamento de Águas, S.A. Carbon Intensity recorded was 3.66 CO2 eq./person, whilst at AEMA it was 2.20 CO2 eq./person.
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305-5

305-6

305-7

Reduction of GHG emissions

Emissions of ozone-depleting 
substances

NOX, SOX and other significant air 
emissions

Location

In 2021 Bondalti Chemicals saved 852 GJ of natural gas following the implementation of energy efficiency measures, as shown in indicator 302-4. Based on the emission factor, 
the overall decrease in CO2 emissions is estimated to be 53 t CO2 eq.

Not applicable.

  NO2   SO2   Paricles   CO   TOC

OTHER AIR EMISSIONS IN ESTARREJA (t)

42,7

6,7 5,6
1.5 0,5

47,3

7,1
5,4

1,3 0,6

43,5

7,4
4,4

2,2 0,5

40,7

4,8
2,5 4,4

0,6

36,6

3,3 2,4 0,7
4,7

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Bondalti Chemicals monitors other air emissions using different methodologies, according to emission source: 
 Incinerator - continuous monitoring; except for heavy metal - specific monitoring.
 Boilers - measuring of consumption of natural; emission factors used are as provided by APA.
 Remaining sources - specific monitoring according to parameter defined by APA
No other air emissions were recorded at Bondalti Cantabria, Enkrott Group and AEMA Group.
Bondalti Chemicals does not have POP emissions (Persistent Organic Pollutants) and no specific analyses are made to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) emissions.
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306-1 Waste generation and significant 
waste-related impacts

Location

Bondalti Chemicals
Hazardous waste: They are generated mainly by the production of aniline and nitrobenzene and are mostly incinerated; by the production of activated carbon resulting from the 
activity of sulphanilic acid; and by filtering the process brine; although there are also other hazardous wastes that are generated in smaller quantities as a result of equipment 
maintenance and cleaning, such as oils, contaminated containers, absorbents, etc...
Non-hazardous waste: Non-hazardous waste is generated mainly from maintenance activities (scrap, plastic, etc...) and material reception (cardboard boxes, wooden pallets, etc...).

Bondalti Cantabria
Hazardous waste: They are generated mainly by the filtration of the process brine, generating cellulose with chlorides, resins and activated carbon; although there are also other 
hazardous wastes that are generated in smaller quantities as a result of equipment maintenance and cleaning, such as oils, contaminated containers, absorbents, etc...
Non-hazardous waste: Non-hazardous waste is generated mainly from maintenance activities (scrap, plastic, etc...) and material reception (cardboard boxes, wooden pallets, etc..).

Enkrott Group
The waste produced in the companies of the Enkrott Group can basically result from: 
   i) Contaminated chemical packaging that may or may not be reused; 
   ii) Non-conforming chemical products, either due to contamination or having exceeded the expiration date; 
   iii) Plastic waste resulting from the manufacturing processes and production of non-conforming, fully recyclable plastics; 
   iv) Filter charges, namely resins that cannot be regenerated, or charcoal;
   v)  Urban Solid Waste resulting from the company’s normal activity. The companies of the Enkrott Group are starting to quantify the types of waste, in order to understand the 

current reality and to be able to define and improve their practices in the near future.

AEMA Group
In the production process (WORKS) and management (EY M) of the AEMA and Aguas Rioja companies, the waste generated in the facilities is duly forwarded by the client in 
partnership with authorized operators. Occasionally, with clients with whom more comprehensive contracts are established, waste is managed at the facilities and by the 
companies of the group. Alfaro Laboratories produces waste deriving from its analyses, which are properly managed, none of which are considered potentially dangerous, and 
their useful life is not considered relevant, such as: contaminated plastics, aerosols, chemical reagents, sludge mixtures, etc.
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306-2 Management of significant waste-
related impacts

Location

Bondalti Chemicals
The waste is sent to a licensed operator, with which the company has signed a waste management contract. The classification of waste is carried out in accordance with the 
law in force, each waste being assigned an LER Code, and the destination operation agreed between Bondalti and the waste operator. Internally, at Bondalti Chemicals’ facilities, 
only hazardous waste whose destination operation is incineration (without energy recovery) is treated. A portion of the non-compliant sulphanilic acid product is reincorporated 
back into the process.
The process of monitoring the waste generated includes activities such as entering data into the SILIAMB Platform (online), maintaining an internal global database, weighing 
each of the loads of waste at Bondalti’s facilities and at the waste operator, and the annual validation of internal data against operator data.

Bondalti Cantabria
Waste is sent to an agent who negotiates with the manager responsible for waste management. Waste classification is made according to the law in force.

Enkrott Group
At Enkrott - Gestão de Tratamento de Águas, S.A., waste is sent to a licensed waste operator to manage it. Waste classification is made according to the law in force. Each waste 
is assigned a LER code and the destination operation is defined by the waste operator. The process of monitoring the waste generated is carried out on the SILIAMB platform 
and the weighing of waste is carried out at the waste operator’s facilities.

AEMA Group
Waste is sent to an authorized operator, with which a waste management contract is signed. The classification of waste is carried out in accordance with the law in force, each 
waste being assigned an LER Code, and the destination operation agreed between the AEMA Group and the waste operator.
The process of monitoring the waste generated includes activities such as entering data into the management system depending on the operator, maintaining an internal global 
database, weighing each of the loads of waste at the facilities of the AEMA group and the operator of waste, as well as the annual validation of internal data against operator data.
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306-3 Waste generated

Location

Hazardous waste

Other type of recovery

Other type of deposition

Other type of recovery

Total waste produced 

Recycled

Landfill

Recycled

Other type of deposition

Incinerated

Non-hazardous waste

Landfill

Incinerated

BONDALTI CHEMICALS (t) 2018 2019 2020 20212017

18 858

0

0

0

19 135

9

610

188

0

18 239

277

89

0

19 488 17 313 18 462 18 228

0

0

0

19 816

0

0

0

17 651

0

0

0

18 565

0

241

0

18 463

63

627

308

0

534

725

338

0

337

353

78

0

176

292

212

0

18 798

328

20

0

16 054

338

0

0

17 772

103

25

0

17 520

235

23

0

Hazardous waste

Other type of recovery

Non-hazardous waste

Total waste produced 

Recycled

Other type of deposition

Other type of deposition

Incinerated

Incinerated

Recycled

Landfill

Landfill

Other type of recovery

BONDALTI CANTABRIA (t) 20212020

95

0

174

269

0

95

18

0

0

156

0

0

0

115

3

57

172

0

112

0

0

0

0

0

0

56

0,0

6,8

Hazardous waste

Hazardous waste

Non-hazardous waste

Non-hazardous waste

Total waste produced 

Total waste produced 

Other type of recovery

Other type of recovery

Other type of recovery

Other type of recovery

Landfill

Landfill

Landfill

Landfill

Recycled

Recycled

Recycled

Recycled

Incinerated

Incinerated

Incinerated

Incinerated

Other type of deposition

Other type of deposition

Other type of deposition

Other type of deposition

ENKROTT GROUP (t)

AEMA GROUP (t)

2021

2021

15,1

0,4

26,7

10,0

41,8

10,4

0,0

0,2

6,6

0,0

0,8

0,0

10,4

3,1

14,3

0,1

0,0

0,0

9,7

0,0

0,0

0,1

0,0

0,0

Pg. 49
Enkrott África - Gestão e Tratamento de Águas, Lda. is excluded from the scope of the Enkrott Group.
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306-4

401-2

306-5

403-1

GRI Index - Indicator 306-03

GRI Index - Indicator 201-03

GRI Index - Indicator 306-03

Bondalti Chemicals has implemented and certified its Occupational Health and Safety Management System (OHSMS) by the ISO 45001:2018 Standard, in Estarreja (PAD, PCA) and in Aveiro 
Port, covering all its employees and activities.
Bondalti Cantabria has implemented and certified its OHSMS by the ISO 45001:2018 standard since May 2021.
Enkrott companies do not have any OHSMS implemented.
AEMA and Aguas Rioja have an OHSMS certified by the ISO 45001:2018 standard.

Waste diverted from disposal

Benefits provided to full-time 
employees that are not provided to 
temporary or part-time employees

Waste directed to disposal

Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System

307-1 Non-compliance with environmental 
laws and regulations

In 2021 there were no non-compliances in this area at Bondalti
Fines or warnings are only considered when proceedings are closed or finally decided. Only fines above €10 000 are considered significant.

Location

Social performance indicators

403-2
Hazard identification, risk 
assessment, and incident 
investigation

Bondalti Capital and Chemicals
At Bondalti Capital, when an occupational accident occurs, the employee informs the Human Resources (HR) area to complete the accident report form.
At Bondalti Chemicals, all accident-related aspects fall within the scope of the Occupational Health and Safety Management System. The result of the risk assessment of workstations 
is recorded in the integrated system (SIAP), following distribution by email to employees and respective managers. The record of occupational accidents is made in the SIAP 
events. The Human Resources area works with the Safety area to complete an occupational accident form and occurrence report.

Bondalti Cantabria
Bondalti Cantabria has a contract with an External Prevention Service Provider, which jointly with the Safety Manager of the Organization, performs the risk assessment of 
workstations. In the event of accident, there is a protocol to be followed, depending on the seriousness level and time of day. The medical response is provided by the Mutual 
Medical Service or public emergency services. The Safety Manager is informed and leads the investigation of the accident, with the Prevention Deputy and other parties involved.

Enkrott Group
In Enkrott companies, for work accidents that result in damage, HR is informed and follows up on the participation and due follow-up with the insurance company. At Enkrott - 
Gestão de Tratamento de Águas, S.A. a new method of collecting information on accidents, incidents and near-misses at work is being tested: in the event of physical damage, 
HR will be informed, as before, to proceed with the process; whether or not there is physical damage, the Quality Team is informed and the situation is clarified, followed by an 
analysis of the causes, in order to carry out corrective or preventive actions, with a continuous learning process. The set of occurrences will be periodically analysed for patterns.

AEMA Group
In the AEMA Group there are sheets in which the skills required for each job are detailed, and the effectiveness of the processes is verified through indicators that are assessed 
on an ongoing basis. There is an internal communication procedure describing the communication channels through which workers can report detected accidents and incidents. 
There are also procedures for risk assessment and accident investigation. All accidents are investigated, and the conclusions are monitored in an Excel document for regular 
monitoring.
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403-3

403-4

Occupational health services

Worker participation, consultation, 
and communication on occupational 
health and safety

Bondalti Capital e Chemicals
At Bondalti Capital, Occupational Medicine services are ensured, in accordance with the legal requirements.
At Bondalti Chemicals, Occupational Doctors (OD) take part in the meetings of the Health and Safety Committee (HSC). Following these meetings, the visit plan to the workstations 
is prepared jointly by the OD and the Safety Technicians. Corrective actions arising out of these visits are recorded in the integrated system (SIAP).

Bondalti Cantabria
At Bondalti Cantabria, surveillance of health issues is carried out by the External Prevention Service Provider, who plans the health-related activities based on the risk assessment 
carried out jointly with the Safety Manager. All employees are subject to a general medical screening examination every year.

Enkrott Group
In Enkrott companies, occupational health and safety services are external, with the exception for Enkrott Africa, which has implemented a Health and Safety Committee, due to 
legal requirements. Risk assessments were carried out at the Albarraque facilities, where the production operations are located and where there is a higher accident rate.

AEMA Group
At Grupo AEMA, occupational health and safety management is carried out through the contracted External Prevention Service. Amongst other functions, the External Prevention 
Service carries out the risk assessment of jobs and the planning of preventive activity. Likewise, workers’ health surveillance is also carried out annually. The External Prevention 
Service is in constant contact and coordination with those responsible for the Safety and Health areas of the AEMA Group companies.

Bondalti Chemicals
At Bondalti Chemicals, consultation with employees on safety and health issues is carried out through their elected representatives - Workers Representatives for Occupational 
Health and Safety. These representatives are members of the HSC, which is an advisory body for the Safety area, where themes and issues raised by employees are discussed. 
These representatives are also consulted via e-mail, to state their view on changes to Safety Standards and other OHSMS and accident-prevention related documents. Safety-
related information is also displayed and affixed across the buildings and other areas. The information is controlled by the Safety area. At Bondalti Chemicals, 100% of employees 
are covered by formal health and safety committees.

Bondalti Cantabria
At Bondalti Cantabria, the participation of employees is made through their representatives, i.e., Personnel Delegate and Prevention Delegate elected by them. The Plant Manager, 
as representative of the Company, the Safety, Environment, Quality and Logistics Manager as adviser, meet at least three times each month with the Prevention Deputy. In 2021 
four meetings were held with the Prevention Deputy, who was elected that same year.

Enkrott Group
At Enkrott companies, employees are consulted on health and safety issues, every six months, through a questionnaire that is made available by the Quality and Safety Technician 
(Quality Area). At Enkrott Africa there is a Health and Safety Committee, as required by law, which represents all employees of this company.

AEMA Group
The AEMA Group has an internal procedure for the participation and consultation of employees, in which their communication channels are detailed. Aguas Rioja has two Workers 
Representatives and AEMA has one Workers Representative. The Workers Representatives, who represent all employees of the respective companies, meet quarterly with the 
Management, personnel delegates, prevention delegates and the person responsible for prevention.
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403-5 Worker training on occupational 
health and safety

Bondalti Capital and Chemicals
Bondalti’s Training Plan is the result of a survey of training needs. The promotion of continuous training addressed to Bondalti’s employees in subjects such as health prevention, 
mitigation of risk behaviours and occupational health is always present.
In 2021, due to the pandemic, a progressive resumption of face-to-face training was carried out addressing the following topics: “Fieldwork Audits”; “Work Permits - Maintenance”; 
“Equipment assignments and associated standards”; “Course on Fire Fighting and Accident Control with Hazardous Materials”; “Training in Radiological Protection”; “Use of sealed 
sources and radiation generating apparatus in industrial applications”; “Hygiene, Safety and Health at Work”; “Forklift Manoeuvre”; “Machinery and Equipment Dec. 50/2005”; 
“Technical Safety Management Masterclass”; “Mononitrobenzene & Dinitrotoluene Safety”; “Internal Emergency Plan”; “Operational Training of 1st and 2nd Intervention Equipment”; 
“Filling out Work Permits and certificates”; “Protection and Radiological Safety - Use of sealed sources and X-radiation generating devices”; “First Aid Recertification”; “Representative 
of the Employer, Employer or Designated Worker - Safety at Work”; “Use of ARICAS”; “Visit to the Facilities with the Security Team”.

Bondalti Cantabria
Bondalti Cantabria established its training for all employees in different skills, which also included health and safety topics. In 2021, training was held on “Risks of Noise”, “Risks of 
the workplace”; “ATEX Training”; “Preventive Resource”; “Covid-19 prevention training”; “First Aid Training”; “UNE 45001:2018 Standard”.

Enkrott Group
All the employees of the Enkrott - Gestão de Tratamento de Águas, S.A. received training on occupational safety and health given by the External Prevention Service. Some 
commercial managers and electromechanical technicians hold a Security Passport, as a second level of safety training.

AEMA Group
There is an annual training plan that details the planned training in terms of occupational safety and health. The monitoring of the training given to each worker is carried out 
through an Excel control file. All employees receive initial training in prevention and safety given by the External Prevention Service, which includes subjects such as workplace 
risks and internal safety procedures. The training topics are coordinated between the Human Resources manager and the Prevention managers.
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403-6 Promotion of workers health

Bondalti Capital, Chemicals and Cantabria
As far as primary healthcare is concerned, Bondalti provides a curative medicine doctor for regular monitoring of its employees in harmony with the National Health System. 
Additionally, Bondalti promotes, whenever possible, appointments in its facilities for different specialities – Psychology, Nutrition, Physiotherapy and Podiatrics, whether prescribed 
by the occupational doctor or on the employee’s initiative.
Additionally, Bondalti Chemicals and Bondalti Cantabria employees have access to a nurse on working days if curative or preventive care is necessary.
On a par with these services, the company launched the certification process for “Family Responsible Company” as the Board of Directors is clearly committed to ensure the 
reconciliation of the professional, personal and family life of its employees. The cross-cutting measures allow the compliance with certain conditions, such as life insurance for 
all employees up to 65 years-old, healthcare insurance for employees and immediate family members, immediate assistance to family (spouses and relatives in the ascending 
and descending line) up to 15 days/year, amongst other measures with direct impact on the promotion of health of employees.
2021 was further marked by the Covid-19 pandemic crisis. Against this background, Bondalti implemented a set of strategies to protect the health of its employees:
 All employees whose function could be performed remotely began teleworking, being closely assisted by the Human Resources team whenever necessary;
 Psychological care was reinforced (provided on a remote basis, whenever possible);
  Moreover, during the pandemic months, personnel at the Chemical Complex of Estarreja was subject to regular Covid-19 testing, viewing tracking, and breaking possible 

transmission chains in the Company.
At Bondalti Cantabria the External Prevention Service prepares a report, where it describes the health areas that must be developed.

Enkrott Group
In Enkrott companies, in addition to legal compliance with Occupational Medicine, there are no other initiatives in this area.

AEMA Group
The External Prevention Service is responsible for monitoring and managing the safety and health of workers, who are subject to annual medical checks.
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Employees

Employees covered by the OHSMS internally audited 

Employees covered by the OHSMS externally audited 

Employees covered by the OHSMS

BONDALTI CHEMICALS GROUP 2021

300

97%

97%

97%

Employees

Employees covered by the OHSMS internally audited 

Employees covered by the OHSMS externally audited 

Employees covered by the OHSMS

ENKROTT GROUP 2021

182

0%

0%

0%

Specific Indicators Location

403-7

403-8

Prevention and mitigation of 
occupational health and safety 
impacts directly linked by business 
relationships

Workers covered by an 
Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System

Bondalti Capital and Chemicals
The promotion of continuous training aimed at employees, on topics such as safety, mitigation of risk behaviours or occupational health is always present.
At Bondalti Chemicals, regarding prevention, regular monitoring is made concerning occupational risks, such as chemical and physical agents (vibrations, noise, lighting, thermal 
comfort, ionising radiation, indoor air quality). Risk assessment of workstations is carried out on a regular basis, giving rise to mitigation plans, when necessary.
With a view to continuous improvement, Bondalti Chemicals constantly tests PPEs, adjusting them to the needs of its workers.

Bondalti Cantabria
Employees were informed and trained on the risks of Bondalti Cantabria’s activities. The risk assessment of the Kemira plant, operated by Bondalti, has been carried out, and 
employees will be informed and trained on these risks in 2022. An evaluation report was also carried out on the work teams, workplaces, and signalling, which identified a series 
of actions to be corrected during 2022.

Enkrott Group
In companies Enkrott - Gestão de Tratamento de Águas, S.A. and Enkrott España, S.L.U. risk assessments of activities are carried out when requested by the client, and this 
practice is currently being implemented for all activities. An assessment of the PPE needs, and respective training, distribution and maintenance procedures was carried out 
for all Enkrott companies.

AEMA Group
Risk assessments are carried out at AEMA Group companies, which are reassessed annually and whenever there are changes in working conditions. Annual controls are also 
carried out on lighting, noise, and thermo-hygrometric conditions, as well as any specific assessment that may be necessary, such as biological risks.

Employees

Employees covered by the OHSMS internally audited 

Employees covered by the OHSMS externally audited 

Employees covered by the OHSMS

INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS 2021

359

81%

81%

81%

Employees

Employees covered by the OHSMS internally audited 

Employees covered by the OHSMS externally audited 

Employees covered by the OHSMS

AEMA GROUP 2021

150

79%

79%

100%

The Administration excludes from counting the number of employees. 
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403-9

403-10

Work related injuries

Work related ill health

Pg. 56
At Bondalti Chemicals there were 5 work accidents requiring sick leave: 1) “on the road”; 2) when handling operation; 3) in maintenance period; 4) trauma after collision at the 
loading site; 5) by burn.
At the Enkrott companies, there were 2 accidents at work requiring sick leave, one of which was related to productive activity.
In the companies of the AEMA Group, there were 7 accidents at work requiring sick leave, the main causes being overexertion, contact with chemical products, forced postures, 
and collisions or blows with objects and tools.
The Administration excludes from counting the number of employees.
“On the Road” accidents are only considered if they occur on company transport.
A serious accident is considered to be one that results in the worker being incapacitated (lack of work or alteration of the job position) for a period of more than 6 months.
Determined based on 1 000 000 hours worked.
Rate of non-worked hours = No. of hours not worked (1) / No. of workable hours
(1) Absenteeism due to parental, marriage, bereavement, or study leave is excluded from this accounting
Absenteeism rate = No. of hours of absence from work / No. of workable hours
Rate of deaths resulting from work accidents = No. of deaths resulting from work accidents / No. of hours worked x 1 000 000
Accident frequency rate = No. of accidents with sick leave / No. of hours worked x 1 000 000
Serious Accident frequency rate = No. of serious accidents with sick leave / No. of hours worked x 1 000 000
Accident severity rate = No. of days lost due to work accident / No. of hours worked x 1 000
Incidence rate = No. of accidents with sick leave / Average Staff

The safety and health of workers is controlled through plans to monitor the risks of exposure to chemical substances and physical and biological risks guaranteed by the Safety 
Service and monitored by Occupational Medicine.
To date, at the Bondalti Group, there has been no record of an employee requesting eligibility for the occupational disease status.

Deaths

Rate of non-worked hours

Frequency rate of serious accidents

Occupational accidents with sick leave

Accident frequency rate

Absenteeism rate

Accident severity rate

Incidence rate

BONDALTI CHEMICALS GROUP 2020 20212019

0

6%

0,000

4

10,733

4%

0,611

0,016

0 0

21%

0,000

9%

0,000

2

4,391

5

10,568

3%

0,299

0,007

8%

0,186

0,017

INTEGRATED REPORT 2021  |  ANNEXES



GLOSSARY

152

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Specific Indicators

404-1 Average hours of training per year 
per employee

Location

  Men   Women   Total

  Men   Women   Total

  Men   Women   Total

  Men   Women   Total

AVERAGE NUMBER OF TRAINING HOURS, BY EMPLOYEE
Industrial Chemicals

AVERAGE NUMBER OF TRAINING HOURS, BY EMPLOYEE
AEMA Group

AVERAGE NUMBER OF TRAINING HOURS, BY EMPLOYEE
Bondalti Chemicals Group

AVERAGE NUMBER OF TRAINING HOURS, BY EMPLOYEE
Enkortt Group

100
119

44 46

96
106

28
40

17
14

18
20

85

18

8

15
12

17

9

109

38 42

79

94

2019 20192020 20202021

2021

2021

2021
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404-1 Average hours of training per year 
per employee

Location

Administ
rat

ion 

Advis
or

Administ
rat

ion Advis
or

Te
chnical 

Staf
f

Te
chnical 

Staf
f

Administ
rat

ive
 Te

chnician

Operat
ional 

Coord
inati

on Te
chnician

Operat
ional 

Coord
inati

on Te
chnician

Deputy 
Dire

cto
r

Deputy 
Dire

cto
r

Man
ag

er

Functi
onal 

Coord
inati

on Te
chnician

Functi
onal 

Coord
inati

on Te
chnician

Functi
onal 

Coord
inati

on Te
chnician

Resp
onsib

le

Resp
onsib

le

Hours 
of T

rai
ning

Hours 
of T

rai
ning

Hours 
of T

rai
ning

Hours 
of T

rai
ning

Dire
cto

r

Dire
cto

r

Dire
cto

r

Dire
cto

r

Chief o
f P

ro
ducti

on Shift

Administ
rat

ive
 Te

chnician

Administ
rat

ive
 Te

chnician

Administ
rat

ive
 Te

chnician

Resp
onsib

le

Operat
ional 

Te
chnician

Operat
ional 

Te
chnician

Operat
ional 

Te
chnician

Operat
ional 

Te
chnician

Man
ag

er

Man
ag

er

Te
chnical 

Staf
f

Functi
onal 

Te
chnician

Functi
onal 

Te
chnician

Functi
onal 

Te
chnician

Supervi
so

r

Supervi
so

r

Supervi
so

r

Supervi
so

r

AVERAGE NUMBER OF TRAINING HOURS, BY EMPLOYEE 
Industrial Chemicals
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AVERAGE NUMBER OF TRAINING HOURS, BY EMPLOYEE
Bondalti Chemicals Group
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Pg. 57
For the calculation of this indicator, was considered the universe of employees present during the year 2021 in Bondalti’s companies. The Administration excludes from 
counting the number of employees.
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404-2
Programs for upgrading employee 
skills and transition assistance 
programs

Pg. 57

Bondalti Capital, Chemicals and Cantabria
In the Bondalti Group (except Enkrott and AEMA companies) the following measures are implemented:
- Annual Training plan
- Availability of training content through the 4Learn knowledge management platform
- Performance Management System focused on skills development
- Talent Management Program  
-  Rejuvenation plan - ensuring the transfer of knowledge between the youngest and the oldest - through the 4x4 Program (for Operational Technicians), with a duration to be 

determined depending on the production units to which the trainees are allocated, ensuring the timely transfer of knowledge for on-site and in-room training for new employees
- Internal mobility, through the allocation of internal employees to open positions (internal/external recruitment), as well as through functional flexibility where employees are 
given the possibility to acquire new skills and assume new industrial positions (this functional flexibility is still very much focused on operations)

Enkrott Group
At companies Enkrott - Gestão de Tratamento de Águas, S.A. and Enkrott España, S.L.U. there is an Annual Training Plan.

AEMA Group
There is a training plan for the entire AEMA Group that covers topics such as Quality, Environment, Prevention and Occupational Risks, or other needs according to each 
department, which are agreed between the Management, Human Resources, and the heads of each department.

Specific Indicators
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404-3
Percentage of employees 
receiving regular performance and 
career development reviews

Location

  Men   Women   Total

EMPLOYEES ASSESSED
Industrial Chemicals

EMPLOYEES ASSESSED
Industrial Chemicals
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EMPLOYEES ASSESSED
Bondalti Chemicals Group

83% 82% 84%
86% 89% 87%

83% 83% 83%

2019 2020 2021

Administ
rat

ion Advis
or

Te
chnical 

Staf
f

Operat
ional 

Coord
inati

on Te
chnician

Deputy 
Dire

cto
r

Functi
onal 

Coord
inati

on Te
chnician To

tal

Dire
cto

r

Administ
rat

ive
 Te

chnician

Operat
ional 

Te
chnician

Man
ag

er

Functi
onal 

Te
chnician

Supervi
so

r

0

67%
76% 85%

100%100%100%100%

88%

100%

87%89%

92%

Pg. 57
The Administration excludes from counting the number of employees.
In the Bondalti Group (except companies Enkrott and AEMA) the values presented refer only to the performance assessment.
The Enkrott and AEMA Groups do not have a Performance Management System in place.
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405-1 Diversity of governing bodies and 
employees

Location

Total

Men

30 to 50 years

By gender

Up to 30 years

Women

Above 50 years

By age group

CORPORATE BODIES 20212020

8

8

3

0

0

5

12

10

2

0

2

10

Total

Men

30 to 50 years

By gender

Up to 30 years

Women

Above 50 years

By age group

MANAGERS 20212020

24

17

12

1

7

11

26

18

15

0

8

11

Total

Men

30 to 50 years

By gender

Up to 30 years

Women

Above 50 years

By age group

DIRECTORS 20212020

21

17

8

0

4

13

20

16

6

0

4

14

Total

Men

30 to 50 years

By gender

Up to 30 years

Women

Above 50 years

By age group

EMPLOYEES 20212020

351

278

162

48

73

141

359

282

171

53

77

135

Total

Men

30 to 50 years

By gender

Up to 30 years

Women

Above 50 years

By age group

CORPORATE BODIES 20212020

3

3

0

0

0

3

3

3

0

0

0

3

Total

Men

30 to 50 years

By gender

Up to 30 years

Women

Above 50 years

By age group

MANAGERS 20212020

16

10

14

0

6

2

17

10

14

0

7

3

Total

Men

30 to 50 years

By gender

Up to 30 years

Women

Above 50 years

By age group

DIRECTORS 20212020

11

10

4

0

1

7

8

7

4

0

1

4

Total

Men

30 to 50 years

By gender

Up to 30 years

Women

Above 50 years

By age group

EMPLOYEES 20212020

182

133

139

16

49

27

182

132

140

17

50

25

Total

Men

30 to 50 years

By gender

Up to 30 years

Women

Above 50 years

By age group

CORPORATE BODIES 20212020

0

0

0

0

0

0

3

2

1

0

1

2

Total

Men

30 to 50 years

By gender

Up to 30 years

Women

Above 50 years

By age group

MANAGERS 20212020

0

0

0

0

0

0

37

20

34

0

17

3

Total

Men

30 to 50 years

By gender

Up to 30 years

Women

Above 50 years

By age group

DIRECTORS 20212020

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Total

Men

30 to 50 years

By gender

Up to 30 years

Women

Above 50 years

By age group

EMPLOYEES 20212020

0

0

0

0

0

0

150

103

115

13

47

22

INDUSTRIAL 
CHEMICALS

AEMA 
GROUP

ENKROTT 
GROUP

Pg. 53-54
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416-1

416-2

417-1

Assessment of the health and 
safety impacts of product and 
service categories

Incidents of non-compliance 
concerning the health and safety 
impacts of products and services

Requirements for product and 
service information and labelling

Location

GRI Index - Indicator 417-1.

In 2021 there were no non-compliances in this area at Bondalti
Fines or warnings are only considered when proceedings are closed or finally decided. Only fines above €10 000 are considered significant.

Products

Safety data sheet

Clients

Clients with specifications data sheet

Products

Specifications data sheet

Clients with safety data sheet

Revised safety data sheet

Clients

BONDALTI CHEMICALS 2018 2019 2020 20212017

12

219

12

12

219

6

219

12

211

12

193

11

194

11

189

12

12

211

12

12

193

11

11

194

11

11

189

11

211

9

193

33

194

5

189

Products

Safety data sheet

Clients

Products

Clients

Revised safety data sheet

Clients with safety data sheet

Specifications data sheet

Clients with specifications data sheet

BONDALTI CANTABRIA 20212020

5

56

5

16

56

5

56

5

57

5

0

57

5

57

Produtos

Enkrott branded chemical products

Produtos

Safety data sheet

Clients

Equipment

Specifications data sheet

Clients with specifications data sheet

Equipment with EC marking

AEMA branded chemical products

Clients

Safety data sheet

Revised safety data sheet

Clients with safety data sheet

Equipment

AEMA GROUP

ENKROTT GROUP

2021

2021

205

146

134

146

134

7

146

205

146

134

7

Pg. 63
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417-2

417-3

418-1

419-1

Incidents of non-compliance 
concerning product and service 
information and labelling

Incidents of non-compliance 
concerning marketing 
communications

Substantiated complaints 
concerning breaches of customer 
privacy and losses of customer data

Non-compliance with laws and 
regulations in the social and 
economic area

Location

In 2021 there were no non-compliances in this area at Bondalti
Fines or warnings are only considered when proceedings are closed or finally decided. Only fines above €10 000 are considered significant.

In 2021 there were no non-compliances in this area at Bondalti
Fines or warnings are only considered when proceedings are closed or finally decided. Only fines above €10 000 are considered significant.

In 2021 there were no non-compliances in this area at Bondalti
Fines or warnings are only considered when proceedings are closed or finally decided. Only fines above €10 000 are considered significant.

In 2021 there were no non-compliances in this area at Bondalti
Fines or warnings are only considered when proceedings are closed or finally decided. Only fines above €10 000 are considered significant.

Logistics

Colombo

Pg. 37
In 2021, in Industrial Chemicals, 99.60% of shipments were in compliance. In Water Treatment, compliance was verified for 99.98% of Enkrott Group shipments, and for 99.58% of the 
AEMA Group.
% Compliance Shipments = Total Logistics Complaints / Total Shipments

Pg. 32-33
NPV is calculated only for ideas that were approved and considers the revision until the period under review (2021) of amounts paid for approval and implementation of ideas (as the 
case may be). NPV further considers the recognition of one-off revenues as occurring in the following year of implementation date, as well as annual revenues occurring within 5 years 
following implementation date, both revised/capitalised until the period under review (5 years).
NPV = Approval + Implementation + One-off revenue + annual revenue
Approval = Includes cost of approval (does not include the cost of the award, if any) revised until 2021 at the WACC rate: Cost of approval x (1 + WACC)^(2021 - year of approval)
Implementation - If idea was implemented: Cost of implementation x (1 + WACC)^(2021 - year of implementation)
One-off revenue - If idea was implemented: One-off revenue x (1 + WACC)^(2021 - following year of implementation)
Annual revenue - If idea was implemented: Annual revenue x 1 / WACC x (1 - (1 / (1 + WACC)^5)) x (1 + WACC)^(2021 - following year of implementation)

Shipments in accordance

Financial return

Other indicators
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PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados – Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas, Lda. pertence à rede de entidades que são membros da PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited,  
cada uma das quais é uma entidade legal autónoma e independente.   

Independent Limited Assurance Report 
(Free translation from the original in Portuguese) 
 
 
To the Board of Directors  

Introduction 

We were engaged by the Board of Directors of Bondalti Capital, S.A. (“Bondalti” or “Company”) to 
perform a limited assurance engagement on the indicators identified below in the section 
“Responsibility of the auditor”, which integrate the sustainability information included in the Integrated 
Report 2021 (“Report”), for the year ended in December 31, 2021, prepared by the Company for the 
purpose of communicating its annual sustainability performance. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 

It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors to prepare the indicators identified below in the section 
“Responsibility of the auditor”, included in the Integrated Report 2021, in accordance with the 
sustainability reporting guidelines “Global Reporting Initiative”, GRI Standards version, with the 
AA1000AP Standard (2018) issued by Accountability, regarding the principles of inclusivity, 
materiality, responsiveness and impact, and with the instructions and criteria disclosed in the 
Integrated Report 2021, as well as for the maintenance of an appropriate internal control system that 
enables the adequately preparation of the mentioned information. 

Responsibilities of the auditor 

Our responsibility is to issue a limited assurance report, which is professional and independent, based 
on the procedures performed and specified in the paragraph below. 

Our work was conducted in accordance with International Standard on Assurance Engagements 
(ISAE) 3000 (Revised) “Assurance engagements other than audits or reviews of historical financial 
information”, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board of the International 
Federation of Accountants and we have fulfilled other technical standards and recommendations 
issued by the Institute of Statutory Auditors. These standards require that we plan and perform our 
work to obtain limited assurance about whether the GRI Standards and specific indicators, included in 
the Integrated Report 2021 are free from material misstatement.  

It was also considered the AA1000 Assurance Standard (AA1000 AS v3), type 2 engagement, for a 
moderate level of assurance. Our limited assurance engagement also consisted in carrying out 
procedures with the objective of obtaining a limited level of assurance as to whether the Company 
applied, in the sustainability information included in the Integrated Report 2021, the GRI Standards 
guidelines, for the option “In accordance – Core”, and the principles defined in the AA1000AP 
Standard (2018). 
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For this purpose the above mentioned work included: 

(i) Inquiries to management and senior officials responsible for areas under analysis, with the 
purpose of understanding how the information system is structured and their awareness of 
issues included in the report; 

(ii) Identification of the existence of internal management procedures leading to the implementation 
of economic, environmental and social policies; 

(iii) Testing, on a sampling basis, the efficiency of processes and systems in place for collection, 
consolidation, validation and reporting of the performance information previously mentioned, 
through calculations and validation of reported data; 

(iv) Confirmation that operational units follow the instructions on collection, consolidation, validation 
and reporting of performance information; 

(v) Execution of substantive procedures, on a sampling basis, in order to collect evidence of the 
reported information; 

(vi) Comparison of financial and economic data included in the sustainability information with the 
audited by the external auditor, in the scope of the legal review of Bondalti’s financial 
statements for the year ended in December 31, 2021; 

(vii) Analysis of the process for defining the materiality of the sustainability issues, based on the 
materiality principle of GRI Standards, according to methodology described by the Company in 
the Report; 

(viii) Assessment of the level of adherence to the principles of inclusivity, materiality, responsiveness 
and impact set by AA1000AP Standard (2018), in the sustainability information disclosure, 
through the analysis of the contents of the Report and the internal documents of the Company; 

(ix) Verification that the sustainability information included in the Report complies with the 
requirements of GRI Standards, for the option “In accordance – Core”. 

The procedures performed were more limited than those used in an engagement to obtain reasonable 
assurance and, therefore, less assurance was obtained than in a reasonable assurance engagement. 

We believe that the procedures performed provide an acceptable basis for our conclusion. 

Quality control and independence 

We apply the International Standard on Quality Control 1 (ISQC1) and, accordingly, maintain a 
comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding 
compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements. 

We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of the International Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and of the ethics code of the 
Institute of Statutory Auditors. 
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Conclusion  

Based on the work performed, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
indicators identified above in the section “Responsibility of the auditor”, which integrate the 
sustainability information included in the Integrated Report 2021, for the year ended in December 31, 
2021, were not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with GRI Standards requirements and 
with the instructions and criteria disclosed in the Report and that Bondalti has not applied, in the 
sustainability information included in the Integrated Report 2021, the GRI Standards guidelines and 
the principles defined in the AA1000AP Standard (2018). 

Other matters 

Without affecting the conclusion above, we also present the following aspects regarding Bondalti's 
adherence to the principles of AA1000AP (2018): 

• Principle of inclusivity: Bondalti publicly assume its responsibilities to its stakeholders, by 
subscribing the principles of AA1000AP standard, and the commitment to proceed with its 
sustainability strategy and value creation for its stakeholders. Bondalti conducts biennial 
consultation processes for its internal and external stakeholders, in order to evaluate and 
respond to its main concerns and expectations. 

• Principle of materiality: Bondalti reviewed its sustainability strategic priorities, as a result of an 
internal reflection process. Bondalti's strategy definition process was supported by a macro-
trends and benchmark analysis, and the analysis of the material issues to its stakeholders 
(internal and external), as result of the consultation process. Bondalti should continue to 
periodically reassess the identification and prioritization of material issues, especially in the 
event of significant changes in the Company or in the sector. 

• Principle of responsiveness: Bondalti has a set of mechanisms for stakeholder consultation, 
aimed at addressing the expectations of its stakeholders. This practice should be maintained to 
ensure that there are strong communication and engagement mechanisms for all stakeholders. 
Also, Bondalti seeks to meet the expectations of its main stakeholders through its Sustainability 
Action Plan. 

• Principle of impact: Bondalti discloses the main impacts generated by its activity, through the 
response given in each material issue, for the different aspects of sustainability (economic, 
environmental and social dimensions). Bondalti intends to create and disseminate a 
comprehensive and balanced understanding of the measurement and evaluation of the 
organization's impacts on its stakeholders and on the organization itself. 
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Restriction on use 

This report is issued solely for information and use of the Board of Directors of the Company for the 
purpose of communicating its annual sustainability performance in the Integrated Report 2021, and 
should not be used for any other purpose. We will not assume any responsibility to third parties other 
than Bondalti by our work and the conclusions expressed in this report, which will be attached to the 
Company's Integrated Report 2021. 
 
May 2, 2022 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados  
- Sociedade de Revisores Oficiais de Contas, Lda. 
Represented by: 
 
 
 
António Joaquim Brochado Correia, ROC nº 1076 
Registado na CMVM com o nº 20160688  

(This is a translation, not to be signed) 
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ACEGE

AEMA

AGESMA

Aguas Rioja

AIP

ANPC

APA

APQuímica

BCSD

Bondalti

Bondalti Cantabria

Bondalti Chemicals

CEFIC

CIRC

Cl2

CO

CO2 eq.

COTEC

CSC

Dolopand

EBIT

EBITDA

EC

EETS

EFR

EIC

Elnosa

ELV

EMEA

Enkrott

Enkrott África

Enkrott Espanha

Enkrott Madeira

ERM

ESG

EU

Europaris

FEIQUE

GHG

GPS 

GRI

Grupo Aguas Alfaro

HCl

HR

HSC

IAPMEI

ICEP

INEGI

Christian Association of Entrepreneurs and Managers

Agua, Energía y Medioambiente, Servicios Integrales, S.L.U.

Agua, Gestión y Tratamientos, Servicios Integrales, S.L.

Aguas Rioja Medioambiente, S.L.U.

Portuguese Industrial Association

National Association of Rural Owners

Portuguese Environment Agency

Chemical, Petrochemical and Refining Industry Association

Business Council for Sustainable Development

Bondalti Capital, S.A.

Bondalti Cantabria, S.A.

Bondalti Chemicals S.A.

European Chemical Industry Council

Corporate Income Tax Code

Chlorine

Carbon Monoxide

Carbon Dioxide equivalent

Portuguese Business Association for Innovation

Portuguese Trading Companies Code

Dolopand - Investimentos Imobiliários e Turísticos, S.A.

Earnings Before Interest and Taxes

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortisation

Executive Committee

European Emissions Trading Scheme

Family Responsible Company

European Innovation Council

Elnosa - Electroquímica del Noroeste, S.A.

Emission Limit Value

Europe, Middle East & Africa

Enkrott - Gestão de Tratamento de Águas, S.A.

Enkrott África - Gestão e Tratamento de Águas, Lda.

Enkrott España, S.L.U.

Enkrott Madeira - Gestão e Tratamento de Águas, Lda.

Enterprise Risk Management

Environmental, Social, and Governance

European Union

Europaris - Sociedade Imobiliária, Lda.

Spanish Chemical Industry Business Federation

Greenhouse Gases

Global Positioning System

Global Reporting Initiative

Grupo Aguas Alfaro, S.L.

Hydrochloric acid

Human Resources

Health and Safety Committee

Competitiveness and Innovation Agency

Portuguese Trade and Investment Institute

Institute of Science and Innovation in Mechanical and Industrial Engineering
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Innovnano

INSEAD

INSURE Hub

ISO

Laboratorios Alfaro

MBA

MBR

MDI

Miralcalis

MNB

N2O

NaCl

NCRF

NO2

NP

NPV

Nutriquim

OD

OHSMS

OPEC

PACOPAR

PAD

PCA

PPA

PPE

PVC

R&D

RAM

RDI

Renoeste

RRP

SDG

SME

SNC

SO2

T

TOC

VOC

WACC

WWTP

Innovnano - Materiais Avançados, S.A.

Institut Européen d’Administration des Affaires 

Innovation in Sustainability and Regeneration Hub

International Organization for Standardization

Laboratorios Alfaro, S.L.U.

Master of Business Administration

Membrane Bioreactor

Methylene diphenyl diisocyanate

Miralcalis - Activos de Produção de Cloro, S.A.

Mononitrobenzene

Nitrous Oxide

Sodium Chloride

Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards

Nitrogen Dioxide

Portuguese Standard

Net Present Value

Nutriquim - Produtos Químicos, S.A.

Occupational Doctors

Occupational Health and Safety Management System

Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries

Community Advisory Panel of the Responsible Care Program in Estarreja

Production of Aniline and by-products

Production of Chlor-alkalis

Power Purchase Agreement

Personal Protective Equipment

Polyvinyl chloride

Research and Development

Reed Advance Materials

Research, Development and Innovation

Renoeste - Valorização de Recursos Naturais, S.A.

Recovery and Resilience Plan

Sustainable Development Goals

Small and Medium Enterprises

Portuguese Accounting Standardization System

Sulphur Dioxide

Turnover

Total Organic Carbon

Volatile Organic Compound

Weighted Average Cost of Capital

Wastewater Treatment Plant
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS
© Bondalti • 2022 • All rights reserved

The contents of the 2021 Integrated Report (hereinafter “Contents”) are the sole property of Bondalti, licensors and/or other holders of 
rights. They are protected by intellectual property rights under Portuguese law, European Union law and international conventions, and 
they may be used only under the conditions set forth under these Terms and Conditions.

The term “Contents” covers any and every intellectual creation and information contained in this Report, texts, images, drawings, 
illustrations, photographs, brands, logos, and design, as well as the Report itself as a graphic creation.

The copying, reproduction, modification, distribution, and any other use of the Contents requires prior written authorization from 
Bondalti.

The partial reproduction of the Contents pursuant to free use conditions set forth under Law, namely with the purpose of citing, for 
personal, associative, and professional purposes (excluding use for trade or advertising purposes) is permitted only if accompanied by 
the following requirements: (i) disclosure free of charge; (ii) respect for the integrity of the Content; and (iii) identification of the 2021 
Integrated Report, mentioning the fact that the rights thereupon are reserved.


